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IDENTIFICATION DATA OF THE 

COMPANY

Corporate name:	R uukki Group Plc 

Domicile:	E spoo 

Business ID-number:	 0618181-8

Business: 

Industrials, wood-based and other business 

operations

Business units: 

House Building (prefabricated houses), Sawmill 

Business, Furniture Business, Care Services 

Trading code: 

RUG1V (OMX Nordic Exchange Helsinki)

Ruukki Group’s financial 

information in 2008

Ruukki Group Plc will publish the following 

interim reports in 2008: 

 

1 Jan – 31 Mar 2008 (3 months):  6 May 2008 

1 Jan – 30 Jun 2008 (6 months):  5 Aug 2008 

1 Jan – 30 Sep 2008 (9 months):  4 Nov 2008

Ruukki Group publishes financial information in 

Finnish and in English.

The annual report, interim reports and stock 

exchange releases are published on Ruukki 

Group’s website at www.ruukkigroup.f i/

in_English. Financial information is published 

in pdf-format. Publications can be subscribed 

also by phone +358 10 440 7000 or by email at 

helena.tuominen@ruukkigroup.fi.

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of Ruukki Group 

Plc will be held on Monday March 31 at 10 am 

in Espoo. The invitation to the meeting has 

been published in March 2008. 

The Board of Directors has decided to pro-

pose at the 2008 Annual General Meeting of 

Ruukki Group Plc, that the company would pay 

out, from the retained earnings, a dividend of  

EUR 0.04 per share. 

Disclaimer

The annual report is a translation from the orig-

inal annual report in Finnish language. In the 

event of any discrepancy between the annual 

report in Finnish and its English translation, the 

annual report in Finnish shall prevail. 

INFORMATION FOR SHAREHOLDERS

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 

EUR million 2007 2006

Revenue 214 125

Operating profit 16 13

Profit before taxes 19 12

Total assets 500 116

2007 2006

Operating margin (%) 7.3 % 10.4 %

Return on investment 

(%)
8.8 % 17.7 %

Equity ratio 85.1 % 60.1 %

2007 2006

Personnel,  

average
866 570
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Equity per share,  

31 Dec, EUR

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORs

1.41

0.42
0.260.16

0.06
0.070.07

0.03

Revenue, EUR million

Equity ratio, 31 Dec, %

Personnel, average Market capitalisation, 

31 Dec, EUR million

EPS (basic), 31 Dec, EUR

EBIT, EUR million

ROCE-%, p.a. Gross investments, EUR million

Profit before taxes, EUR million Revenue split by segment 
1-12/2007

32 %

8 % 3 %

29 %

28 %

House Building

Sawmill Business	

Furniture Business	

Care Services

Other Businesses

2007

2006	

2005	

2004

213.9

125.5
91.9

71.7

85.1 %

60.1 %

32.9 %
20.0 %

866

570

387
319

15.7
13.0

9.3
5.6

8.8 %

17.7 %
25.4 %

21.2 %

817.9

163.2
54.432.7

4.0

8.5

12.2

19.2

34.4

14.3

5.7

15.9



6

Ruukki Group     Annual Report 2007

Dear Ruukki Group Plc’s shareholder,

The past year 2007 meant great changes to 

the company’s business and shareholders. The 

Group decided to focus its business intensively 

on wood-based industrial business operations 

and move the emphasis of investments to 

Russia.

In the summer 2007, an extensive share offer-

ing was executed by which the company raised 

a net total of EUR 339 million in equity. In ad-

dition, the company’s owner base broadened 

as several international institutional fund inves-

tors became shareholders. As of July 2007, the 

company’s share has been quoted in the OMX 

Nordic Exchange Helsinki under the Mid Cap 

segment.

Group businesses had good success during 

the year 2007 and the Group’s operating profit 

stood at record-high level.  Revenue in 2007 to-

talled EUR 213.9 million (2006: EUR 125.5 mil-

lion), up about 70 %. Earnings before interest 

and taxes (EBIT) was EUR 15.7 million (13.0), 

up about 21 % year-over-year.

In the furniture business, during the last quar-

ter the operative volumes and capacity utiliza-

tion increased notably and the operations re-

turned to profit for the first time in a long time. 

However, there has been a turn in the economic 

conditions, and the demand in the sawmill and 

house building businesses no longer stands at 

the same level as last year. Despite that turn 

in cycle we are confident that the operative 

profit will continue to develop positively and the 

profit before interests and taxes in 2008 to be 

at about same level as during 2007.

Preparations and implementation related to the 

sawmill and pulp mill projects in Russia have 

been going on. We have been building own 

business and project organisations and choos-

ing business partners through tendering proc-

esses.

In my opinion, we have succeeded in a fairly 

short time to make progress with our invest-

ment project. However, the evolved disagree-

ments with the Kostroma region regarding the 

location have been regrettable and have af-

fected the project’s planned timetable.

Our growth strategy in Russia is based on the 

investments in sawmill and pulp businesses. 

Preparations related to the planned integrated 

industrial entity will continue as we are re-eval-

uating location options. I believe that during 

the second quarter of the current year we can 

concentrate on deepening the ongoing analysis 

on more appropriate and competitive territorial 

options, as well as on negotiating agreements.

The company’s owner structure has significantly 

changed and expanded during the past year 

and will probably continue to expand. Versatile 

and strong owners support the company’s goals 

for expansion and internationalisation.

We operate in a challenging situation, work 

on our strategy goal-oriented and strongly 

believe that the chosen strategy will after posi-

tive events bring positive effect on shareholder 

value.

I sincerely thank our clients, employees, stake-

holders and shareholders for all your efforts 

during the past year. Let us make the current 

year at least equally good despite of the chal-

lenging circumstances!

In Espoo on 18 March, 2008

Matti Vikkula

CEO’S REVIEW
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THE GROUP MANAGEMENT

Board of Directors

Members of the Board of Directors

At the beginning of  the financial year the 

members of the Board of Directors were Fredrik 

Danielsson, Mikko Haapanen, Timo Honkala, 

Markku Kankaala, Kai Mäkelä, Matti Vikkula 

and Ahti Vilppula who all were re-elected by 

the Annual General Meeting on 20 April 2007.  

After the Annual General Meeting the Board 

organised itself and Matti Vikkula was elected 

as the Chairman of the Board. The extraordi-

nary general meeting held on 12 June 2007 

elected Arno Pelkonen and Timo Poranen as 

new Board members. Simultaneously, Fredrik 

Danielsson and Timo Honkala left the Board. 

Matti Vikkula left the Board, as he begun as 

CEO on 1 September 2007. After that the Board 

elected Matti Lainema as the Chairman of the 

Board. Arno Pelkonen left the Board in January 

2008, after which the number of Board mem-

bers has been six.

Remuneration of the Board members

A decision was made at the Annual General 

Meeting on 20 April 2007 to pay members of 

the Board the following annual fees: Chairman 

of the Board EUR 12,000.00, Vice-chairman 

EUR 9,000.00, and other Board members EUR 

6,000.00. 

Presentation and shareholding of Board 

members

Mikko Haapanen

(born in 1949), M.Sc. (Eng.), served in sen-

ior positions in an expert organisation since 

1976 and was the founder of ELC Finland 

(MH-Konsultit) and Chairman of the Board of 

Directors there for 25 years. Since 1976, he 

has worked as a teacher of logistics at Helsinki 

University of Technology. He is also the chair-

man and CEO of Boardman. Haapanen has been 

a member of the Ruukki Group Plc Board of 

Directors since 26 April 2006. On 31 December 

2007, Haapanen did not own any Ruukki Group 

Plc shares. 

Markku Kankaala

(born in 1963), engineer, branch director at 

Ruukki Group Plc until 31 August 2006.  He was 

an entrepreneur in the wood product industry 

for about 10 years, before that holding various 

positions in companies such as Ahlström and 

Rautaruukki. He served as the CEO of Ruukki 

Group Plc from 2003 to 2004. Kankaala has 

been a member of the Ruukki Group Plc Board 

of Directors since 2003. He also is a Board 

member in Ruukki Group’s wood product and 

furniture business companies.
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On 31 December 2007, Kankaala owned 

9,602,191 Ruukki Group Plc shares.

Matti Lainema

(born in 1939), D.Sc. (Econ.), founder of strat-

egy consulting firm S.A.M.I. (in 1982) and CEO 

of the company for 14 years, then a partner in 

S.A.M.I. Ernst & Young. Since 2001, he has con-

centrated on Board duties, and he is a partner in 

Boardman Oy and a Board member in Electrobit 

Group Plc. Lainema’s area of expertise includes 

the management of diversified companies. 

Lainema has been a Ruukki Group Plc Board 

member since 26 April 2006 and the Chairman 

of the Board since 1 September 2007. He is also 

the Chairman of the Audit Committee.  Lainema 

and his related parties owned 47,200 Ruukki 

Group Plc shares on 31 December 2007.

Kai Mäkelä

(born in 1947), M.Sc. (Econ.), CPA, involved 

in the operations of the Hertta companies he 

owns – e.g.,  as Chairman of the Board and 

CEO of Herttaässä and Herttakakkonen. He is 

also a Board member in Talentum Plc, a mem-

ber of the Finnish Association of Professional 

Board Members, and a partner in Boardman. 

Mäkelä has been a member of the Ruukki 

Group Plc Board of Directors since 10 February 

2000. On 31 December 2007, Mäkelä held a 

total of 58,763,447 shares, including those held 

through entities under his control and forward 

contracts.

Timo Poranen

(born 1943), M.Sc. (Eng.), industrial counsel-

lor, was elected to the Board of Directors in 

the extraordinary general meeting held on 12 

June 2007.  Poranen is a member of the Board 

of Konecranes Oyj and FACTE (the Finnish 

In the photo from left to right: Matti Lainema, 

Markku Kankaala, Mikko Haapanen and 

Timo Poranen. Missing: Ahti Vilppula and Kai 

Mäkelä.
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Academies of Technology). Mr. Poranen has 

worked as President of the Finnish Forest 

Industries Federation in 1998-2005, Vice 

President of Metsäliitto-Yhtymä in 1996-97 and 

prior to this, as the CEO of Metsä-Serla Oy and 

Oy Metsä-Botnia Ab. In addition, he has held 

various positions of trust, i.e., in interest groups 

related to domestic and international forest 

industry and in forest industry co-operation 

between Finland and Russia. On 31 December 

2007, Poranen did not own any Ruukki Group 

Plc shares.

Ahti Vilppula

(born in 1959), director and Board member of 

Procomex S.A. Vilppula has been a member of 

the Ruukki Group Plc Board of Directors since  

7 June 2005. On 31 December 2007, Vilppula 

and the entities under his control owned a total 

of 72,812,715 Ruukki Group Plc shares, includ-

ing forward contracts.

THE CEO AND OTHER MANAGEMENT

Matti Vikkula has been the CEO of Ruukki Group 

Plc since September 2007.  Before that Antti 

Kivimaa served as the CEO and he continues to 

serve as Executive Vice President. Jukka Havia 

has served as the CFO since May 2005. Esa 

Hukkanen has been the business development 

director since 1 October 2006. Ruukki Group Plc 

does not have a separate Executive Board. The 

company’s management consists of the people 

listed above.

The Board of Directors appoints the CEO. The 

CEO runs the day-to-day administration of the 

company in accordance with the instructions 

provided by the Board. The CEO is not a Board 

member.

Matti Vikkula, CEO

(born in 1960), M. Sc. (Econ.), CEO of Ruukki 

Group Plc since 1 September 2007,  until which 

he acted as the chairman of the Board of 

Directors. He was a member of the Board from 

7 June 2005 until 31 August 2007. Previously 

he was responsible for Elisa Oyj’s Consumer 

and Small Enterprise Customer business and 

member of Elisa Oyj’s executive board and CEO 

of Saunalahti Group Oyj. Among other positions 

he has worked as a business management con-

sulting partner at PwC Consulting Oy. He is also 

the chairman of the board of Kristina Cruises 

Oy and a member of the Trainers’ House Oyj’s 

board of directors. On 31 December 2007, 

Vikkula held 3,189,400 shares of the company 

in total, including those held through entities 

under his control or by related parties. 

Antti Kivimaa, Executive Vice President

(born in 1949), M.Sc. (Eng.), B.Sc. (Econ.), 

Executive Vice President of Ruukki Group Plc 

since 1 September 2007. Before that he was 

the CEO of Ruukki Group Plc since 22 November 

2004. Also Chairman of the Board and a Board 

member in Ruukki Group’s subsidiaries and 

associated companies. His previous positions 

include managing director of Startel, Chairman 

of the Board of Esmerk Group, managing di-

rector of Janton Plc, managing director of E. 

Ahlström, and branch director of Sponsor. On 

31 December 2007, Kivimaa owned a total of 

150,000 Ruukki Group Plc shares. He also holds 

525,000 Ruukki Group Plc options.

Jukka Havia, CFO

(born in 1968), M.Sc. (Econ.), Ruukki Group 

Plc’s CFO since 1 May 2005.  Previous posi-

tions include Director of Finance at the Student 

Union of the Helsinki School of Economics. On 

31 December 2006, Havia did not own any 

Ruukki Group Plc shares but held 150,000 

Ruukki Group Plc options.

Esa Hukkanen, Business Development 

Director 

(born in 1954), engineer, Ruukki Group Plc 

Business Development Director since 1 October 

2006, before that serving as managing director 

of Ruukki Furniture. Previously an entrepreneur 

in the wood product industry and a holder of 

various positions in companies such as Ahlström 

Eristeet and Saint-Gobain Isover. Hukkanen was 

a member of the Ruukki Group Plc Board of 

Directors from 2003 to 2006. On 31 December 

2007, he held a total of 5,007,500 Ruukki Group 

Plc shares.
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KEY EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL 

YEAR

General

The company’s Board has decided to focus the 

Group’s business more intensively on wood-

based operations so that the future industrial 

operations and investments will be focused on 

Russia in particular and on a substantially larger 

scale than before.

Ruukki Group’s strategic aim is to concentrate 

on wood processing within the Northern conif-

erous wood zone. Group business operations 

will be focused on mechanical wood processing, 

and furthermore on pulp business. The target 

is to reach revenue of over EUR one billion by 

the first half of the 2010 decade, and the Group 

EBIT percentage should be in excess of the av-

erage profitability within the same industry.

In spring 2007 Group entered into two invest-

ment agreements with Russian Kostroma region 

to construct a sawmill and a pulp mill. These 

agreements replaced the previous investment 

agreements signed in December 2007. In case 

these investment projects are finalised they will 

have significant effect on Group’s operations, 

its geographical focus and its risk position.

In June and July, the parent company Ruukki 

Group Plc executed a directed paid share of-

fering and related over-allotment share issue. 

These share issues were specifically aimed 

at partial financing of Kostroma investment 

projects. By the share issues the company 

raised a net total of approximately EUR 339 

million in equity when taking into account the 

deferred tax effect related to the share offering 

costs.

Russian Investments

Ruukki Group targets to implement investment 

projects in Russia so that as a result a modern 

integrated forest industry entity will be created. 

Also third parties will be offered opportunities 

to join the integrate with their own areas of 

expertise.

In February 2007, Ruukki Group Plc announced 

that it had registered investment agreements 

concerning a sawmill and a chemi-mechanical 

market pulp (bleached chemi thermo mechani-

cal pulp, BCTMP) mill in the investment project 

register of the Kostroma region. In May 2007, 

Ruukki Group made an agreement with the ad-

ministration of the Kostroma region to expand 

the BCTMP mill investment agreement with 

a new agreement that was registered by the 

Kostroma region’s administration at the end of 

June.

In accordance with the investment agree-

ment registered previously in February 2007, 

Ruukki Group had the opportunity to invest in 

a BCTMP mill with an annual production capa

city of 300,000-500,000 tons. Pursuant to the 

expanded investment agreement concluded 

in May and registered in June, Ruukki Group 

can either invest in a chemical pulp mill (BKP, 

bleached kraft pulp) with an annual production 

capacity of 800,000 tons or alternatively in the 

BCTMP mill agreed upon earlier.

According to the investment agreements Ruukki 

Group is able to get tax concessions. The con-

cessions will be given for regional income tax 

and property tax, and their amount depends on 

the final timetable, on the investment costs and 

on the profitability of the investment projects.

In November 2007 Ruukki Group made applica-

tions, both for the sawmill project and for the 

pulp mill project, for the priority investor status 

related to forest harvesting rights. If Ruukki 

Group will be granted the priority investor sta-

tus, a 50 per cent discount on forest rents will 

be given and the forest areas can be leased 

without the auction process that would other-

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 2007
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wise be followed. 

The combined total wood consumption of the 

500,000 cubic meters conifer sawmill and the 

800,000-ton BKP mill planned by Ruukki Group 

will, if realised, reach over four million cubic 

meters of industrially usable wood per year. 

To enable this, in conjunction with signing the 

investment agreements it was agreed with the 

Kostroma region that the annual harvesting 

rights included in the investment agreements 

can be increased from the previously agreed 

2.5 - 3.1 million cubic meters to a total of 6.0 

million cubic meters per year.

The planning and preparations for the pulp mill 

are currently in process with BKP as the pri-

mary alternative. The ongoing pre-engineering 

study thereby will be finalised during summer 

2008. In case the pulp mill will be constructed 

as a BKP mill, for example the development of 

special steel prices will be affecting the final 

amount of the investment.

Based on current information and calculations, 

Ruukki Group estimates the total investments 

in the BKP mill and sawmill and in the neces-

sary harvesting and transport machinery to 

be approximately EUR 1.1 billion. The total 

investment will however essentially depend on 

the technical set-up and the annual production 

capacity of the pulp mill.  

It is targeted that the sawmill starts its produc-

tion at the end of 2008 if needed permits from 

authorities and required forest resources have 

been granted promptly. Especially important 

in relation to the timetable is that the pending 

priority investor status has been given during 

the first quarter of 2008. The targeted start-up 

for the planned pulp mill is at the end of 2010. 

To be able to reach that timetable, it is also de-

pendant upon the availability of needed permits 

and raw material resources. The planned loca-

tion for the pulp mill and sawmill is the city of 

Manturovo by the Unzha River in the Kostroma 

region some 600 km northeast of Moscow.

The Sawmill Business segment signed in au-

tumn 2007 purchase agreements with Heinolan 

Sahakoneet Oy, which belongs to Sorb Industri 

Ab, for the main production machinery and 

equipment for the Kostroma sawmill. The an-

nual capacity of the sawmill is set at 500,000 

cubic meters of sawn wood per year, to be pro-

duced in three shifts. Moreover, Ruukki Group 

has delivery agreements for the Kostroma 

sawmill in place for the log sorting and feeder 

machinery and equipment with Nordautomation 

Oy, for the kilns with WSAB Oy, for the debark-

ing equipment with Valon Kone Oy and for the 

bio energy boiler plant utilising the bark of logs 

for Wärtsilä Biopower Oy.

Furthermore, large-scale frame agreement was 

signed with John Deere in autumn 2007. This 

agreement includes the delivery of harvest-

ers and forwarders to the planned harvesting 

operations in Kostroma region, as well as the 

related training and spare parts services.

In August 2007 Ruukki Group’s Russian sub-
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sidiary made rental agreements in Manturovo, 

Kostroma for the land plots to be used for both 

the planned sawmill and the pulp mill. In con-

junction with the preparations ongoing for the 

pulp mill project the Group has purchased cer-

tain old buildings situated on the site with the 

purpose of mainly demolishing them later. 

The final implementation of the investments 

also depends on obtaining environmental and 

other official permits in Russia, as well as a 

number of other factors. At this time, no as-

surance can be given that such permits will be 

obtained or that favourable decisions will be 

made by the relevant authorities.

Share Offerings

On 12 June 2007 Ruukk i  Group P lc ’s 

Extraordinary General Meeting decided on a di-

rected paid share offering, in which a minimum 

of 100,000,000 and a maximum of 130,000,000 

new shares were to be offered. The share offer-

ing’s success met the company’s expectations, 

and the number of subscription commitments 

clearly exceeded the number of new shares to 

be offered. Based on the subscription commit-

ments submitted by institutional investors in 

the book building process, the final subscrip-

tion price was confirmed at EUR 2.30 per share. 

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors decided 

on 21 June 2007, in accordance with the general 

meeting’s decision, to execute the share offer-

ing. In addition, Ruukki Group’s Board decided 

in June, in accordance with the share offering’s 

terms and conditions, to give Evli Bank Plc, the 

manager of the issue, the right to subscribe for 

up to 19,500,000 new shares at a subscription 

price of EUR 2.30 per share to cover the over-

allotment. Resulting from the offerings of a total 

of 149,500,000 shares less the estimated costs 

net of deferred taxes, Ruukki Group received 

altogether EUR 339 million in equity. 

In the same context, the company’s Board ap-

proved the allocation of new shares to investors 

who had made subscription commitments, the 

total number of who at the final subscription 

price level were 363. In accordance with the 

share offering’s terms and conditions, at least 

one third of the minimum amount of new 

shares offered were reserved for the company’s 

current shareholders and comparable parties. 

In accordance with the terms and conditions of 

the issue, the subscription price was recognised 

in full in the paid-up unrestricted equity fund. 

At the end of financial year 2007 the funds 

received from the share issues are to major 

extent placed in short-term euro-denominated 

deposits or diversified money market mutual 

funds. About one tenth of those funds were at 

the end of 2007 placed in short-term rouble-

denominated deposits.

Acquisitions and Divestments

In February 2007, Ruukki Group Plc carried out 

an ownership arrangement concerning Incap 

Furniture Oy, the furniture manufacturer, taking 

part in its directed share issue. After all share 

and financing transactions finalised during the 
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financial year, Ruukki Group owned altogether 

71.0 % of Incap Furniture’s shares at the end of 

the year. At the end of 2006 the corresponding 

ownership was about 47.3 %. Due to the effect 

of the joint financing package of shareholders 

and providers of finance, the financial situation 

of Incap Furniture was strengthened in this con-

junction by about EUR 3 million. Through the 

options issued by Incap Furniture Oy, Ruukki 

Group Plc’s holding may decrease to about 65 

per cent, if all the options are exercised. A total 

of EUR 0.9 million of Ruukki Group’s cash as-

sets was tied up in this arrangement.

Through a transaction carried out in March 

2007, Ruukki Group Plc acquired approximately 

68 % of Oplax Oy’s shares. Oplax Oy had previ-

ously been an associated company. After the 

acquisition Ruukki Group has held the entire 

stock of Oplax Oy. Oplax Oy is engaged in the 

production of wooden packaging products and 

packaging pallets and the provision of logistics 

services in Oulu, Tornio and Kemi. Oplax Oy 

annually produces over one million packaging 

pallets, using about 30,000 m3 of timber. Oplax 

Oy has been consolidated in the Ruukki Group’s 

Sawmill Business area as a subsidiary since 

March 2007.

In June, Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy, the parent 

company of Ruukki Group’s House Building 

business segment, acquired a majority hold-

ing in Pohjolan Design-Sähkö Oy, a non-Group 

electrical contractor company, at a price of 

EUR 1.5 million. Pohjolan Design-Sähkö has 

previously been a long-term subcontractor 

and partner of Pohjolan Design-Talo. After the 

transaction, Ruukki Group has a consolidated 

holding of about 63.2 % in Pohjolan Design-

Sähkö Oy, which has been renamed as RG 

Design-Talotekniikka Oy. The company’s oper-

ating management retains a minority holding in 

the company. 

As part of the Group’s strategic restructuring, 

in December 2007 a letter of intent was signed 

of the sale of all the shares of Pan-Oston Oy, a 

subsidiary in Other Businesses, metal industry. 

The closing of the divestment occured in the 

beginning of January 2008.

Other Events

The Annual General Meeting held in April 2007 

decided to pay out a dividend of EUR 0.03 per 

share, partly amend the Articles of Association, 

execute a bonus share offering to pay for the 

additional transaction price liabilities relating 

to old share exchange agreements and update 

the terms and conditions of the I/2005 option 

scheme as enabled by the new Companies 

Act. The Annual General Meeting re-elected 

the existing Board in its entirety and the audi-

tors. Additionally, the Annual General Meeting 

authorised the Board to decide on a share issue 

and on granting options and other special rights 

that give entitlement to shares. By virtue of this 

authorisation, the maximum number of shares 

to be issued in one or more lots is 25,000,000 

new shares or treasury shares held by the 

company, corresponding to approximately 

18 % of total number of registered shares at 

the moment when decision was made and ap-

proximately 8.6 per cent of the total number of 

shares registered on 31 December 2007. Based 

on this authorisation the board of directors has 

issued 300,000 shares to CEO Matti Vikkula in 

June 2007 and decided in December 2007 to 

set up new management incentive scheme with 

a maximum of 7,350,000 share options.  The 

share issue authorisation given by the Annual 

General Meeting is valid until 20 April 2009.

An Extraordinary General Meeting held in June 

decided, in accordance with the Board proposal, 

to execute a paid directed share offering and 

related over-allotment share issue option pri-

marily to finance part of planned investments in 

Russia. Arno Pelkonen and Timo Poranen were 

elected as new members to Ruukki Group Plc’s 

Board of Directors, and Fredrik Danielsson and 

Timo Honkala left the Board. The company’s 

Articles of Association were amended in part, 

for example, by adding Ruukki Group Plc as the 

company’s English business name.

In May 2007, Ruukki Group Plc’s Board decided 

to revise the company’s dividend distribution 

policy. The number of dividends distributed by 

the Company in the future will depend on the 

Company’s financial status, need for capital 

and other factors. The planned investments to 

Russia will restrict the company’s possibility to 

distribute dividends in the coming years. It is 

possible that no dividend at all will be distrib
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uted on the company’s shares in the next few 

years. 

The Lestijärvi factory of Ruukki Group’s 

Furniture Business segment was to major ex-

tent destroyed by a fire that took place at the 

end of June 2007. The insurance compensa-

tions, net of impairment losses, related to the 

fire totalled EUR 4.3 million in financial year 

2007. There are no major pending insurance 

processes at the end of 2007. The operations 

and production in Lestijärvi were decided to be 

terminated. Based on that decision and after 

the co-determination negotiations process forty 

employees were given immediate notice due to 

financial and production-related reasons. The 

costs related to workforce layoffs or relocating 

and factory closure were not substantial.

In June, Ruukki Group Plc’s Board appointed 

Matti Vikkula, M.Sc. (Econ.) as the company’s 

new CEO. He commenced as CEO in the begin-

ning of September 2007.

The Extraordinary General Meeting of 12 June 

2007 elected Timo Poranen, M.Sc. (Eng.) and 

Arno Pelkonen, M.Sc. (Econ.) as new members 

of the company’s Board. Mr. Arno Pelkonen re-

signed from the Board on 25 January 2008.

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors decided 

in May 2007 to establish an Audit Committee. 

In August Matti Lainema (committee chairman), 

Mikko Haapanen and Timo Poranen were ap-

pointed as members of the Audit Committee. 

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

In January 2008 Ruukki Group acquired a ma-

jority interest in Junnikkala Oy and the group 

it forms. Junnikkala group practices sawmill 

business in Kalajoki, Ostrobothnia, and its 

subsidiary Juneropt Oy specialises in further 

processing of sawn wood targeted especially 

for prefabricated housing business. The annual 

production capacity of the Junnikkala sawmill is 

at present 130,000 cubic meters of sawn wood. 

At the same time, Junnikkala Oy acquired all 

shares of Pyyn Saha ja Höyläämö Oy, which 

operates in Oulainen. The current annual pro-

duction capacity of Pyyn Saha ja Höyläämö Oy 

is close to 40,000 cubic meters. The business 

and investment plans for the newly format-

ted Junnikkala group are based on increasing 

the total combined capacity to 300,000 cubic 

meters during the next two to three years. In 

addition, further processing will be developed 

in the planing and painting operations. The 

Oulainen sawmill will be focusing on sawing 

smaller logs, whereas Kalajoki sawmill will be 

concentrating on further processing in addi-

tion to sawing operations. The consolidated 

revenue of the newly formed Junnikkala group 

totalled nearly EUR 50 million in 2007 and the 

profitability was positive. As a result of these 

arrangements, the annual production capacity 

of Ruukki Group’s sawmill business will increase 

immediately from approximately 200,000 cubic 

meters to nearly 400,000 cubic meters, and by 

2010 the total capacity is to reach 500,000 cu-

bic meters level.

In January 2008 it was announced that the 

board of directors of Ruukki Group has decided 

to explore opportunities to make structural ar-

rangements in the House Building segment and 

in the Care Services segment with a target to 

dispose of those businesses.

The implementation of the investment agree-

ments is continuing by Ruukki Group and its 

Russian subsidiary according to the investment 

agreements. In order to get the needed forest 

resources in the Kostroma region in accord-

ance with the new Russian Forest Code, Ruukki 

Group’s Russian subsidiary filed in November 

2007 applications for the so-called priority in-

vestor status within the Kostroma region’s ad-

ministration. At the date of the announcement 

of these Financial Statements the processes 

related to these applications are open. On 17 

January 2008 initiative was presented by the 

Kostroma region to make amendments in the 

investment agreements. For this purpose both 

parties have nominated experts into joint work-

ing groups to handle the issue. The claims by 

Kostroma region’s administration to change 

the tax concessions and the forest harvesting 

rights are not based on the registered invest-

ment agreements. The priority investor status 

applications will be actively processed further 

with the Kostroma region’s administration. The 

confirmation of the priority investor status will 

be done by the responsible ministry of the 

Russian Federation.
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DEVELOPMENT BY BUSINESS SEGMENT
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The House Building business area spe-

cialises in the design, manufacture and 

assembly of ready-to-move-in detached 

wooden houses in whole Finland. The 

business area’s customers are Finnish 

families and private persons.

The steep and rapid climb of the costs of raw 

materials and supplies in the first half of 2007 

weakened the relative operating profitability. 

The cost increases started to level off in the 

autumn. The number of houses delivered to 

customers increased slightly from the previ-

ous year. Business area’s revenue grew more 

than the volume of delivered houses due to an 

increase in the average selling price and since 

starting from June 2007 the acquired electricity 

contractor subsidiary has been consolidated into 

the segment. Deliveries in the House Building 

business are generally very seasonal, which in 

practice means that more deliveries are made 

during the first, and particularly the fourth, 

quarters than over the summer. However, dur-

ing 2007 the timing of deliveries differed slightly 

from the historical seasonal variation. 

The business area’s order book excluding VAT 

stood at approximately EUR 17.9 million at the 

end of 2007 (31 Dec 2006: EUR 36.0 million). 

The order book contains no significant risks. At 

the end of the accounting period, the House 

Building business area’s personnel totalled 118 

(31 Dec 2006: 101). 

The following companies belong to the business 

area: Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy (Ruukki Group Plc 

owns 90.1 %) and its subsidiaries Nivaelement 

Oy (100 %) and RG Design-Talotekniikka Oy 

(Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy owns 70.1 %).

 

The House Building business area has 

del ivered wooden ready-to-move-

in houses to customers as follows: 

 

The revenue from ready-to-move-in 

houses delivered by the business area 

is recognised upon delivery to the cus-

tomer, for which reason sites in progress 

have no effect on the Group’s revenue 

or profit.

Revenue and operating profit of the House Building segment, 

12 months:

EUR million 1-12/2007 1-12/2006 Change, %

Revenue 62.4 53.7 16 %

EBIT 13.3 13.4 0 %

EBIT-% 21.4 % 24.9 %

Revenue and operating profit of the House Building segment, 

3 months:

EUR million Q4/2007 Q4/2006 Change, %

Revenue 19.9 16.0 24 %

EBIT 4.8 4.1 17 %

EBIT-% 23.9 % 25.4 %

2006 total: 458	      2007 total: 473

Q1

127

108
91

113

Q2

99
106

Q3

141
146

Q4

House Building 
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The Sawmill Business segment specialises 

in the efficient processing of softwood 

logs from Northern Finland into various 

timber products for both domestic and 

export markets. 

The construction industry forms the business 

area’s main customer group in both Finland 

and elsewhere, because the Group’s products 

are very well suited to house building thanks to 

their strength properties.

Both the market prices of the end-products and 

the costs of raw materials and transportation 

have risen, the net result of which the profit 

and relative profitability have improved during 

2007. The log stumpage prices have levelled 

off during the autumn. Market demand for the 

products of the business segment has been 

strong in Finland as well as in export markets, 

but especially abroad there has been deteriora-

tion in the market situation from the end of the 

financial year 2007. There have been many fac-

tors affecting the whole sector that have low-

ered the profitability of the segment: declining 

exports prices, weak demand abroad, profound 

structural changes in the Finnish forest industry 

and the implications of the introduced Russian 

round wood duties into the business environ-

ment.

The exports accounted about 42 % of 

the Sawmill Business segment’s revenue 

(1-12/2006: 56 %). The order book excluding 

VAT was approximately EUR 8.9 million (31 Dec 

2006: EUR 13.2 million). There were totally 112 

employees employed by the segment at the 

end of 2007 (31 Dec 2006: 72). 

Revenue and operating profit of the Sawmill Business segment,  

12 months:

EUR million 1-12/2007 1-12/2006 Change, %

Revenue 59.4 27.8 114 %

EBIT 5.4 1.4 295 %

EBIT-% 9.0 % 4.9 %

Revenue and operating profit of the Sawmill Business segment,  

3 months:

EUR million Q4/2007 Q4/2006 Change, %

Revenue 14.4 9.7 50 %

EBIT -0.5 0.1 -578 %

EBIT-% -3.3 % 1.0 %

In the segment’s operating profit 

(EBIT) for the 2007 last quarter, there 

are altogether EUR 0.8 million expenses 

included related to the Russian projects 

(10-12/2006: EUR 0.0 m) and about 

EUR 1.1 million for the full financial 

year 2007 (1-12/2006: EUR 0.0 m).

Excluding the Russian investment 

projects’ expenses, the operating profit 

(EBIT) of the Sawmill Business totalled 

EUR 0.4 million for the last quarter of 

2007 (10-12/2006: EUR 0.1 million). 

The corresponding EBIT margin of 

the domestic operations was 2.5 % 

(10-12/2006: 1.3 %) of revenue. For 

the full financial year 2007 the domes-

tic operations’ EBIT totalled EUR 6.4 

million (1.4), which is 10.8 % (5.0 %) 

of revenue. A one-off insurance com-

pensation of EUR 0.4 million was recog-

nised during the first quarter of 2007.

Sawmill Business
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The coniferous sawmill planned in the Kostroma 

region, Russia, is still at the preparation phase. 

During 2007 the total costs recognised in the 

consolidated income statement related to the 

investment projects in Kostroma were EUR 3.5 

million (for the previous financial year EUR 0.5 

million). Furthermore, prepayments on the 

investments have been paid. During the last 

quarter of 2007, the Kostroma projects’ expens-

es totalled about EUR 0.8 million, which almost 

fully has been related to the sawmill business.

After the end of the financial year 2007 

Junnikkala group has been acquired into the 

Sawmill Business segment (Ruukki Group’s 

ownership 51 %), which will to a large extent 

increase the revenue of the segment in 2008. 

When the new acquired unit is integrated, the 

target is to intensify the co-operation of vari-

ous sawmills and to get synergy benefits in i.e. 

purchases.

The major subsidiaries of the segment are: 

Lappipaneli Oy (100 %), Tervolan Saha ja 

Höyläämö Oy (91.4 %), Oplax Oy (100 %) and 

Ruukki Invest Oy (100 %), which has a Russian 

subsidiary OOO Ruukki Invest Oy Kostroma.
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The Furniture Business segment manu-

factures wooden, ready-to-assemble  

furniture.

The business environment of the furniture 

business has continued to be very challenging, 

and the operating result without non-recurring 

items has remained negative. However, during 

the last quarter of the financial year, the opera-

tive volumes and capacity utilisation increased 

notably and the business area’s profit before 

non-recurring items returned to profit. During 

the year 2007 a net insurance compensation 

in total of approximately EUR 5.4 million has 

been recognised, by for the same period a EUR 

1.1 million impairment of inventories has been 

booked as well. At the end of the accounting 

period, the business area’s order book excluding 

VAT stood at approximately EUR 10.4 million. 

On 31 December 2007, the segment employed 

a total of 331 people.

The following companies belong to the seg-

ment: Incap Furniture Oy (Ruukki Group’s own-

ership 71.0 %) and its subsidiaries.

Furniture Business

Revenue and operating profit of the Furniture Business segment,  

12 months:

EUR million 1-12/2007 1-12/2006 Change, %

Revenue 68.7 25.7 168 %

EBIT 2.6 -5.3 -

EBIT-% 3.8 % -20.8 %

Revenue and operating profit of the Furniture Business segment,  

3 months:

EUR million Q4/2007 Q4/2006 Change, %

Revenue 25.0 0.0 -

EBIT 3.1 -1.7 -

EBIT-% 12.2 % -

In the table below the EBIT includes 

both the shares of profit relating to 

holdings in associated companies cor-

responding with the Group’s respective 

holdings and all income statement 

items corresponding with holdings in 

subsidiaries. In January and February 

2007 the furniture business company 

Incap Furniture and all of its subsidi-

aries were associated companies of 

Ruukki Group, and from March 2007 

onwards subsidiaries.
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During the financial year 2007, the organic 

growth of the business was strong as a result 

of new service unit openings and the Mendis 

acquisition carried out last year. During the 

last quarter of 2007 the business segment’s 

expenses were above the average due to the 

autumn salary increases, the personnel and 

premises costs for new or planned care services 

units as well as one-off purchases at the exist-

ing care homes.

 At the end of the accounting period, the busi-

ness area employed 344 persons (31 Dec 2006: 

229). The structure of the subgroup will be 

simplified further in 2008 by merging one of the 

subsidiaries into the parent company. The busi-

ness area has service units in 21 locations, and 

the combined number of these unit’s custom-

ers was about 550 at year end (31 Dec 2006: 

420).

The comparable increase in the revenue of the 

Care Services business area was approximately 

30 %, when eliminating the effect of the ac-

quisition of Terveyspalvelut Mendis Oy during 

the 2006 financial year. Correspondingly, the 

comparable change in operating profit is about 

-75 %.

The following companies belong to the busi-

ness area: the parent company of the group 

Mikeva Oy (100 %) and its subsidiaries Mikon 

Kuntoutuskodit Oy (100 %) and Terveyspalvelut 

Mendis Oy (100 %) that also has Mendis 

Palvelukodit Oy (100 %) as its subsidiary.

Care Services

 

The Care Services business area provides 

high-quality care and rehabilitation serv-

ices for municipalities, cities, communities 

and businesses.

Revenue and operating profit of the Care Services segment,  

12 months:

EUR million 1-12/2007 1-12/2006 Change, %

Revenue 16.8 9.8 71 %

EBIT 0.3 0.6 -55 %

EBIT-% 1.6 % 6.2 %

Revenue and operating profit of the Care Services segment,  

3 months:

EUR million Q4/2007 Q4/2006 Change, %

Revenue 4.5 3.3 36 %

EBIT -0.4 -0.1 -197 %

EBIT-% -8.2 % -3.7 %
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In addition, Ruukki Group has business opera-

tions within the metal industry that are not re-

ported as separate segments as well as some 

holdings in associates.

The following companies belong to the metal 

industry sub-group: Alumni Oy (100 %) and its 

subsidiaries Pan-Oston Oy (100 %), the entire 

stock of which was sold upon transactions car-

ried out on 2 January 2008, and Selka-line Oy 

(100 %). During the accounting period 2007, 

the metal industry sub-group’s revenue was 

EUR 8.2 million (EUR 8.2 million in 2006) of 

which Pan-Oston Oy generated about 65 %, 

and operating profit EUR 0.1 million (EUR 0.3 

million in 2006).

Ruukki Group Plc also has some minority hold-

ings in Finnish companies that operate in logis-

tics and ICT businesses. The combined profit 

effect of associates was approximately EUR 0.1 

million in 2007 (EUR 0.4 million in 2006). The 

profit effect of associates belonging to Sawmill 

and Furniture Business segments is presented 

within the operating profit of these segments. 

During the accounting period 2007 Ruukki 

Group Plc reduced its ownership in Valtimo 

Components Oyj from 39.2 % to 24.9 %. All 

the associates have been consolidated in the 

consolidated financial statements by applying 

the equity method.

Other Businesses
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At the end of the financial year Ruukki Group’s 

number of employees was 958 (2006: 452), 

and accordingly for the parent company 7 

(5). The average headcount was 866 (570) 

during the financial year. Group’s personnel 

expenses for 2007 were EUR 32,037,200.86 

(18,368,867.34). There were altogether EUR 

576,147.77 (105,304.50) expenses recognised 

in the income statement based on option and 

other share-based payments as depicted by 

IFRS 2 standard.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Group has several different business areas. 

The number of personnel, geographical location 

and tasks vary significantly between the busi-

ness segments. 

In the Care Services business area there are 

authority requirements in relation to the rela-

tive number of personnel (in proportion to the 

number of customer units) and the educational 

level of the personnel.

The company’s Board has decided to focus the 

Group’s business more intensively on wood-

based operations so that the future industrial 

operations and investments will be focused on 

Russia in particular and on a substantially larger 

scale than before.

Ruukki Group’s strategic aim is to concentrate 

on wood processing within the Northern conif-

erous wood zone. Group business operations 

will be focused on mechanical wood processing, 

and furthermore on pulp business. The target 

is to reach revenue of over EUR one billion by 

the first half of the 2010 decade, and the Group 

EBIT percentage should be in excess of the 

average profitability within the same industry. 

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors has de-

cided to set a long-term goal of having equity 

ratio of 40 per cent at the group level.

Considering the Group’s size, the planned 

projects, particularly relating to the planned 

pulp business, are extremely large and entail 

a number of different kinds of risks for both 

implementation and investment processes as 

well as the business operation phase.

Ruukki Group’s consolidated revenue in 2008 is 

expected to be about 20 per cent higher than

746

344

331

112

118
545

229

72

101

House Building		S  awmill Business		F  urniture	 Business		     

Other Businesses		  Group Management	C are Services

Personnel 31 Dec 2007 

Group total: 958

Personnel 31 Dec 2006 

Group total: 452

Incap Furniture Oy was an associate on 31 
Dec 2006

Group Employees OUTLOOK FOR  
THE FUTURE
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the 2007 group revenue. The Group’s 2008 op-

erating profit (EBIT) in euros is expected to be 

at about the same level as during 2007 despite 

the cyclical changes in the house building and 

sawmill businesses. Earnings before taxes for 

the financial year 2008 are expected to increase 

by approximately one fourth. These guidances 

are based on forecasts by the Group’s and 

subsidiaries’ management, market prognosis in 

various industries and the Group order book at 

the end of 2007. Furthermore, the guidance is 

valid for the current Group structure, which is 

assumed to be unchanged during the full year 

2008. 

Future outlook for each segment’s 

market development:

House Building

There are signs that the rapid growth of the •	

detached house market in recent years has 

levelled off; this may affect the number of 

detached house deliveries during next year, 

and therefore it is generally expected that 

the amount of house deliveries will fall from 

the level achieved in 2007.

Competition, especially in the ready-to-•	

move-in niche, can be harder and affect the 

needed marketing resources and the aver-

age sales prices.

Changes in market interest rates or the pric-•	

es of production inputs may have a nega-

tive impact on the short-term and long-term 

performance of the business.

Sawmill Business

After the positive markets and rapid hike in •	

the sales prices last year, the future mar-

ket situation is expected to be challenging. 

Especially in the export markets a negative 

change in the prices and demand is expected 

in the near future.

The log stumpage prices are expected to •	

stabilise, but it is likely that the proportion of 

raw material imported from Russia to Finland 

will decrease, which might have considerable 

impact on future availability and price of raw 

materials.

The volume and geographic distribution of •	

the production capacity in the sector is likely 

to change, and the focus in new investments 

probably will be on the areas neighbouring 

Finland.

Furniture Business

In the furniture business the operating envi-•	

ronment is estimated to improve in general 

from previous years, but possible changes 

may rapidly affect the situation.

In short-term, demand is expected to be •	

high, but the conditions can change rapidly 

during the second half of 2008.

Care Services

The bidding competitions and service out-•	

sourcing from the public sector to private 

operators offer good growth opportunities 

for the field, particularly in elderly care and 

mental health services.

Availability of competent workforce and rise •	

in personnel costs due to given material rises 

in salaries are factors that can slow down 

growth in the field and affect the short-term 

profitability.
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RISKS RELATED TO OPERATIONS

In addition to the issues presented in 

the following pages, the risks on busi-

nesses and investment projects have 

been described in the share offering 

prospectus published on 13 June 2007. 

Risk management has been separately 

presented in conjunction with “Other 

notes to the consolidated financial 

statements” section.
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Strategic Risks

Competitive Situation and Position in the 

Production Chain

The competitive situation is expected to remain 

strong or tighten in the company’s key business 

sectors and main markets. This might affect the 

Group’s profitability through unfavourable de-

velopment in sales prices and price of raw ma-

terials. The Group aims to intensify its produc-

tion and service processes which will guarantee 

sustained competitiveness as well as sufficient 

capacity and quality.

The House Building business area deals directly 

with customers, which means that it has a re-

sponsibility toward the end clients for a package 

delivery of ready-to-move-in houses. However, 

in the production and delivery process subcon-

tractors play a significant role as they increase 

the division’s flexibility and ability to react to 

major market changes. The Sawmill Business 

area is involved in the relatively early stages 

of the processing chain and delivers part of its 

production output to other processing plants 

or the wholesale industry. This may affect its 

ability to react to major structural changes af-

fecting the sector.

Geographic and Political Risks and 

Customer Concentration

The Group companies’ production facilities, 

personnel, and customers are mainly located in 

Finland. The Group previously operated mainly 

in Finnish markets, but a growing share of cus-

tomers are abroad. Geographical decentralisa-

tion has decreased the direct impact of home 

markets especially in Sawmill and Furniture 

Business areas. However, the risk arising from 

unfavourable development in individual market 

areas or changes in their currencies may con-

tinue to be significant.

The Group’s new strategy to explore and 

implement business opportunities in Russia 

will presumably increase geographical risks 

related to operating in Russia. The execution 

and timing of investment projects in Russia are 

considerably depending on obtaining permits 

from the Russian Federation, local regional 

administration and municipal authorities of the 

locality where the planned production facilities 

are situated. The execution of the investment 

projects also requires that the Group obtains 

the obligatory permits and harvesting and other 

rights stipulated by law, as well as existence 

and construction of adequate infrastructure.

The relative importance of Japanese export 

markets in the Sawmill Business and the House 

Building business in Finland are high even if 

individual customers are not very significant. 

In the pallet manufacturer unit, the number of 

customers is small but the company has entered 

into partnerships as well as long-term delivery 

agreements with the customers. This decreases 

the risk arising from centralised customers. 

An individual customer may, however, entail a 

significant risk in the Furniture Business, which 

may significantly affect the segment’s business. 

The Care Services business area is subject to 

licence, and the key customer group consists of 

Finnish municipalities. If for social or regional 

policy reasons structural changes were made to 

the system of outsourcing social services to the 

private sector, a major impact could be seen 

in terms of future business opportunities in the 

care services sector.

Risks associated with Business 

Reorganisation

A significant proportion of the Group’s op-

erations consist of business reorganisations, 

which is why the implementation, timing, and 

pricing of acquisitions and divestments, as 

well as integration of these activities at Group 

level, have a key impact on both short- and 

long-term performance. The estimated syn-

ergy benefits related to business reorganisation 

might be realised in different time frame and 

in different magnitude than originally planned. 

Moreover, these operations essentially involve 

various financing arrangements that typically 

include covenants that may affect the chances 

of securing further financing, or the terms and 

conditions of such financing. The launch of the 

planned new businesses in Russia involves sig-

nificant exercising of financing and investment 

solutions, involving risks that, especially in the 

Russian business environment, are likely to be 

greater than average. The terms of the needed 

financing, especially if the turmoil in the global 
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financial markets, which started in the second 

half of 2007, would continue, can be affected 

for the coming months and years by these fac-

tors.

Operational Risks

Market Situation in Sectors of Operation

The sectors in which the Group operates are 

clearly different in terms of their sensitivity to 

economic fluctuations, their operational profit-

ability, and volume variations, and the individu-

al divisions have only a very limited amount of 

direct co-operation. As a result, the dissimilar 

and mutually independent business operations 

diversify the Group’s market risk and reduce 

the overall cyclicality of operations. The board’s 

decision to focus on wood-based industrial 

business operations is expected to increase the 

risk related to changes in the market prices of 

timber raw materials, especially soft wood logs. 

Moreover, the change in the Group structure 

changes the decentralisation to different mar-

ket areas and customer groups.

As the planned sawmill and pulp mill projects 

are completed, the Group will move to new 

business and market areas which would change 

the Group’s risk profile. Expansion to new busi-

ness areas will, as realised, have also an effect 

on customer and market risks. The planned 

pulp mill operations are large compared to the 

Group’s current businesses.

Raw Material Price and Availability Risks

The price risk associated with the Group com-

panies’ main raw materials should be relatively 

easy to manage, and the sales prices can, at 

least in part, be revised to match the raw mate-

rial price development. To minimise price and 

availability risks, Ruukki Group utilises long-

term co-operation agreements and extensive 

partnership and subcontracting networks. The 

remote location of certain units increases the 

risks related to customer deliveries on the one 

hand, but on the other hand it ensures better 

raw material quality and availability, and it helps 

in retention of skilled personnel.

The estimated use of timber raw material in 

the Group’s sawmill business in 2008 is in total 

about 800.000 cubic meters of soft wood log 

annually when the Junnikkala group is consoli-

dated to Ruukki Group as of February 2008. As 

a result, a one euro change in the logs’ pur-

chase price (EUR/m3) will affect the Group’s op-

erating profit EUR 0.8 million if the sales prices 

stay unchanged.

Environmental Risks

The Group companies conduct self-assessment 

with regard to environmental permits and risks, 

and they implement revisions and apply for the 

necessary permits if the business environment 

or regulations change. Environmental risks have 

to do firstly with direct potential harm to the 

environment and secondly with post-production 

rehabilitation or landscaping obligations. Due to 

the nature of the business, the group’s Sawmill 

Business has the largest potential exposure to 

environmental risks. Based on studies carried 

out, the group does not have any knowledge 

that any significant environmental risks would 

exist in its current operations.

Changes in Regulations

Some of the Group’s business activities are of-

ficially regulated. In the House Building busi-

ness, operations are guided by regulations 

dealing with the technical quality requirements 

for construction. Furthermore, activities in the 

Care Services division require official permits, 

and certain members of staff must meet spe-

cific educational criteria.  The Group keeps a 

close eye on any changes in regulations and 

attempts to respond to them as early as pos-

sible. If the planned Russian investments are 

realised, future investment claims will arise as 

well as forestry obligations set by authorities 

and different security and other permit require-

ments. 

Personnel

The work carried out in the Care Services di-

vision is particularly labour-intensive and is 

subject to statutory requirements regarding 

staff training and education, and concerning 

the ratio between staff and customers as well 

as consumer legislation. The potential difficul-

ties in recruiting and retaining skilled personnel 
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may impose some restrictions on future growth 

in this business area. Moreover, as some of the 

Group companies are located relatively far from 

major towns and cities, individual companies 

may have trouble retaining sufficient person-

nel. In addition, obtaining skilled personnel will 

have an effect on the success of the Russian 

investments. This, however, may be challenging 

and require major training inputs.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group is not currently involved in any 

business activity in which intellectual property 

rights, patents, or product development would 

be of significance.

Financial Risks

Exchange Rate Risks

As a rule, short-term forward contracts are 

used to hedge against direct exchange rate risk 

exposure of the business segments’ exports.  

The most significant exchange rate risks in 

export operations currently are linked with the 

Japanese yen, the Swedish krona, and the UK 

pound. A large percentage of the sale and pur-

chase agreements are denominated in euros.

If the planned new projects in Russia are car-

ried out, they will affect the Group’s currency 

risks, which by default are going to gain a great 

deal of significance owing to the risks linked to 

the Russian rouble and to the growing relative 

weighting of export markets. At the end of the 

accounting period 2007 the Group had rouble-

denominated deposits totalling about EUR 30 

million that are not hedged against exchange 

rate risk.

Interest Rate and Financial Risks

Majority of the company’s debt finance involves 

variable interest, which means that the Group’s 

interest expenses will, without any hedging 

measures, follow the movements in money 

market interest rates. As the average weighted 

maturity of the loans is not very long, the inter-

est rate risk is no different from the standard 

risk. Furthermore, a considerable proportion of 

the Group’s liabilities, including the acquisitions 

related earn-out liabilities, are non-interest 

bearing in nature. The interest rate risk is 

closely monitored, and hedging measures are 

taken when necessary. For example, the nomi-

nal value of interest rate swaps made to hedge 

against interest rate risk related to debt finance 

is about EUR 5 million. To ensure the availabil-

ity of financing, the Group’s parent company 

has increased its equity-based funding and also 

taken other measures to expand its range of 

financing sources and alternatives for future 

projects. 

Carrying out the business operations in Russia 

will require significant new financing solu-

tions, which will, if finalised, significantly affect 

Group’s financing position, interest rate risk 

and liquidity issues in short-term and long-term 

perspective, but the actual timing and financing 

structure is still not yet finalised.
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Credit Loss Risks

Some of the credit loss risks of the Sawmill 

Business segment are hedged against with 

credit insurance. The House Building business 

segment generates a considerable proportion 

of Group’s cash flows, which follow a pay-

ment scheme prepared in advance following 

degree of completion. This reduces credit loss 

risk significantly. In some business segments 

or companies, individual customers may be 

particularly important, which is why customer 

concentration risks could have a negative effect 

on the value of the Group’s receivables and its 

future business opportunities.

Risks Related to the Availability and 

Terms of Financing

The Group is planning investments and 

it also has ongoing investment projects. 

Implementation of these projects requires fi-

nancing for both the investment and to some 

extent also for the net working capital tied up 

with the investment. Especially the planned 

pulp mill investment in Russia is large com-

pared with the Group’s current operations and 

it will require significant amounts of both equity 

and debt financing. The overall situation in the 

financial markets and willingness to take risks 

and risk pricing may have a significant effect 

on the Group’s ability to implement the projects 

profitably. The Group has no certainty that it 

will obtain the debt financing for the pulp mill 

investments on financially acceptable interest 

and other terms. The Group has worked on per-

sistent manner with several financers and advi-

sors in order to diminish the risks related to the 

availability of financing. On balance sheet date, 

the Group does not have a complete financing 

arrangement or any financing commitments 

for the planned pulp mill in Russia. Neither 

the Group has any certainty of obtaining suf-

ficient debt financing on acceptable terms or in 

planned schedule.  

Damage Risks

Property and Damage Risks

Property risks have been as extensively as pos-

sible covered with insurance, except for the 

excess portion. In addition, Ruukki Group has 

sought to cover indirect liability for damages, 

for example related to transportation, by insur-

ance. The insurance cover for property risks is 

reviewed regularly.

Guarantee Risks 

In number of cases, the products delivered 

by Ruukki Group companies involve quality or 

quantity guarantees to customers, consisting of 

a short-term duty to make repairs, and in the 

House Building segment, a statutory 10-year 

guarantee of structural safety issues. These 

risks are covered only partly, but the Ruukki 

Group companies pay particular attention to 

quality assurance and product development. 

Furthermore, non-group subcontractors are 
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responsible to a certain extent for their own 

guarantee issues.

Legal Proceedings

The Group’s parent company has been involved 

in legal actions related to the company name 

for a long time. The District Court has in 2007 

and the Market Court in 2008 given their rulings 

for these proceedings dismissing Ruukki Group’s 

claims. According to the Company’s view, there 

are no liabilities relating to these processes that 

have not been taken into account in the finan-

cial statements. The Company has not received 

reports of the ongoing tax audit. There are no 

other significant ongoing legal proceedings.

Specific Risks related to Russian 

Kostroma Investment Projects

If the planned projects in Kostroma would not 

be realised in planned schedule or their im-

plementation would change from the original 

plans, it may cause delays of cash flows or 

additional costs. Changes in schedule or im-

plementation may also affect the profitability 

of the investments or lead to decline in value 

of the assets and resources that already have 

been invested.

Russian Administrative Culture and 

Political Risks

The administrative procedures and changes in 

the Russian decision making mechanisms at the 

Russian Federation’s level, regional level and 

municipality level may have adverse effect on 

the implementation possibilities of the projects. 

Ruukki Group has no certainty of obtaining the 

so-called priority investor status, which may 

complicate or delay the implementation or af-

fect the profitability of the projects. Moreover, 

for instance, changes in implementation of tim-

ber export duties that Russian Federation has 

decided to carry out, may affect the regional 

price competitiveness from the current esti-

mates.

Start-up of a New Business Segment

The planned start-up of a new business seg-

ment (pulp business) contains significant risks 

relating to both the ability to implement the 

pulp mill project, and the operational risks of 

the pulp business. Ruukki Group must also 

have the ability to bring up the complete supply 

chain on required volume. In addition, Ruukki 

Group also faces the risk of delays in recruiting 

and training of employees.  

Adequate Infrastructure

Obtaining good and high quality functional-

ity of the projects requires clear improvement 

in infrastructure in Kostroma region. There 

is no certainty of realising any infrastructure 

improvement or information on schedule of 

such projects. The production facilities require 

adequate electricity-, heat- and gas connec-

tions as well as road and railway connections. 

Moreover, the soil and other examinations of 

sites chosen for the production plants are not 

fully completed until near future.

Market Risks

The Russian or world market price changes in 

the production inputs, end products or invest-

ment goods and changes in the availability of 

these inputs, may affect significantly the prof-

itability. The profitability of the projects may 

therefore differ from the current estimates of 

the company and its advisors. 

Environmental Issues

The planned investments, especially the pulp 

business, require obtaining environmental 

licenses and fulfilling environmental require-

ments stipulated by Russian legislation and 

official regulations. The environmental impact 

assessment processes are completed for the 

planned saw mill and they are in preparation 

phase for the pulp mill.

Contractual Issues

It is possible that the conditions and schedule 

of the existing investment and supplier con-

tracts are not met for reasons not depending on 

Ruukki Group. This may require amendments 

or expansions for the contracts made with the 

regional administration of Kostroma or with the 

suppliers.
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INFORMATION ON SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS
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Changes in share capital 
(registration date)

Increase, 
EUR

Number of shares
after registration  

Share capital, EUR
after registration

Share capital on 31 Dec 2004 817,805,476 13,819,824.10

2005

Directed issue (14 Jun) 218,049.12 830,708,807 14,037,873.22

Convertible bond conversion (25 Aug) 1,689.62 830,808,810 14,039,563.14

Convertible bond conversion (21 Oct) 253,480.04 845,808,810 14,293,043.18

Reverse split 10:1 (26 Nov) 0.00 84,580,881 14,293,043.18

Convertible bond  conversion (12 Dec) 290,656.94 86,300,380 14,583,700.12

2006

Bonus issue (11 Jan) 87,449.49 86,300,880 14,671,149.60

Directed issue (13 Jan) 1,190,000.00 93,300,880 15,861,149.60

Share issue (6 Apr) 5,100,000.00 123,300,880 20,961,149.60

Convertible bond conversion (21 Jul) 610,810.00 126,893,880 21,571,959.60

Convertible bond conversion (23 Aug) 116,110.00 127,576,880 21,688,069.60

Convertible bond conversion (6 Oct) 102,000.00 128,176,880 21,790,069.60

Free directed issue (10 Nov) 0.00 128,741,737 21,790,069.60

Convertible bond conversion (12 Dec) 259,250.00 130,266,737 22,049,319.60

Convertible bond conversion (27 Dec) 968,490.00 135,963,737 23,017,809.60

2007

Convertible bond conversion (13 Feb) 620,840.00 139,615,737 23,638,649.60

Free directed issue (3 May) 0.00 140,214,022 23,638,649.60

Convertible bond conversion (29 Jun) 3,400.00 140,234,022 23,642,049.60

Paid directed issue (29 Jun) 0.00 270,234,022 23,642,049.60

Free directed issue (6 Jul) 0.00 270,534,022 23,642,049.60

Paid directed issue (18 Jul) 0.00 290,034,022 23,642,049.60

Share capital on 31 Dec 2007 290,034,022 23,642,049.60

Share capital

Changes in share capital, 2005–2007

DEVELOPMENT OF SHARE PRICE AND 

TRADING VOLUME 

Trade-weighted average share price and 

trading volume Jan 2006 - Dec 2007

01/2006 12/2007

10 million0.5

60 million

Trading volume
Trade-weighted average share price

3.0

Equity per share, EUR

0.16 0.26
0.42

1.41

31 Dec 
2004

31 Dec 
2005

31 Dec 
2006

31 Dec 
2007
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Company Shares

At the end of the 2007 financial year, the com-

pany did not hold any of its own shares nor did 

the Board have authorisation from the General 

Meeting to acquire own shares.

Board Authorisation to Increase 

Share Capital

Annual General Meeting held on 20 April 2007 

authorised the Board of Directors to decide on 

a share issue and on granting options and other 

special rights that give entitlement to shares. 

By virtue of this authorisation, the maximum 

number of shares to be issued in one or more 

lots is 25,000,000 new shares or treasury 

shares held by the company, corresponding 

to about 8.6 per cent of the total number of 

shares outstanding at the end of 2007. The au-

thorisation is valid until 20 April 2009. Based on 

this authorisation the company issued 300,000 

new shares to CEO Matti Vikkula in June 2007, 

and moreover decided to grant 7,350,000 op-

tion rights at the most related to and as part 

of the share-based incentive schemes that was 

decided by the board in December 2007.

Incentive Schemes

Option Scheme I/2005

The company’s I/2005 option scheme entitles 

the option holders to subscribe for a maximum 

of 2,700,000 new shares in the company. The 

share subscription period is staggered through 

the period of 1 July 2007–30 June 2015 for vari-

ous options denoted with different letters, and 

the subscription price range is EUR 0.44–0.94. 

As a result of subscriptions made on the basis of 

rights under the I/2005 option scheme, Ruukki 

Group Plc’s share capital may be increased by a 

maximum of EUR 459,000.00 and the number 

of shares by a maximum of 2,700,000 new 

shares.

In order to increase the level of commitment 

and motivation of key persons, these option 

rights are, deviating from the shareholders’ 

pre-emptive rights, granted to Ruukki Group 

Plc’s CEO and management and other key 

employees, and furthermore as decided by 

the Board to the board members, manage-

ment or employees of group subsidiaries, and 

potentially for persons having other contractual 

relationship with the Group. At the end of 2007, 

altogether 675,000 option rights were granted 

to Company’s management. Of these options, 

the share subscription period has started on 1 

July 2007 for 225,000 options, and will start on  

1 July 2008 for another 225,000 options and on 

1 July 2009 for 225,000 options.

Synthetic Option 2007

As part of his incentive scheme, the CEO of 

Ruukki Group Plc has been granted a so-called 

synthetic option, i.e. a bonus remuneration that 

is tied to the future development of altogether 

1,000,000 Ruukki Group Plc’s shares. This bonus 

shall be settled and paid in cash. The amount of 

the bonus is tied to share price development so 

that there are four reference periods (autumns 

2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011), to each of which 

a bonus shall be calculated based on the share 

price development of 250,000 Ruukki Group 

Plc’s shares.

Share-based Incentive Scheme 2007

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors decided on 

establishing a share-based incentive scheme for 

key persons in the Company and its group for 

the years 2008-2010. Ruukki Group Plc’s Board 

of Directors and CEO are not within the scope 

of the incentive scheme. Key persons will be is-

sued option rights, and new shares in Ruukki 

Group Plc will be offered to them for subscrip-

tion, on the  basis of the incentive scheme.  The 

Company’s Board of Directors decided on the 

issuing of option rights entitling to shares in the 

company based on the authorisation issued by 

the Annual General Meeting held on 20 April 

2007. A maximum of  7,350,000 option rights 

will be issued, which will entitle the recipients 

to subscribe for a total of 7,350,000 new shares 

in Ruukki Group Plc. The Company’s Board of 

Directors can, if it so chooses, decide that in-

stead of new shares,  option right holders will 

be offered treasury shares held by the Company, 

or other shares will be allotted for purchase by 

option right holders at a price equivalent to the 

subscription price, in which case the Company’s 

shareholding will not be diluted in this respect. 

The purpose of the option rights is to encourage 

commitment in the key persons  as well as to re-

ward them for meeting the targets set annually 

in advance by the Board of Directors for 2008, 
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2009 and 2010. The targets will be connected 

to the realisation of Ruukki Group Plc’s interna-

tional expansionary business strategy (e.g. the 

completion of the Kostroma production facility 

or the realisation of separately defined financial 

targets). The number of option rights to be is-

sued to key persons will also depend on each 

key person’s position or duties.

Convertible Bond Loan

During the financial year the convertible bond 

loan that was originally issued in November 

2004 was fully converted into Company’s 

shares. The original nominal value of the loan 

was EUR 7,200,000.00 (the balance as of 31 

December 2006 stood at EUR 1,652,400.00). 

Based on these conversions a total of 3,672,000 

new shares were issued.

Selling the Shares in the Joint 

Book-Entry Account

The Annual General Meeting held on 20 April 

2007 accepted the Board’s proposition to sell 

the shares in the joint book-entry account of 

whose part a registration of ownership to a 

book-entry account has not been demanded 

even though five years have passed since the 

registration date. The balance of the joint book-

entry account on 10 April 2007 totalled 47,500 

shares that corresponded to about 0.3 per 

cent of the total number of shares. The Annual 

General Meeting decided that shares in ques-

tion shall be sold via the stock exchange in the 

name of the owners of the shares.

Share Issues

Paid Directed Share Issues

In June 2007 the Company issued 130,000,000 

new shares by a paid directed share offering. 

Due to excess demand, the Company decided 

to exercise the over-allotment option granted to 

it in accordance with the terms and conditions 

of the offering, and thereby in July an additional 

19,500,000 new shares were issued.

The subscription price of these share issues was 

recognised in full in the paid-up unrestricted 

equity reserve.

Free Directed Share Issue

In June 2007, in conjunction with the nomi-

nation of new CEO, Ruukki Group Plc’s Board 

decided, pursuant to the share offering authori-

sation given by the Annual General Meeting, 

on a bonus offering of 300,000 shares to Matti 

Vikkula to increase his commitment in the com-

pany. These shares that were issued in July 

come with a restriction on the right of disposal, 

ending on 15 December 2008.

Share Price Development

Ruukki Group Plc’s share (RUG1V) is listed on 

the OMX Nordic Exchange Helsinki. The com-

pany’s share was quoted on the OMX Nordic 

Exchange Helsinki under Small Cap segment till 

30 June 2007 and has been quoted under Mid 

Cap segment since 1 July 2007. 

During the year 2007, the price of Ruukki 

Group’s share varied between EUR 1.18 

(2006: 0.64) and EUR 3.59 (1.23). A total of 

260,096,248 (87,827,858) Ruukki Group shares 

were traded in the accounting period, repre-

senting 89.7 % (64.6 %) of all shares regis-

tered at the year end. The closing price of the 

company’s share on 31 December 2007 was 

EUR 2.82 (1.20). The market capitalisation of 

the Group’s entire capital stock at the closing 

price on 31 December 2007 was EUR 817.9 mil-

lion (163.2).

Shareholders

On 31 December 2007, the company had a to-

tal of 4,283 shareholders (3,226 shareholders 

on 31 Dec 2006), of which 12 were nominee-

registered. The number of shares in issue on  

31 December 2007 was 290,034,022.

Ruukki Group Plc’s board members and CEO 

owned in total 146,202,923 Ruukki Group Plc 

shares on 31 December 2007 (83,146,388 on 

31 Dec 2006) when including shares and de-

rivative contracts owned either directly, through 

persons closely associated with them or through 

controlled companies. This corresponds to ap-

proximately 50.4 % (61.2 %) of all outstand-

ing shares that were registered to the Trade 

Register on 31 December.
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Largest shareholders,  

31 December 2007:

Shareholder  Shares %

Nordea Bank Finland Plc   75,883,960   26.2 %

Nordea Bank Finland Plc, nominee-registered   57,776,322   19.9 %

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken, nominee-registered   43,135,512   14.9 %

Oy Herttakakkonen Ab   41,075,297   14.2 %

Evli Bank Plc 14,522,884     5.0 %

Kankaala Markku 9,601,791     3.3 %

Svenska Handelsbanken Ab, filialverks., nominee-registered     8,841,036     3.1 %

Hukkanen Esa Veikko  5,007,500     1.7 %

Procomex S.A.  4,629,215     1.6 %

Glitnir Oyj  3,998,068     1.4 %

Other shareholders total  25,562,437     8.8 %

Total shares outstanding 290,034,022 100.0 %

Shareholders by category:

Shares
Number of 

shareholders
% share

of shareholders
Number of 

shares held
% of shares

held
1-100 584 13.6 % 39,091 0.0%
101-1,000 2,353 54.9 % 1,287,509 0.4%
1,001-10,000 1,188 27.7 % 4,002,438 1.4 %
10,001-100,000 127 3.0 % 3,055,480 1.1 %
100,001-1,000,000 14 0.3 % 4,896,396 1.7 %
1,000,001-10,000,000 12 0.3 % 44,311,633 15.3 %
in excess of 10,000,000 5 0.1 % 232,393,975 80.1 %
Total 4,283 100.0 % 289,986,522 100.0 %

of which nominee-registered 12 113,305,072 39.1 %

On joint book-entry account 47,500 0.0 %

Total shares outstanding 290,034,022 100.0 %

Shareholders by shareholder type  

31 Dec 2007

Foreign shareholders 2 %

Finnish shareholders 98 %  
of which:

Companies and business  
enterprises 17 %

Banking and insurance  
companies 71 %

Households 10 %

(In addition shares on joint book-entry 
account: 0.02 %)
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Retained earnings 1 Jan 2007      6,211,977.35
Dividends paid out during 2007 - 4,078,912.11

Retained earnings 31 Dec 2007 2,133,065.24
Net profit 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2007 10,490,343.72

Total retained earnings 12,623,408.96

Retained earnings 12,623,408.96
Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve 345,308,675.59

Total distributable equity 357,932,084.55

DIVIDEND PAYOUT PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO 
THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company’s Board of Directors has decided to propose to the Annual General Meeting, which will be 

later convened separately, that the company would pay out, from the retained earnings, a dividend of 

four (4) cents per share. Hence, the total dividend proposed is EUR 11,601,360.88. 

On the balance sheet date 31 Dec 2007 the total distributable equity of the parent company 

Ruukki Group Plc totalled EUR 357,932,084.55, as detailed below:

During 2007 the company has, within the range of total distributable equity, given a loan to the related 

party the sum of which totalled EUR 1,398,478.66 at the end of 2007 when taking into account the 

principal and accrued interest.

Dividend per share 2004 - 2007 *

* Dividend for each year represents the dividend 

paid out from that year’s retained earnings

0

0.02

0.01 0.03

0.04

20052004 2006 2007
(Board 

Proposal)
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consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED 
Income 
Statement

EUR ‘000 Note 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2006

Revenue 213,910 125,459

Other operating income G1 6,874 5,712
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work 
in progress 1,650 3,872

Raw materials and consumables used -140,802 -81,835
Employee benefits expense G2 -32,037 -18,369
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment G3 -9,055 -4,757
Other operating expenses G4 -24,242 -16,066
Income from associates G11 -623 -968

Operating profit 15,674 13,048

Finance income G5 7,467 826
Finance cost G5 -3,983 -1,717

Profit before taxes 19,158 12,156

Income taxes G6 -5,478 -4,177

Net profit 13,680 7,979

Profit attributable
to equity shareholders 12,651 8,442
to minority interests 1,030 -464

13,680 7,979

Earnings per share: G7
basic (EUR) 0.06 0.07

diluted (EUR) 0.06 0.06
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1000 EUR Note 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment G8 37,516 15,855
Goodwill G9 33,422 31,237
Other intangible assets G9 5,807 4,001
Investments in associates G10 1,702 5,568
Other financial assets G11 447 332
Receivables G11 1,596 196
Deferred tax assets G12 1,136 0

81,656 57,189
Current assets

Inventories G13 29,635 17,057
Receivables G14 29,955 9,805
Assets held to maturity G11/G14 131,212 0
Other financial assets G11/G14 176,112 7,271
Cash and cash equivalents G15 48,527 24,768

415,440 58,901
Assets held for share G17 2,893 0
Total Assets 499,990 116,090

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital G18 23,642 23,018
Share premium reserve G18 25,740 24,712
Revaluation reserve G18 969 0
Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve G18 340,690 424
Retained earnings G18 18,614 9,511

409,655 57,665
Minority interest 1,995 1591

Total equity 411,650 59,256
Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities G12 3,894 2,056
Interest-bearing debt G20 23,958 9,205
Other non-current debt G21 1,267 2,227
Provisions G22 70 0

29,188 13,489
Current liabilities

Trade payables G21 25,099 20,548
Deferred income G21 16,481 17,576
Provisions G22 119 108
Tax liabilities G21 877 604
Interest-bearing debt G20 15,991 4,510

58,567 43,345
Liabilities classified as held for sale G17 585 0
Total liabilities 88,340 56,834

Total Equity and Liabilities 499,990 116,090

CONSOLIDATED  
balance sheet
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EUR ‘000 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2006

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net profit 12,651 8,442
Adjustments to net profit:

Non-cash items
Depreciation and impairment 9,055 4,757
Finance income and expense -3,484 891
Income from associates 623 969
Income taxes 5,478 4,177
Option expenses 576 105

Working capital changes:
Change in trade receivables and other receivables -8,588 -3,410
Change in inventories -4,049 -2,235
Change in trade payables and other debt -1,404 542
Change in provisions 12 25

Interests paid -2,028 -1,718
Interests received 1,370 826
Income taxes paid -4,429 -6,313

Net cash flow from operating activities 5,783 7,058

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired -6,445 -6,781
Payments for earn-out liabilities -8,358 -8,875
Acquisitions of associated companies -42 -6,620
Capital expenditure on non-current assets -6,337 -3,249
Other investments, net 0 46
Disposals of subsidiaries, net of cash sold 355 2,183
Disposals of associated companies 6,713 2,000

Net cash used in investing activities -14,114 -21,296

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from share issue 337,609 21,218
Dividends paid -5,493 -3,146
Proceeds from borrowings 10,630 5,561
Repayments of borrowings -5,655 -2,296
Current investments in financial assets -307,212 0
Interest received on financial assets 3,940 0
Loans given -1,380 0
Repayments of finance leases -351 -315

Net cash used in financing activities 32,089 21,022

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 23,758 6,784

Cash at beginning of period 24,768 17,993
Fair value adjustments 0 -9
Cash at end of period 48,527 24,768

Change in the balance sheet 23,758 6,784

CONSOLIDATED CASH 
FLOW STATEMENT
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Equity attributable to shareholders Minority 
interests Total equity

EUR ‘000 Share 
capital

Share 
issue

Share 
premium 

reserve

Revaluation 
and fair value 

reserves

Paid-up unre-
stricted equity 

reserve

Translation 
reserves

Retained 
earnings Total

Shareholders’ equity 1 Jan 2006 14,584 4,340 2,144 9 0 0 3,380 24,457 0 24,457
Bonus issue 1/2006 87 -87 0 0
Directed share issue 12/2005 1,190 -4,340 3,150 0 0
Share issue  3/2006 5,100 16,118 21,218 21,218
Free directed issue 10/2006 424 424 424
Conversions of convertible bonds 2,057 3,387 5,444 5,444
Equity component of convertible 
bonds, change 123 123 123

Dividends -3,148 -3,148 -3,148
Share options 105 105 105
Other changes -9 608 600 2,055 2,654
Net profit 1-12/2006 8,442 8,442 -464 7,979
Shareholders’ equity 31 Dec 2006 23,018 0 24,712 0 424 0 9,512 57,665 1,591 59,256
Free directed issue 4/2007 1,035 1,035 1,035
Share issues 6/2007 and 7/2007 339,232 339,232 339,232
Dividends -4,079 -4,079 -1,142 -5,221
Net profit 1-12/2007 12,651 12,651 1,030 13,680
Translation difference -1,080 -1,080 -1,080
Conversions of convertible bonds 624 1,028 1,652 1,652
Fair value from acquisitions of 
subsidiaries 969 1,000 1,969 1,969

Share options 576 576 576
Net change in minority interest gener-
ated by acquisitions and disposals 516 516

Equity component of convertible 
bonds and other changes 34 34 34

Shareholders’ equity 31 Dec 2007 23,642 0 25,740 969 340,690 -1,080 19,694 409,655 1,995 411,650

Changes in shareholders’ equity
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company INFORMATION

Ruukki Group Plc is the parent company of a 

Group focusing on wood-based industrial busi-

ness operations. The Group operations are 

located mainly in Finland, but in future the tar-

geted emphasis is principally in Russia. Ruukki 

Group operates in several lines of business, such 

as House Building, Sawmill Business, Furniture 

Business and Care Services. The Group is to 

launch business operations in sawmill and 

pulp industry in Russia. Ruukki Group also has 

some holdings in associates. The Group’s par-

ent company is Ruukki Group Plc (business ID: 

0618181-8). The parent company is domiciled in 

Espoo, and its registered address is Keilasatama 

5, FI-02150 Espoo. Copies of the consolidated 

financial statements are available at Ruukki 

Group Plc’s head office at Keilasatama 5, 

FI-02150 Espoo.

Ruukki Group Plc is quoted (trading code: 

RUG1V) on the OMX Group’s Nordic Stock 

Exchange in Helsinki in the industrials group, in 

the mid cap segment.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of 

Ruukki Group have been prepared in accord-

ance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) and in conformity with the 

IAS and IFRS standards as well as the SIC and 

IFRIC interpretations in force on 31 December 

2007.  In the Finnish Accounting Act and 

the regulations issued on the basis thereof, 

International Financial Reporting Standards 

refer to the standards and their interpretations 

that have been approved for application within 

the EU in accordance with the procedure pre-

scribed in the EU regulation (EC) 1606/2002. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

also meet the requirements set forth in the 

Finnish accounting and company legislation. 

The consolidated financial statements have 

been prepared on the basis of original acqui-

sition cost, except in the case of investments 

available for sale and financial assets and li-

abilities recognised as income or expense with 

an impact on fair value, and similar items.  

Share-based payments have been recorded 

at fair value. For business combinations car-

ried out before 2004, goodwill is the carrying 

amount according to the previous accounting 

standards that has been used as the IFRS-com-

pliant default acquisition cost. Figures in the 

consolidated financial statements are given in 

EUR thousands.

The preparation of IFRS-compliant consolidated 

financial statements requires the management 

to make certain estimates and to use its dis-

cretion in the application of the accounting 

policies. Information regarding management 

discretion used in applying the accounting poli-

cies and that may have an effect on the figures 

presented in the financial statements is shown 

in the section ‘Accounting policies requiring 

management discretion and key uncertainty 

factors for estimates’.

Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include 

the parent company Ruukki Group Plc and its 

subsidiaries. Subsidiaries refer to companies in 

which the Group has control. The Group gains 

control of a company when it holds more than 

half of the voting rights, or otherwise exercises 

control. The existence of potential voting rights 

has been taken into account in assessing the 

requirements for control in cases where the 

instruments entitling their holder to potential 

voting rights can be exercised at the time of as-

sessment. Control refers to the right to govern 

the financial and operating policies of an enter-

prise so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

Intra-group shareholding has been eliminated 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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according to the acquisition cost method. 

Acquired subsidiaries are consolidated from the 

time when the Group gained control, and di-

vested subsidiaries until the time when control 

ceased. All intra-group transactions, receiva-

bles, debts, and unrealised profits, as well as 

internal distribution of profits, are eliminated 

when the consolidated financial statements are 

prepared. In cases where losses can be attrib-

uted to impairment, unrealised losses are not 

eliminated. Distribution of profits between par-

ent company owners and minorities is shown in 

the income statement, and the minority share of 

equities is shown as a separate item in the bal-

ance sheet under shareholders’ equity. Minority 

share of accumulated losses is recorded in the 

financial statements up to the amount of the 

investment.

Associates

Associates are companies in which Ruukki 

Group exercises significant influence. The Group 

exercises significant influence if it holds more 

than 20 % of the company’s voting rights, or if 

the company in other ways exercises significant 

influence but not control. Associates have been 

consolidated in the Group’s financial statements 

using the equity method. If the Group’s share 

of the associate’s losses exceeds the carrying 

amount of the investment, the investment is 

recognised at zero value in the balance sheet, 

and losses exceeding the carrying amount are 

not consolidated unless the Group has made a 

commitment to fulfil the associates’ obligations. 

Unrealised profits between the Group and the 

associates have been eliminated in line with the 

Group’s ownership. Investment in associate in-

cludes the goodwill arising from its acquisition.

Translation of foreign currency items

Figures indicating the profit/loss and financial 

position of Group entities are measured in the 

currency of each entity’s main operating envi-

ronment (‘functional currency’). Figures in the 

consolidated financial statements are presented 

in EUR, which is the functional and presentation 

currency of the Group’s parent company, Ruukki 

Group Plc. The functional and presentation cur-

rency of Finnish Group companies is  euro. The 

functional and presentation currency of Russian 

Group companies is the Russian rouble. The 

associates owned by the parent company have 

some individual foreign Group companies.

Transactions in foreign currencies have been 

recorded at the functional currency using the 

exchange rate on the date of the transaction or 

mid reference rates of central banks. Monetary 

items denominated in foreign currencies have 

been translated into the functional currency us-

ing the exchange rates for the balance sheet 

date. Exchange rate gains and losses are in-

cluded in the corresponding items above op-

erating profit. Hedge accounting has not been 

applied to forward contracts used for hedging 

purposes.

Tangible assets

Tangible assets have been measured at original 

acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation 

and impairment losses. If a tangible asset item 

consists of several parts with different useful 

lives, each part is handled as a separate item. 

In this case, expenses from a part replacement 

are capitalised. In other cases, subsequent ex-

penses are included in the carrying amount of 

an item only if it is probable that the future 

economic benefits from the item will flow to the 

Group and the acquisition cost of the item can 

be determined reliably. Other repair and main-

tenance expenses are recognised after they 

have occurred. 

Assets are depreciated over their useful lives 

using the straight-line method.  Land areas are 

not depreciated. The estimated useful lives of 

assets are as follows:

Buildings	 15–25 years 

Machinery and equipment	 3–15 years 

Other tangible assets	 5–10 years 

The residual value of assets and their useful life 

are reviewed in connection with each financial 

statement, and, if necessary, they will be ad-

justed to reflect the changes that have occurred 

in the expected financial benefit. The sales gains 

or losses arising from the decommissioning or 

divestment of tangible assets are included in 

other operating income or expenses.



44

Ruukki Group     Annual Report 2007 | Consolidated financial statements

Public subsidies

Public subsidies for the acquisition of tangible 

assets have been recorded as depreciation on 

the carrying amounts of tangible assets.  The 

subsidies are recognised as income in the form 

of smaller depreciation amounts over the useful 

life of the asset. 

The public transport and development subsidies 

received have been netted from the relevant 

expense items in the income statement. 

Intangible assets

Goodwill and intangible assets identified 

at acquisitions

Goodwill represents the portion of acquisition 

cost that exceeds the Group’s share of the fair 

value at the time of acquisition of the net as-

sets of a company acquired after 1 January 

2004.  Goodwill arising from previous business 

combinations represents the carrying amount 

under the previous accounting standards, which 

has been used as the deemed cost. The clas-

sification or accounting process for these ac-

quisitions has not been adjusted in preparation 

of the Group’s opening IFRS balance sheet on  

1 January 2004. Instead of regular amortisa-

tion, goodwill is tested annually for potential 

impairment. For this purpose, goodwill has 

been allocated to cash-generating units or, in 

the case of an associate; is included in the 

acquisition cost of the associate in question. 

Goodwill is measured at original acquisition 

cost less impairment costs.

Acquisitions made after 1 January 2004 have 

been recorded in compliance with the IFRS 

3 standard, which states that the acquired 

identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent 

liabilities are measured initially by the acquirer 

at their fair values on the acquisition date. Any 

intangible assets of the acquired company not 

included in the company’s balance sheet have 

been separated from goodwill. The remaining 

residual value is allocated as goodwill from 

acquisition. In situations when an associate 

has become a group company, the assets at-

tributable to the previous ownership have been 

revalued at fair value and recognised in the 

revaluation reserve.  

Efforts have been made to identify intangible 

assets outside the balance sheet associated 

with customers, marketing, technology, or in-

tellectual property rights in all acquisitions. On 

the basis of the analyses conducted, for exam-

ple trademarks and clientele have been identi-

fied as intangible rights to be activated in the 

balance sheet. Since market prices were not 

applicable to these items, a cash-flow-based 

approach was used in their measurement. In 

addition, the value of work in progress has 

been reassessed where necessary. The depre-

ciation period used for intangible assets recog-

nised during purchase price allocation analysis 

is based on the useful life of the assets. The 

amount of the acquisition price remaining after 

the allocation of assets has been recorded as 

goodwill.

For determining the acquisition cost, the assets 

provided by Ruukki Group companies, liabilities 

incurred by Ruukki Group or that it has under-

taken to answer for, and equity-based instru-

ments issued have been taken into account. In 

addition to the time of transaction, all future 

earn-out items have been taken into account on 

an assessment basis, because the final amount 

of these items may be different from that rec-

ognised in the balance sheet, as the conditional 

earn-out items are based on the future financial 

performance of the acquired company. Direct 

costs arising from the services of experts in 

connection with business combinations have 

been recognised in the total acquisition price.

Research and development costs

Research costs are recorded as expenses in the 

income statement. Development costs associ-

ated with the design of new or more advanced 

products have been recorded as expenses also, 

because the Group companies do not actually 

carry out any extensive R&D activities besides 

ordinary product improvement measures and 

the development of business-supporting com-

puter applications. 
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Depreciation periods for intangible assets

Depreciation periods are as follows:

Computer software	 3–5 years 

Other intangible rights	 3–5 years 

Trademarks		  3 or 10 years

Inventories

Inventories are measured at acquisition cost or a 

lower probable net realisable value. Acquisition 

costs are determined using the FIFO method or 

an average cost method. The cost of finished 

goods and work in progress comprises raw 

materials, direct labour expenses, other direct 

expenses, and an appropriate share of fixed 

and variable production overheads based on 

the normal capacity of the production facilities. 

In ordinary operations, the net realisable value 

is the estimated selling price that is obtainable, 

less the estimated costs incurred in completing 

the product and the selling expenses.

Lease agreements (the Group as the lessee)

Leases of tangible assets where the Group 

possesses a material portion of the risks and 

benefits of ownership are classified as financial 

leases. An asset acquired through a financial 

lease agreement is recorded in the balance 

sheet at the fair value of the leased object at 

the beginning of the lease period, or at a lower 

current value of minimum lease. A significant 

number of the finance leases recorded in the 

consolidated balance sheet cover production 

machinery and equipment as well as produc-

tion facilities.  An asset obtained through a 

finance lease is depreciated over the useful 

life of the asset or the lease term, whichever 

is shorter. The leases payable are divided into 

financial expenses and loan repayment dur-

ing the lease term so that the interest rate for 

the remaining loan is roughly the same each 

financial year. Leasing obligations are included 

in interest-bearing liabilities. Lease agreements 

in which the risks and benefits typical of own-

ership remain with the lessor are classified as 

other leases. Leases paid under other lease 

agreements are recognised as expenses in the 

income statement on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term. 

Impairment

On each balance sheet date, the Group makes 

an assessment of whether there are any indica-

tions of asset impairment. If such indications 

exist, the recoverable amount of the asset is 

estimated. In addition, goodwill is assessed 

annually for its recoverable amount regardless 

of whether there are any signs of impairment. 

Impairment is examined at the cash-flow-gen-

erating-entity level – in other words, the low-

est level of entity that is primarily independent 

of other entities and whose cash flows can be 

separated from other cash flows. Goodwill is 

tested at the segment level. In addition, impair-

ment related to associates and other assets are 

tested on a company/asset basis.

The recoverable amount is the fair value of 

an asset less divestment costs, or the higher 

value in use. Value in use means the present 

value of estimated future cash flows expected 

to arise from the asset or cash-flow-generating 

unit.  Value in use is forecast on the basis of 

circumstances and expectations at the time of 

testing. The discount rate takes into account  

the time value of money as well as the special 

risks involved for each asset, different capital 

structures in different lines of business, and the 

investors’ return expectations for similar invest-

ments, in addition to risks related to company 

size. An impairment loss is recorded when the 

carrying amount of an asset is greater than its 

recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 

recorded in the income statement. If the im-

pairment loss involves a cash-flow-generating 

entity, it is allocated first to reduce the goodwill 

of the entity and subsequently to reduce other 

assets of the entity in equal amounts. An impair-

ment loss is reversed if a change has occurred 

in circumstances and the recoverable amount 

of the asset has changed since the impairment 

loss was recognised. However, the reversal 

must not cause the adjusted value to be higher 

than the carrying amount without the recogni-

tion of the impairment loss. An impairment loss 

recognised for goodwill is not reversed in any 

circumstances.

Goodwill has been tested for impairment annu-

ally at the year’s end, for financial year 2007 

on 31 December 2007. Impairment testing and 

the methods used are discussed in more detail 

elsewhere in ‘Notes to the consolidated finan-

cial statements’.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in 

the period in which they were incurred. The is-

sue costs of the convertible bond loan issued by 

Ruukki Group Plc at the end of 2004 have been 

included in the acquisition cost to be capitalised. 

The loan has been fully converted into shares 

during 2007. Because this loan included the 

right of conversion, the loan capital has been 

divided into equity instrument and financial li-

ability components in line with the principles of 

the IAS 32 standard.

Employee benefits

Pension liabilities

All pension arrangements in Ruukki Group are 

classified as defined contribution plans. The 

group companies do not have any defined ben-

efit plans. Payments for defined contribution 

plans are recorded in the income statement for 

the relevant period. Group companies have a 

few individual pension insurance policies that 

differ from the statutory insurance under the 

Finnish Employees’ Pensions Act (TyeL), but 

they have no material impact on the Group’s 

expenses or liabilities. 

Share-based payments

Ruukki Group has applied the IFRS 2 standard 

Share-based Payments to all option schemes 

in which the options were granted after  

7 November 2002 and which did not vest be-

fore 1 January 2005. Prior option arrangements 

have not been shown as expenses in the in-

come statement. Option rights are measured at 

fair value at the time they were granted and 

recorded as expenses in the income statement 

on a straight-line basis during the vesting pe-

riod. The expenses at the time the options were 

granted are determined according to the Group’s 

estimate of the number of options expected 

to vest at the end of the vesting period.  Fair 

value is determined on the basis of the Black 

& Scholes option pricing model.  The effects of 

non-market-based terms and conditions are not 

included in the fair value of the option; instead, 

they are taken into account in the estimated 

number of options expected to vest at the end 

of the vesting period. The Group updates the 

estimated final number of options on each bal-

ance sheet date. Changes in the estimates are 

recorded in the income statement. When the 

option rights are exercised, the cash payments 

received from the subscriptions adjusted with 

potential transaction costs are recorded under 

share capital and share premium reserve. 

In total, 675,000 options were granted and 

subscribed for by 31 December 2007 under 

an option scheme that was decided on in par-

ent company Ruukki Group Plc’s shareholders’ 

meeting in December 2005. The group’s parent 

company has also given the CEO a so-called 

synthetic option, which is a cash-settled share-

based remuneration arrangement. The company 

revalues the scheme at each balance sheet and 

interim report date in accordance with IFRS 2. 

The Group applies the Black & Scholes model 

to option arrangements that include employ-

ment terms. The expected volatility has been 

determined by calculating the historical volatil-

ity of the company’s share price and adjusting it 

according to generally available factors that are 

expected to affect historical volatility. Historical 

volatility was calculated on the basis of changes 

in the company’s share price. 

Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has 

a legal or factual obligation resulting from a 

previous event, when it is probable that the 

payment obligation will materialise, and the 

amount of the obligation can be reliably es-

timated. If a reimbursement can be obtained 

from a third party for part of the obligation, the 

reimbursement is treated as a separate asset 

but not until the reimbursement is practically 

certain. Provisions are measured at the current 

value of the expenses required to fulfil the ob-

ligation. 

The prefabricated houses manufactured by 

Ruukki Group’s House Building segment involve 

a one-year repair liability and an additional 

10-year structural safety guarantee. On the 

basis of the historical data of the company op-

erating in the House Building business area, the 

one-year repair liability has been recorded as 

expenses in the income statement and as provi-

sions in the balance sheet. No expenses have 

been recorded in the income statement for the 

10-year structural safety guarantee, because 

such an amount is difficult to estimate, it is 
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unlikely to materialise, and the majority of the 

guarantee risk ultimately rests with non-Group 

subcontractors.

Income taxes

Tax expenses in the income statement consist 

of the tax based on taxable income for the year, 

and deferred taxes. Taxes based on taxable 

income for the year are calculated using the 

applicable tax rates. Taxes are adjusted with 

potential taxes from previous years.

Deferred taxes have been calculated for all tem-

porary differences between the carrying amount 

and taxable amount.  No deferred taxes have 

been recorded for goodwill impairment, which 

is non-deductible, nor have deferred taxes been 

recorded for the subsidiaries’ non-distributable 

profit funds insofar as the difference is un-

likely to be revoked in the foreseeable future.  

Deferred taxes have been calculated using the 

tax rates prescribed by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax assets have been recognised up 

to the amount for which there is likely to be 

taxable income in the future and against which 

the temporary difference can be used. 

Income recognition principles

Goods sold and services provided

Income from the sale of goods is recognised 

once the essential risks and benefits associ-

ated with ownership have been transferred to 

the buyer. Some Group companies sell goods 

to exports in which case income from export 

trading is recognised on a case-by-case basis 

with due attention paid to the terms of delivery 

in the trade agreements. Income from services 

is recognised after the service has been pro-

vided. Income from services provided is mainly 

attributable to the Care Services division, where 

service provision is relatively stable and follows 

the agreements signed with customers. 

Construction contracts

During the financial year or in the comparison 

year, Ruukki Group was not involved in any 

activities that would fall under the definition 

applied in the IAS 11 standard Construction 

Contracts. In future financial years, the Group’s 

House Building segment may become involved 

in operations that can be classified as construc-

tion contracts.

Financial income and expense

Interest income and expense is recognised us-

ing the effective interest method, and dividends 

are recognised when the right to dividends is 

established.

Unrealised financial gains and losses are rec-

ognised in the income statement. These items 

relate to currency forward contracts, interest 

rate swaps as well as mutual funds and other 

instruments used in liquidity management.

Non-current assets held for sale and dis-

continued operations

The ownership of shares of Pan-Oston Oy, 

which was a group company on balance sheet 

date, has been transferred to an external party 

on 2 January 2008 when an agreement made 

on 17 December 2007 was put into force. On 

the balance sheet, the assets and liabilities of 

Pan-Oston Oy are carried at book value. Assets 

and liabilities are presented separately classi-

fied as assets and liabilities held for sale. Pan-

Oston Oy has not been classified to any busi-

ness segment and it is presented in the “Other 

businesses”. 

The IFRS 5 standard requires that an entity 

must classify a non-current asset or a disposal 

group as assets held for sale if the amount 

equivalent to its carrying amount is accumu-

lated primarily from the sale of the item rather 

than its continued use. In this case, the asset or 

disposal group must be available for immediate 

sale in its present condition under the general 

and standard terms and conditions for sale for 

such assets and sale must be highly probable. 

For sale to be highly probable, the management 

representing the appropriate organisational 

level must be committed to a plan to sell the 

asset or disposal group, and the entity must 

have initiated an active programme to locate 

a buyer and to execute the plan. When these 

requirements are met after the balance sheet 

date but before the approval of the financial 

statements for disclosure, the notes required 

by IFRS 5 will be presented.
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The Board of Directors of Ruukki Group Plc has 

during 2007 decided to focus Group’s opera-

tions on wood-based industrial businesses and 

to focus the investments in Russia. Therefore 

various ownership and financial arrangements 

will be sorted out and rearrangements of the 

Group’s structure are possible. The Board of 

Directors of Ruukki Group Plc has also made 

a decision in 2005 to dispose of the associates 

related to the company’s prior history, except 

for ILP-Group Ltd Oy. The implementation of 

this decision has been started and some associ-

ated companies have been sold. However, the 

Group’s management sees that these interests 

in associates have not represented such major 

line of business or geographical area that they 

should be presented as discontinued operations 

in accordance with IFRS 5. Even though the im-

plementation of these decisions continues the 

sale of the remaining associates or any other 

potential rearrangements were not highly prob-

able as referred to in IFRS 5 when the financial 

statements for 2007 were approved for disclo-

sure, therefore they have not been presented 

separately in disposal group of non-current as-

sets held for sale.

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are classified on the basis of 

the purpose for which the financial asset was 

acquired, and in connection with the original ac-

quisition. Transaction costs have been included 

in the original carrying amount of the financial 

assets where an asset not measured at fair val-

ue in the income statement is concerned. The 

acquisition and disposal of financial assets are 

recorded on the transaction dates. Derivatives 

and assets held for trading are measured at fair 

value in the income statement. 

Investments held to maturity include non-deriv-

ative financial assets that involve fixed or easily 

defined payments, that mature on a specified 

date, and that the Group is determined and 

able to hold until maturity. Loans and other 

receivables are non-derivative financial assets 

that involve fixed or easily defined payments, 

that are not quoted on active markets, and 

that the company does not hold for trading 

purposes. Assets available for sale include 

non-derivative financial assets that could be 

disposed of immediately without restrictions or 

assets that can not be categorised in groups 

mentioned above. 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 

funds, bank deposits available for withdrawal 

on demand, and other highly liquid short-term 

investments that are measured at fair value 

on the balance sheet date. Items classified as 

financial assets mature not later than in three 

months from the date of acquisition. 

Through share issues carried out during sum-

mer 2007 Ruukki Group Plc received substan-

tial amount of equity. At the end of financial 

year 2007 these received funds are placed into 

interest-bearing bank accounts, money market 

mutual funds as well as euro-denominated and 

rouble-denominated deposits whose maturities 

range from 0 to 10 months. The mutual funds 

are presented in the group balance sheet as 

short-term assets held for sale, and the depos-

its have been categorised as short-term assets 

held to maturity.

In the cash flow statement all other items than 

those categorised as cash are shown in the cash 

flow from investment activities. Money market 

mutual funds used for liquidity management 

purposes are categorised into cash.

Financial liabilities are included in long- and 

short-term liabilities, and they may be interest-

bearing or interest-free.

Derivative contracts and hedge account-

ing

Derivative contracts are measured at fair value 

in the income statement. The Group does not 

apply hedge accounting.

Operating profit

IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements 

does not define the concept of operating 

profit. Ruukki Group has defined it as follows: 

Operating profit is the net amount derived by 

adding to revenue other operating income, 

less purchase costs adjusted with the change 

in inventories of finished goods and work in 

progress and expenses from work performed 

by the enterprise and capitalised, less costs 

from employee benefits, depreciation and pos-

sible impairment losses, and other operating 

expenses. All other income statement items are 
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shown below operating profit. Translation differ-

ences arising from business items are included 

in operating profit; otherwise they are recorded 

under financial items. Income from associates 

is included in operating profit.

Accounting policies requiring 

management discretion and key 

uncertainty factors for estimates

Preparation of the financial statements requires 

the management to make estimates, assump-

tions, and forecasts regarding the future. 

Future developments may deviate significantly 

from the assumptions made if changes occur 

in the business environment and/or business 

operations. In addition, the management is re-

quired to use its discretion in the application of 

the financial statements’ preparation principles. 

Ruukki Group is engaged in several different 

lines of business, and each business requires 

different kinds of estimates and assumptions. 

Group companies are small and medium-sized 

companies located in different parts of Finland. 

Some of the companies operate in capital-

intensive and some in labour-intensive sec-

tors. On the balance sheet date, the Group’s 

foreign subsidiaries had only minor operations. 

The nature of Ruukki Group’s operations es-

sentially involves business acquisitions and 

other arrangements, which often requires the 

management’s discretion in the application of 

accounting policies.

Allocation of the cost of a business 

combination

In accordance with IFRS 3, the acquisition cost 

of an acquired company is allocated to the 

assets of the acquired company. The manage-

ment has to use estimates when determining 

the fair value of identifiable assets and liabili-

ties. Determining a value for intangible assets 

such as trademarks or clientele requires esti-

mation and discretion because in most cases no 

market value can be assigned to these assets. 

Determining fair value for tangible assets re-

quires particular discretion as well. Especially 

in cases where the companies are small or geo-

graphically situated in areas where there are no 

active markets for real property, for instance. In 

these cases, the management has to select an 

appropriate method for determining the value 

and must estimate future cash flows. Similarly, 

determining the discount rate to be used for 

discounting future cash flows requires discre-

tion.

Determination of the amount of the earn-

out liabilities associated with business 

acquisitions

The Group has made a significant number of 

business acquisitions in the past few years. 

These acquisitions typically have involved ad-

ditional sale prices calculated and paid on the 

basis of the future operative profitability of the 

acquired company (earn-out arrangements), 

and the estimated additional sale prices have 

been included in the company’s other liabili-

ties at the time of acquisition. The estimates 

presented in the financial statements may 

differ from the actual earn-out liability if the 

real profit or loss of the acquired company is 

different from the estimated. Furthermore, the 

estimated earn-out items may differ from the 

subsequent actual sale prices as a result of the 

discounting of future liabilities.

The previously presented earn-out liabilities 

have been reviewed during the financial year 

2007 (also in 2006), which has affected the 

goodwill on the one hand and the correspond-

ing transaction price liability on the other. This 

is because the companies acquired in the previ-

ous financial years have prepared their financial 

statements for 2007 (2006), thereby helping to 

specify the additional sale prices more accu-

rately. The assumed additional sale prices pay-

able on the basis of performance in 2008 and 

in subsequent financial years have not been 

revised from the previously recorded amounts 

in connection with the preparation of financial 

statements for 2007.

Impairment testing

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, and 

assessments of whether there are indications 

of any other asset impairment are made. The 

recoverable amounts of cash-flow-generating 

units have been determined by means of cal-

culations based on value in use. Preparation of 

these calculations requires the use of estimates 
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after which the cash flow growth rate is, under 

the principle of prudence, assumed to be zero. 

The forecasts used in the testing are based on 

the budgets and projections of the operative 

units, which strive to identify any extension 

investments and rearrangements. Separating 

extension investments from replacement in-

vestments and the elimination of their impact 

from the projected figures require the use of 

discretion. To prepare the estimates, efforts 

have been made to collect background informa-

tion from the operative business area manage-

ment as well as from different sources describ-

ing general market activity. The risk associated 

with the estimates is taken into account in the 

interest used. In addition, in some individual 

cases some of the forecasts prepared by the 

operative units have been revised to lower the 

predicted figures somewhat, on the basis of 

the historical forecasting accuracy of the units 

in question. Because the group companies are 

small and medium-sized companies, estimated 

components are involved in the interest applied 

in the impairment testing and the related risk 

premiums, and the definition of the average 

capital structures of the markets of the segment 

in question. An individual accounting interest 

figure has been calculated for each operative 

unit in each segment.

Trade receivables

The individual companies in Ruukki Group make 

assessments of their trade receivables based on 

known facts, previous experience, and foresee-

able future events; therefore, the information 

includes estimates made by the management 

of the companies in question. 

Operating assets

Ruukki Group companies operate in dissimi-

lar business conditions and lines of business, 

which is why on the business segment level 

the Group’s management is required to use its 

discretion when determining the useful lives of 

various assets, which affects the amount of de-

preciation and thereby the balance sheet value 

of the assets concerned. In addition, when the 

Group acquires new subsidiaries, assessments 

have to be made to make the acquired com-

panies’ depreciation practices consistent with 

practice in the rest of the Group wherever appli-

cable. Similarly, the management is required to 

use its discretion in determining the useful lives 

of immaterial rights identified in accordance 

with IFRS 3, and in determining the deprecia-

tion period. This affects the financial result for 

the period through depreciation and change in 

deferred taxes.

Inventories

Those Ruukki Group companies that have inven-

tories make, in case needed, an estimate-based 

non-marketability provision for inventories, as 

a result of which the balance sheet value of 

inventories has been changed somewhat. The 

estimates are based on stocktaking as well as 

the predicted future need and inventory turno-

ver rate.

Guarantee expenses

The deliveries of prefabricated houses manu-

factured by Ruukki Group’s House Building 

business area involve repair liabilities. To esti-

mate these liabilities, the management has to 

prepare estimates based on the historical data 

of the company operating in the division, as 

well as on experience of similar realised repair 

costs.

Deferred taxes

The tax expenses in the income statement 

consist of tax based on taxable income for the 

period and deferred taxes. In some cases, esti-

mates have to be made to determine deferred 

taxes. Special consideration is required in the 

capitalisation of deferred tax assets and in 

estimating grounds thereof, especially in pre-

dicting taxable income for future periods. No 

deferred taxes have been recorded for goodwill 

impairment, which is non-deductible, nor have 

deferred taxes been recorded for the subsidi-

aries’ non-distributable profit funds insofar as 

the difference is unlikely to be revoked in the 

foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets have 

been recognised up to the amount for which 

there is likely to be taxable income in the future 

and against which the temporary difference can 

be used.
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Share-based payments

For share-based payments, Ruukki Group ap-

plies the IFRS 2 standard, according to which 

option rights are measured at fair value at the 

time they were granted. Synthetic options or 

incentive schemes are measured at fair value 

separately for each period, therefore their value 

can change. Share-based payments are re-

corded as expenses in the income statement on 

a straight-line basis during the vesting period. 

Expenses on the option grant date are deter-

mined according to the Group’s estimate of the 

number of options expected to vest at the end 

of the vesting period. The Group updates the 

estimated final number of options on each bal-

ance sheet date. Changes in the estimates are 

recorded in the income statement. Fair value is 

determined under the Black & Scholes option 

pricing model. The management is required to 

assess the parameters of this model in terms of 

the volatility of the underlying share, which is 

based on historical volatility data. 

Associates

Ruukki Group’s associates are consolidated us-

ing the equity method. Income from associates 

is recorded in the consolidated income state-

ment. Associates prepare their own financial 

statements in compliance with the Finnish 

Accounting Act, and Ruukki Group adjusts the 

statements to comply with the IFRS standards 

before recording the associates’ earnings in-

formation. For this purpose, the management 

sometimes is forced to make estimates of the 

required adjustments, and sometimes it may 

not be possible to identify all of the necessary 

adjustments. However, this has no material 

impact on the Group’s financial results or its 

financial position. Determining the value of as-

sociates’ shares, particularly in consideration of 

the IAS 36-compliant impairment testing, re-

quires discretion, as it involves an assessment 

of whether there is any indication of impairment 

of the balance sheet value of the associates’ 

shares and receivables, and an assessment of 

how their value in use should be calculated if 

impairment testing needs to be conducted.

Application of new or amended IFRS 

standards

As a rule, the Group applies all new or amended 

IFRS standards related to its own business ac-

tivities since their effective date. 

The Group applies IFRS 7 (Financial instru-

ments: Disclosures) as of 1 January 2007, which 

has resulted in more extensive specification and 

analysis of the Group’s financial items and risks.  

Similarly, the additional capital management 

breakdown required by the amended IAS 1 has 

been made as of the effective date 1 January 

2007. 

The Group will apply the IFRS 8 standard as of 

1 January 2009. IFRS 8 requires operating seg-

ments to be identified, among other criteria, on 

the basis of internal reports so that a segment 

is the level at which group management reviews 

the operations in order to allocate resources to 

the segment and to assess its performance. The 

introduction of IFRS 8 may affect the definition 

of business segments as well the content and 

presentation of the financial information for the 

various segments. 

The Group estimates that of the amended 

standards IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IAS 27 

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

will affect the Group’s financial statements after 

their effective date. These amended standards 

have not yet been approved for application 

within the EU. The amended standards IFRS 

3 and IAS 27 affect the treatment of busi-

ness combinations in the financial statements 

and the Group estimates that it particularly 

affects the initial accounting for the business 

combination and the amount of goodwill. IAS 1 

will change the presentation of financial state-

ments. The Group estimates that it mainly af-

fects the presentation of income statement and 

the statement of changes in equity.

On the basis of the information currently avail-

able, the Group believes that the future intro-

duction of other new or amended standards, or 

of the IFRS interpretations (IFRIC 11, 12, 13 

and 14) available on the balance sheet date, 

will not have a material impact on the Group’s 

future financial statements.
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The presentation of information by business 

segment follows the Group’s segmentation by 

business segment and by geographic area. 

Business segments represent the Group’s pri-

mary segment reporting. The segment reporting 

is based on the Group’s internal organisational 

structure and financial reporting.

The business segments consist of groups of 

assets and business operations generating 

products or services that involve risks and prof-

itability that are different from those in other 

segments. Products and services in specified 

geographic areas are produced in a specific 

economic environment in which the risks and 

profitability related to products and services 

differ from those inherent in the financial en-

vironment of other geographic regions. Inter-

segment transactions are carried out at mar-

ket prices. The significance of inter-segment 

transactions in Group’s operations is minor. The 

assets and liabilities of the segments represent 

items that these segments use in their activities 

or that can be reasonably allocated to them. 

Investments consist of increases in tangible 

and intangible assets whose life is longer than 

one financial year.

Business segments – primary 

segment

On the balance sheet date 31 December 2007, 

the Group’s business segments were the follow-

ing:

House Building•	

Sawmill Business•	

Furniture Business•	

Care Services•	

The Group’s other operations are classified un-

der ‘Other businesses’. The Board of Directors of 

Ruukki Group Plc has changed the classification 

of segments starting as of beginning of 2007; 

the previously reported Wood Processing seg-

ment is from financial year 2007 onwards pre-

sented split into two separate segments, name-

ly Sawmill Business and Furniture Business. 

Moreover, the previously separately reported 

Metal Industry segment is currently presented 

under Other businesses. Investments in associ-

ates are presented in the segments classified 

by the nature of their operations.

Segment  
information
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House Building

The House Building business area specialises 

in the design, manufacture and assembly of 

ready-to-move-in detached wooden houses in 

whole Finland. The business area’s customers 

are Finnish families and private persons.

The revenue from ready-to-move-in houses 

delivered by the business area is recognised 

upon delivery to the customer, for which reason 

sites in progress have no effect on the Group’s 

revenue or profit.

The steep and rapid climb of the costs of raw 

materials and supplies in the first half of 2007 

weakened the relative operating profitability. 

The cost increases started to level off in the 

autumn. The number of houses delivered to 

customers increased slightly from the previ-

ous year. Business area’s revenue grew more 

than the volume of delivered houses due to an 

increase in the average selling price and since 

starting from June 2007 the acquired electric-

ity contractor subsidiary has been consolidated 

into the segment. Deliveries in the house build-

ing business are generally very seasonal, which 

in practice means that more deliveries are made 

during the first, and particularly the fourth, 

quarters than over the summer. However, dur-

ing 2007 the timing of deliveries differed slightly 

from the historical seasonal variation. 

The business area’s order book excluding VAT 

stood at approximately EUR 17.9 million at the 

end of 2007 (31 Dec 2006: EUR 36.0 million). 

The order book contains no significant risks. At 

the end of the accounting period, the House 

Building business area’s personnel totalled 118 

(31 Dec 2006: 101). 

The following companies belong to the business 

area: Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy (Ruukki Group Plc 

owns 90.1 %) and its subsidiaries Nivaelement 

Oy (100 %) and RG Design-Talotekniikka Oy 

(Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy owns 70.1 %).

Revenue and operating profit of the House Building segment,

EUR million 1-12/2007 1-12/2006 Change, %

Revenue 62.4 53.7 16 %

EBIT 13.3 13.4 0 %

EBIT-% 21.4 % 24.9 %

2006 total: 458 	      2007 total: 473

Q1

127

108

91

113

Q2

99
106

Q3

141
146

Q4

The House Building business area has de-

livered wooden ready-to-move-in houses to 

customers as follows:
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Sawmill business

The Sawmill Business segment specialises in 

the efficient processing of softwood logs from 

Northern Finland into various timber products 

for both domestic and export markets. The 

construction industry forms the business area’s 

main customer group in both Finland and else-

where, because the Group’s products are very 

well suited to house building thanks to their 

strength properties.

Both the market prices of the end-products and 

the costs of raw materials and transportation 

have risen, the net result of which the profit 

and relative profitability have improved during 

2007. The log stumpage prices have levelled 

off during the autumn. Market demand for the 

products of the business segment has been 

strong in Finland as well as in export markets, 

but especially abroad there has been deteriora-

tion in the market situation from the end of the 

financial year 2007. There have been many fac-

tors affecting the whole sector that have low-

ered the profitability of the segment: declining 

exports prices, weak demand abroad, profound 

structural changes in the Finnish forest industry 

and the implications of the introduced Russian 

round wood duties into the business environ-

ment.

The exports accounted about 42 % of the 

Sawmill Business segment’s revenue (1-12/2006:  

56 %). The order book excluding VAT was ap-

proximately EUR 8.9 million (31 Dec 2006: EUR 

13.2 million). There were totally 112 employees 

employed by the segment at the end of 2007 

(31 Dec 2006: 72). 

The coniferous sawmill planned in the Kostroma 

region, Russia, is still at the preparation phase. 

During 2007 the total costs recognised in the 

consolidated income statement related to the 

investment projects in Kostroma were EUR 3.5 

million (for the previous financial year EUR 0.5 

million). Furthermore, prepayments on the 

investments have been paid. During the last 

quarter of 2007, the Kostroma projects’ expens-

es totalled about EUR 0.8 million, which almost 

fully has been related to the sawmill business.

After the end of the financial year 2007 Jun- 

nikkala group has been acquired into the 

Sawmill Business segment (Ruukki Group’s 

ownership 51 %), which will to a large extent 

increase the revenue of the segment in 2008. 

When the new acquired unit is integrated, the 

target is to intensify the co-operation of vari-

ous sawmills and to get synergy benefits in i.e. 

purchases.

The major subsidiaries of the segment are: 

Lappipaneli Oy (100 %), Tervolan Saha ja 

Höyläämö Oy (91.4 %), Oplax Oy (100 %) and 

Ruukki Invest Oy (100 %), which has a Russian 

subsidiary OOO Ruukki Invest Oy Kostroma.

Revenue and operating profit of the Sawmill Business segment, 

EUR million 1-12/2007 1-12/2006 Change, %

Revenue 59.4 27.8 114 %

EBIT 5.4 1.4 295 %

EBIT-% 9.0 % 4.9 %
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Furniture business

The Furniture Business segment manufactures 

wooden, ready-to-assemble furniture.

In the above table the EBIT includes both the 

shares of profit relating to holdings in associ-

ated companies corresponding with the Group’s 

respective holdings and all income statement 

items corresponding with holdings in subsidiar-

ies. In January and February 2007 the Furniture 

Business company Incap Furniture and all of its 

subsidiaries were associates of Ruukki Group, 

and from March 2007 onwards subsidiaries.

The business environment of the furniture 

business has continued to be very challenging, 

and the operating result without non-recurring 

items has remained negative. However, during 

the last quarter of the financial year, the opera-

tive volumes and capacity utilisation increased 

notably and the business area’s profit before 

non-recurring items returned to profit. During 

the year 2007 a net insurance compensation 

in total of approximately EUR 5.4 million has 

been recognised, by for the same period a EUR 

1.1 million impairment of inventories has been 

booked as well. At the end of the accounting 

period, the business area’s order book excluding 

VAT stood at approximately EUR 10.4 million. 

On 31 December 2007, the segment employed 

a total of 331 people.

Incap Furniture Oy (Ruukki Group’s ownership 

71.0 %) and its subsidiaries belong to the seg-

ment.

Revenue and operating profit of the Furniture Business segment, 

EUR million 1-12/2007 1-12/2006 Change, %

Revenue 68.7 25.7 168 %

EBIT 2.6 -5.3

EBIT-% 3.8 % -20.8 %
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Care Services

The Care Services business area provides 

high-quality care and rehabilitation services for 

municipalities, cities, communities and busi-

nesses.

During the financial year 2007, the organic 

growth of the business was strong as a result 

of new service unit openings and the Mendis 

acquisition carried out last year. During the 

last quarter of 2007 the business segment’s 

expenses were above the average due to the 

autumn salary increases, the personnel and 

premises costs for new or planned care services 

units as well as one-off purchases at the exist-

ing care homes.

At the end of the accounting period, the busi-

ness area employed 344 persons (31 Dec 2006: 

229). The structure of the subgroup will be 

simplified further in 2008 by merging one of the 

subsidiaries into the parent company. The busi-

ness area has service units in 21 locations, and 

the combined number of these unit’s custom-

ers was about 550 at year end (31 Dec 2006: 

420).

The comparable increase in the revenue of the 

Care Services business area was approximately 

30 %, when eliminating the effect of the ac-

quisition of Terveyspalvelut Mendis Oy during 

the 2006 financial year. Correspondingly, the 

comparable change in operating profit is about 

-75 %.

The following companies belong to the busi-

ness area: the parent company of the group 

Mikeva Oy (100 %) and its subsidiaries Mikon 

Kuntoutuskodit Oy (100 %) and Terveyspalvelut 

Mendis Oy (100 %) that also has Mendis 

Palvelukodit Oy (100 %) as its subsidiary.

Revenue and operating profit of the Care Services segment, 

EUR million 1-12/2007 1-12/2006 Change, %

Revenue 16.8 9.8 71 %

EBIT 0.3 0.6 -55 %

EBIT-% 1.6 % 6.2 %
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Other businesses

In addition, Ruukki Group has business 

operations within the metal industry that are 

not reported as separate segments as well as 

some holdings in associates.

The following companies belong to the metal 

industry sub-group: Alumni Oy (100 %) and its 

subsidiaries Pan-Oston Oy (100 %), the entire 

stock of which was sold upon transactions car-

ried out on 2 January 2008, and Selka-line Oy 

(100 %). During the accounting period 2007, 

the metal industry sub-group’s revenue was 

EUR 8.2 million (EUR 8.2 million in 2006) of 

which Pan-Oston Oy generated about 65 %, 

and operating profit EUR 0.1 million (EUR 0.3 

million in 2006).

Ruukki Group Plc also has some minority hold-

ings in Finnish companies that operate in logis-

tics and ICT businesses. The combined profit 

effect of associates was approximately EUR 0.1 

million in 2007 (EUR 0.4 million in 2006). The 

profit effect of associates belonging to Sawmill 

and Furniture Business segments is presented 

within the operating profit of these segments. 

During the accounting period 2007 Ruukki 

Group Plc reduced its ownership in Valtimo 

Components Oyj from 39.2 % to 24.9 %. All 

the associates have been consolidated in the 

consolidated financial statements by applying 

the equity method.

Geographical segments – 

secondary segment

Ruukki Group’s divisions carry out operations in 

Finland and in Russia. Products manufactured 

by the Group are exported from Finland to 

foreign customers. The Group’s key export ar-

eas are Japan, the Nordic region and other EU 

countries, and northern African countries. Most 

of the Group’s assets, investments, personnel, 

and production operations are in Finland and in 

continously increasing amounts in Russia. The 

significance of Russia is increasing in the future. 

Revenue figures for the various geographic 

regions are based on the geographic location 

of the customers, and similarly the assets and 

investments for particular geographic regions 

are based on the location of assets. 

2007, EUR ‘000 Finland Russia Other countries Group

Revenue 122,875 672 90,362 213,910

Assets 468,245 31,734 10 499,990

Capital Expenditure 33,855 587 0 34,442

2006, EUR ‘000 Finland Russia Other countries Group

Revenue 85,526 590 39,343 125,459

Assets 110,521 0 0 110,521

Capital Expenditure 14,330 0 0 14,330

In 2007, the Group’s revenue in Finland 

amounted to approximately EUR 123 million 

and revenue from other countries to about EUR 

91 million.

Geographical segments

Revenue in Finland

Revenue from other countries

43 % 57 %
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Segment information for 2007, business segments

EUR ‘000 House  
Building

Sawmill  
Business

Furniture  
Business

Care  
Services Others Eliminations and 

unallocated items Group

External sales
Services 2,160 350 0 16,816 260 0 19,586
Goods sold 60,227 57,243 68,716 0 8,138 0 194,323
Total external sales 62,387 57,593 68,716 16,816 8,398 0 213,910
Intra-group sales 0 1,835 0 0 269 -2,104 0
Revenue 62,387 59,428 68,716 16,816 8,667 -2,104 213,910
Income from associates 0 74 -807 0 110 0 -623
Segment’s operating profit 13,337 5,362 2,627 274 -5,916 -9 15,674
Unallocated items 0
Operating profit 15,674
Unallocated items -1,993
Net profit 13,680

Segment’s assets 30,128 75,917 38,369 9,523 415,947 -71,596 498,288
Investments in associates 0 0 0 0 1,702 0 1,702
Unallocated assets 0
Total assets 499,990

Segment’s liabilities 23,643 69,452 39,556 9,050 7,395 -60,758 88,340
Unallocated items 0
Total liabilities 88,340

Gross capital expenditure 360 11,501 21,441 936 204 0 34,442
Depreciation -293 -3,737 -2,959 -887 -146 0 -8,022
Impairment 0 0 -1,058 0 -567 0 -1,625
Other non-cash items:
Provisions 119 70 0 0 0 189
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Segment information for 2006, business segments

EUR ‘000 House  
Building

Sawmill  
Business

Furniture  
Business

Care  
Services Others Eliminations and 

unallocated items Group

External sales
Services 2,540 0 0 9,820 551 -400 12,511
Goods sold 51,208 27,818 25,683 0 8,239 0 112,949
Total external sales 53,748 27,818 25,683 9,820 8,790 -400 125,459
Intra-group sales 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revenue 53,748 27,818 25,683 9,820 8,790 -400 125,459
Income from associates 0 -27 -1,682 0 742 0 -968
Segment’s operating profit 13,380 1,411 -5,395 610 2,915 126 13,048
Unallocated items 0
Operating profit 13,048
Unallocated items -4,605
Net profit 8,442

Segment’s assets 34,027 27,067 287 10,319 68,799 -29,978 110,521
Investments in associates 0 0 939 0 4,629 0 5,568
Unallocated assets 0
Total assets 116,090

Segment’s liabilities 22,923 25,179 1,789 10,095 16,713 -19,973 56,726
Unallocated items 0
Total liabilities 56,726

Gross capital expenditure 561 7,161 0 4,038 2,569 0 14,330
Depreciation -176 -1,188 -2,438 -380 -221 0 -4,403
Impairment 0 -5 0 0 -317 -32 -354
Other non-cash items:
Warranty provisions 108 0 0 0 0 108
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Financial year 2007

Ruukki Group has carried out the following 

business combinations in financial year 2007:

Group companies

In February the Group acquired the majority of 

the shares of Incap Furniture Oy, which pre-

viously was an associate. At the end of 2007, 

Ruukki Group held about 71.3 % of shares of 

Incap Furniture Oy. 

In March Ruukki Group Plc acquired all of the 

shares of pallet producer Oplax Oy. Before the 

transaction Ruukki Group Plc held approximate-

ly 32 % of Oplax shares. 

Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy, the parent company of 

the House Building business segment of Ruukki 

Group Plc, acquired the majority of Pohjolan 

Design-Sähkö Oy in June. After the transaction, 

Ruukki Group has a 70.1 % stake in Pohjolan 

Design-Sähkö Oy. The management of the ac-

quired company holds the minority.

In August 2007, Ruukki Group Plc increased its 

ownership in Alumni Oy, the parent company 

of the metal industry business sector, to 100 %  

by purchasing the shares corresponding to ap-

proximately 30.6 % ownership from a person 

formerly belonging to the Alumni management. 

This acquisition did not have a material effect 

on Ruukki Group’s profit or financial perform-

ance since Ruukki Group already previously had 

a controlling interest in Alumni Oy. Moreover, 

Alumni Oy has been loss-making and there-

fore no minority interest has been recognised. 

Based on the acquired company’s equity at the 

moment of the transaction, and taking into ac-

count Ruukki Group’s previous ownership, the 

total equity related to this acquisition was zero. 

As no other assets or liabilities were recognised 

relating to the acquisition, the total acquisition 

cost, approximately EUR 0.3 million, was recog-

nised as goodwill.

Ruukki Group’s subsidiaries have sold all of 

their holdings in the Russian OOO Sever-Trust 

to third parties during the financial year. Prior 

to the transaction the Group held 100 % of the 

equity capital of OOO Sever-Trust. The transac-

tion had only a minor effect to financial per-

formance or financial position of the Group.

The ownership of shares of Pan-Oston Oy, 

which was a group company on balance sheet 

date, has been sold to an external party on  

2 January 2008 based on an agreement made 

on 17 December 2007. Pan-Oston Oy has been 

presented in the “Other businesses” category 

for the financial year 2007.

Associates

Ruukki Group Plc has decreased its interest in 

the associate Valtimo Components Oyj from 

39.2 % to 24.9 % during 2007. Ruukki Group 

sold all of its holdings in ID Express Oy (40 % 

share) and Neopolar Oy (33.9 % share) in 

December 2007. 

Business Combinations
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Incap Furniture Oy

In February, Ruukki Group became the ma-

jority owner of Incap Furniture Oy through a 

directed share issue. See below for more spe-

cific information. As a result of the share issue, 

Ruukki Group’s ownership increased from about  

47.1 % to 70.3 %. Incap Furniture has been 

consolidated to Ruukki Group as a group 

company as of 1 March 2007. In January and 

February Incap Furniture was treated as an as-

sociate.

Incap Furniture’s share subscription was paid 

for by setting off former subordinated loan 

receivables. However, prior this share issue, 

Ruukki Group invested some 0.9 million euros 

by a subordinated loan arrangement. If a cor-

responding proportional holding of 70.3 % in 

Incap Furniture would have been valid as of 

1 January 2007, its net effect on the reported 

Ruukki Group’s income statement main items 

would have been the following: consolidated 

revenue would have increased by some EUR 

8,907 thousand (+4 %), consolidated EBIT* 

decreased by roughly EUR 714 thousand (-5 

%) and consolidated net profit* decreased 

by about EUR 885 thousand (-6 %) (all these 

figures compared with the reported interim 

figures).

* when taking into account the purchase price 

allocation, the related depreciation and amor-

tisation, and the actual balance sheet as of 28 

February 2007

The following assets and liabilities were recognised relating to the acquisition: 

Phase 3: Acquisition of 23.3 % share

EUR ‘000 Fair value of  
acquired assets

Book value  
before acquisition

Intangible assets
 C lientele 814 0
 O ther intangible assets 555 607

Property, plant and equipment 18,193 18,284
Inventories 8,185 7,810
Receivables
 T rade receivables 5,902 5,902
 O ther receivables 2,502 2,444
Cash and cash equivalents 369 369
Total assets 36,521 35,415

Interest bearing debt
 L easing liabilities 3,200 3,200
 C urrent and non-current debt 23,041 23,041
Non-interest bearing debt
 T rade payables 7,742 7,742
 O ther debt 3,842 3,669
  Deferred tax liability 1,295 986
Total liabilities 39,120 38,638

Net assets -2,600 -3,223

Acquisition cost 1,171
Net assets 28 Feb 2007 (100 %) -2,600
Acquired net assets 28 Feb 2007 (23.3 %) -604
Goodwill 1,775

Net cash outflow on the acquisition:
Consideration paid in cash 886
Acquired cash and cash equivalents 23.3 % 86
Cash flow 800
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Oplax Oy

In March, the company decided to finalise 

a cash transaction to increase its holding in 

Oplax Oy, manufacturer of packaging pallets in 

Oulu, Kemi and Tornio, from 32 % to 100 %. 

The latest of these transactions increased 

Ruukki Group’s ownership by 61.7 %, which is 

reflected in the table below, where also more 

specific information relating to this transaction 

is presented. Oplax Oy has been consolidated 

to Ruukki Group’s Sawmill Business segment as 

of March.

If the corresponding 100 % holding in Oplax 

Oy would have been valid as of 1 January 2007, 

its net effect on the reported Ruukki Group’s 

income statement main items would have been 

the following: consolidated revenue would 

have increased by roughly EUR 1,428 thousand  

(+0.6 %), consolidated EBIT* decreased by 

some EUR 269 thousand (-1.7 %) and consoli-

dated net profit* been decreased by about EUR 

261 thousand (-1.9 %) (all these figures com-

pared with the reported interim figures).

* when taking into account the purchase price 

allocation, the related depreciation and amor-

tisation, and the actual balance sheet as of 12 

March 2007

The following assets and liabilities were recognised relating to the acquisition:

EUR ‘000 Fair value of acquired assets Book value before acquisition

Intangible assets
 C lientele 2,061 0
Property, plant and equipment
 L and and buildings 525 78
  Machinery and equipment 1,628 273
  Investments 1,446 1,434
Other assets
  Inventories 1,226 1,142
 T rade receivables 70 707
 O ther receivables 125 125
 A ccruals 2 2
Cash 9 9
Total assets 7,728 3,769

Non-interest bearing debt
 T rade payables 429 429
 O ther debt 216 216
  Deferrals 80 80
  Deferred tax liability 1,029 0
Interest bearing debt 114 114
Total liabilities 1,869 839

Net assets 5,859 2,930

Acquisition cost 4,852
Net assets 12 Mar 2007 (100 %) 5,859
Net assets 12 Mar 2007 (61.66 %) 3,613
Goodwill 1,239

Net cash outflow on the acquisition:
Consideration paid in cash 4,772
Acquired cash and cash equivalents -9
Cash flow 4,763
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Pohjolan Design-Sähkö Oy (RG Design-

Talotekniikka Oy)

In June 2007, the House Building business area 

acquired a 70.1 % holding in Pohjolan Design-

Sähkö Oy (Ruukki Group’s effective holding 

approximately 63.2 %), an electrical contractor 

company.  The management of the acquired 

company holds the minority. As a consequence 

of the transaction, the name of the company 

was changed into RG Design-Talotekniikka Oy. 

If this acquisition had taken place with a cor-

responding holding already on 1 January 2007, 

this would have changed the consolidated fig-

ures reported by Ruukki Group for the review 

period as follows: consolidated revenue would 

have increased by about EUR 1,828 thousand 

(+0.8 %), consolidated EBIT would have in-

creased by about EUR 221 thousand (+1.4 %), 

and consolidated net profit would have in-

creased by about EUR 175 thousand (+1.3 %). 

The following assets and liabilities were recognised relating to the acquisition:

EUR ‘000 Fair value of  
acquired assets

Book value  
before acquisition

Intangible assets
  Intangible rights 2 2
Property, plant and equipment 
  Machinery and equipment 93 93
Other assets
  Inventories 687 662
 T rade receivables 670 670
 O ther receivables 44 44
Accrued income 152 152
Marketable securities 316 302
Cash and cash equivalents 431 422
Total assets 2,395 2,346

Non-interest bearing liabilities
 T rade payables 52 52
 O ther liabilities 123 123
 A ccruals 292 292
  Deferred tax liabilities 13 0
Total liabilities 479 466

Net assets 1,916 1,880

Acquisition cost 1,524
Net assets 15 June 2007 (70.1 %) 1,343
Goodwill 181

Cash flow effect:
Consideration paid in cash 1,500
Acquired cash and cash equivalents -431
Cash flow 1,069
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Acquisitions finalised after the 

end of the financial year 2007

Junnikkala Oy

After the end of the accounting period in 

January 2008, the Group’s Sawmill Business 

area acquired a majority interest in Junnikkala 

Oy and the group it forms. Junnikkala Oy 

practises sawmilling business in Kalajoki, 

Ostrobothnia, and its subsidiary Juneropt Oy 

specialises in further processing of sawn wood 

targeted especially for prefabricated housing 

business. The annual production capacity of 

the Junnikkala sawmill is at present 130,000 

cubic meters of sawn wood. At the same time, 

Junnikkala Oy acquired all shares of Pyyn Saha 

ja Höyläämö Oy, which operates in Oulainen.

If this acquisition had taken place with a cor-

responding holding already on 1 January 2007, 

this would have changed the consolidated 

figures reported by Ruukki Group for the ac-

counting period 1 January - 31 December 

2007 as follows: consolidated revenue would 

have increased by about EUR 47,651 thousand  

(+22 %), consolidated EBIT* would have in-

creased by about EUR 2,338 thousand (+15 %), 

and consolidated net profit would have in-

creased by about EUR 928 thousand (+7 %) 

(all these figures compared with the accounting 

period 2007 figures reported by the Group). If 

Junnikkala group had been consolidated into 

Ruukki Group’s sawmill business area already 

on 1 January 2007, the business area’s revenue 

would have been about EUR 107 million (+80 % 

compared with the business segment’s account-

ing period 2007 revenue) and EBIT about EUR 

7.7 million (+44 % compared with the business 

segment’s accounting period 2007 EBIT). 

* when (i) taking into account the depreciations 

and deferred taxes related to purchase price al-

locations, and (ii) assuming 31 January 2008 

fair values to be valid for the earlier periods as 

well
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Preliminary purchase price allocation has been made on the acquisition. The following 

assets and liabilities were recognised relating to the acquisition which also gives informa-

tion about the contribution of this transaction to the group balance sheet at the date of 

the transaction:

EUR ‘000 Fair value of  
acquired assets

Book value  
before acquisition

Intangible assets
Clientele 3,869 0
Emission allowances 795 0
Order book 104 0
Other intangible assets 906 906

Property, plant and equipment
Land and water 7,235 7,235
Machinery and equipment 13,942 13,942
Investments 59 59
Other non-current assets 687 687

Current assets
Inventories 11,761 10,873
Trade receivables 4,953 4,953
Accruals 788 788

Cash and cash equivalents 415 415
Total assets 45,513 39,858

Interest-bearing debt
Non-current loans from financial institutions 12,962 12,962
Current loans from financial institutions 4,796 4,796

Non-interest bearing liabilities
Trade payables 6,244 6,244
Convertible notes 400 400
Accruals 1,754 1,745
Other liabilities 2,549 2,549
Deferred tax liability 1,470

Total liabilities 30,167 28,697

Net assets 15,346 11,161

Acquisition cost 24,811
Net assets 15,346
Goodwill 9,465

Net cash outflow on the acquisition:
Consideration paid in cash 5,740
Acquired cash and cash equivalents -415
Cash flow 5,326
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Financial year 2006

Ruukki Group has carried out the following 

business combinations in financial year 2006:

 Group Companies

Terveyspalvelut Mendis Oy, and its subsidi-•	

ary Mendis Palvelukodit Oy, have been con-

solidated from 1 Sep 2006 onwards into the 

Care Services segment;

Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö Oy, and its sub-•	

sidiary VK Timber Oy, have been consolidat-

ed from 1 Oct 2006 onwards into the Wood 

Processing segment;

Nivaelement Oy has been consolidated from •	

1 Dec 2006 onwards into the House Building 

segment;

Of the shares of House Building segment’s •	

parent company Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy  

9.9 % wee sold on 2 Jan 2006 to the com-

pany’s managing director whereby Ruukki 

Group’s ownership has fallen to 90.1 %;

The management of Metal Industry seg-•	

ment’s parent company has exercised call 

options and purchased new Alumni Oy 

shares in January 2006; therefore  Ruukki 

Group’s ownership in Alumni Oy has fallen 

from 100 % to approximately 69.4 %;

Ruukki Group Plc’s subsidiary Balansor Oy •	

(previously Magentasites Oy) has sold its 

business operations to a third party at the 

end of the second half of 2006;

Ruukki Group Plc has, based on an option •	

agreement signed in 2004, acquired 50 % 

of Hirviset Group Oy shares in May 2006 

increasing its ownership to 100 %. This 

included a cash consideration of EUR 3.0 

million. Based on that call option, Hirviset 

Group Oy has been consolidated into Ruukki 

Group from 30 Sep 2004;

Hirviset Group Oy has, as part of larger fur-•	

niture business restructuring, sold its sub-

sidiary Hirviset Oy to Incap Furniture Oy via 

a stock swap arrangement in May 2006;

Ruukki Group’s Finnish group company •	

Ruukki Invest Oy established at the end of 

2006 a new Russian subsidiary OOO Ruukki 

Kostroma which in turn later acquired an-

other Russian limited liability company called 

OOO Sever-Trust. These companies did 

have only immaterial business operations in 

2006.

Associates

Ruukki Group has finalised the following trans-

actions related to associates during 2006:

A 39.1 % share of Incap Furniture Oy’s •	

shares was acquired on 3 Feb 2006. In 

May 2006 ownership interest was raised to 

47.2 %. During 1 May - 30 Sep 2006 Incap 

Furniture was consolidated as a group com-

pany based on call options related potential 

voting rights. During 1 Feb - 30 Apr and  

1 Oct - 31 Dec Incap Furniture Oy has been 

treated as an associate. At the year end 

2006, Ruukki Group’s combined ownership 

was decreased to 47.1 %. In the beginning 

of financial year 2007 Ruukki Group pub-

lished that a transaction was agreed upon 

whereby Ruukki Group’s ownership in Incap 

Furniture will be increased to approximately 

70.3 %;

In March Ruukki Group acquired a 27.6 % •	

stake in Container-Depot Oy; these shares 

were sold in September, which realised a 

EUR 4.6 million gain on disposal;

Ruukki Group sold all of its Logium Oy shares •	

(34.0 %) in June 2006;

In October Ruukki Group increased its Oplax •	

Oy stake to 31.95 % (previously 24.53 %)
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Terveyspalvelut Mendis Oy

Ruukki Group’s Care Services segment acquired 

all shares of Terveyspalvelut Mendis Oy on 1 

Sep 2006. Terveyspalvelut Mendis Oy, includ-

ing its subsidiary, has a total of roughly 150 

customers in 11 locations in Osthrobotnia area 

and Central Finland providing services for e.g. 

mentally retarded and elderly people. This 

transaction considerably strengthened the Care 

Services segment. Terveyspalvelut Mendis Oy 

group’s revenue in 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2006 to-

talled approximately EUR 5,080 thousand and 

the corresponding net profit close to EUR 459 

thousand.  

Terveyspalvelut Mendis Oy acquisition included 

a cash consideration of EUR 2.0 million paid 

out in 2006. Moreover, transaction has earn-

out components based on the next three years 

profitability on the acquired operations. In the 

purchase price allocation clientele and trade 

mark were identified as assets and thereby 

activated on Ruukki Group balance sheet. In 

addition a considerable goodwill was recog-

nised. This goodwill is based on and related to 

expected synergy gains on the Care Services 

segments’ different units being integrated as 

operations quality and knowhow, on person-

nel training and backup arrangements, and on 

more efficient utilisation of geographically dis-

persed customer seats.

The following assets and liabilities were recognised and booked for the acquisition:

EUR ‘000 Fair value of  
acquired assets

Book value  
before acquisition

Intangible assets
Goodwill 0 200
Trade marks 213 0
Other intangible assets 1,070 0

Property, plant and equipment 174 174
Receivables 475 475
Other assets 3 3
Cash and cash equivalents 159 159
Total assets 2,092 1,010

Current liabilities
Trade payables 386 386
Other payables 339 6

Total liabilities 725 392

Net assets 1,366 617

Acquisition cost 3,732
Net assets 1,366
Goodwill 2,365

Net cash outflow on the acquisition:
Consideration paid in cash 2,032
Acquired cash and cash equivalents (23.3 %) -159
Cash flow 1,874
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Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö Oy

During the final quarter of 2006 Ruukki Group 

acquired 91.4 % majority stake in Tervolan Saha 

ja Höyläämö Oy (TSH), and its subsidiary VK 

Timber Oy (VKT). These two companies were 

included thereafter into the Sawmill Business 

segment that previously consisted mainly of  

Lappipaneli Oy. TSH old owners Kalervo and 

Hannu Vuokila have the remaining minority and 

they will continue in the management role. This 

acquisition strengthened in its part the active 

sawmilling business development carried out by 

Ruukki Group in Northern Finland.

TSH and VKT have been consolidated from the 

beginning of October 2006 in the group fig-

ures. Tervolan Saha  ja Höyläämö subgroup’s 

revenue for the period 1 Feb  – 31 Dec 2006 

totalled roughly EUR 10,780 thousand and the 

corresponding net profit EUR 1,218 thousand. 

VK Timber Oy’s separate 14 month revenue 

for the period 13 Oct 2005 – 31 Dec 2006 was 

EUR 2,759 thousand and net profit about EUR 

207 thousand. Cash consideration paid in 2006 

totalled EUR 6.1 million including third party 

advisors’ fees and applicable transaction taxes. 

Furthermore, there are additional earn-out 

purchase price components that will depend on 

future financial performance of TSH subgroup. 

These earn-out components are expected to 

total roughly EUR 1.8 million. Purchase price 

allocation lead to realisation of EUR 109 thou-

sand goodwill; the rest of the purchase price 

was allocated to clientele, property, plant and 

equipment and inventory. Goodwill is based on 

expected synergy gains on the co-operation 

and coordination in raw material purchases and 

sales processes within the Sawmill Business 

area.

The following assets and liabilities were recognised and booked for the acquisition:

EUR ‘000 Fair value of  
acquired assets

Book value  
before acquisition

Intangible assets
Goodwill 0 458
Clientele 1,595 0
Other intangible assets 146 146

Property, plant and equipment 4,893 2,691
Inventories 898 766
Receivables

Trade receivables 1,409 1,409
Other receivables 278 278
Other assets 1,516 1,516

Cash and cash equivalents 1,516 1,516
Total assets 12,249 8,778

Non-current liabilities 290 290
Current liabilities

Trade payables 747 747
Other payables 2,466 1,445

Total liabilities 3,503 2,482

Net assets 8,746 6,296

Acquisition cost 8,105
Net assets 7,995
Goodwill 109

Net cash outflow on the acquisition:
Consideration paid in cash 6,182
Acquired cash and cash equivalents 1,516
Cash flow 4,666
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Nivaelement Oy

House Building segment of Ruukki Group ac-

quired all shares of Nivaelement Oy, a com-

pany producing wooden house elements, in 

December 2006. Nivaelement Oy has oper-

ated from summer 2006 as a subcontractor for 

Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy and it has not had any 

other source of revenue; therefore the acquisi-

tion will not have any material effect on Ruukki 

Group revenue, net income or balance sheet. 

Nivaelement was acquired by EUR 8 thousand 

cash consideration. The resulted minor goodwill 

was booked as cost.

If Nivaelement Oy had been acquired in the 

beginning of financial year 2006, it would have 

had no effect on revenue, since revenue would 

have been intra-group, and only minor effect 

on net profit.

The following assets and liabilities were recognised and booked for the acquisition:

EUR ‘000 Fair value of  
acquired assets

Book value  
before acquisition

Property, plant and equipment 467 467
Inventories 474 474
Receivables

Trade receivables 99 99
Other receivables 156 156

Cash and cash equivalents 24 24
Total assets 1,220 1,220

Non-current liabilities 800 800
Current liabilities

Trade payables 403 403
Other payables 63 63

Total liabilities 1,267 1,267

Net assets -46 -46

Acquisition cost 8
Net assets -46
Goodwill 54

Net cash outflow on the acquisition:
Consideration paid in cash 8
Acquired cash and cash equivalents -24
Cash flow -16
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Incap Furniture Oy

In February 2006 Ruukki Group Plc took part 

in significant restructuring of Finnish furniture 

business, and acquired ca. 39.1 % of the 

shares of Incap Furniture Oy, which is the big-

gest Finnish furniture manufacturing services 

company. The transaction was finalised in May 

when Hirviset Group Oy sold its subsidiary 

Hirviset Oy to Incap Furniture Oy via a share 

swap agreement. In conjunction with this 

transaction, Ruukki Group Plc exercised an old  

2004 dated call option and bought 50.0 % of 

Hirviset Group Oy shares with EUR 3.0 million 

cash payment from Vettenmaa Oy. After this 

option exercise Ruukki Group Plc has owned all 

Hirviset Group Oy’s shares.

Based on all the abovementioned transactions, 

Ruukki Group Plc and Hirviset Group Oy had to-

tally ca. 47 % ownership in Incap Furniture Oy. 

During 1 May – 30 Sep 2006 Incap Furniture 

was consolidated as group company due to po-

tential voting right; before May it was treated 

as an associate. Ruukki Group sold its Incap 

Furniture Oy call option in October 2006, and 

therefore from 1 Oct 2006 onwards Incap 

Furniture has been again treated as an associ-

ate. 

The following assets and liabilities were recognised and booked on  

the acquisition carried out in stages:

Phase 1: Acquisition of 39.1 % share

EUR ‘000 Fair value of  
acquired assets

Book value  
before acquisition

Intangible assets
Other intangible assets 1,792 105

Property, plant and equipment 22,082 22,082
Inventories 5,157 4,889
Receivables

Trade receivables 3,906 3,906
Other receivables 532 532

Other assets 924 924
Cash and cash equivalents 266 266
Total assets 34,658 32,703

Interest-bearing debt
Finance leases 5,570 5,570
Current and non-current debt 13,281 13,281

Non-interest bearing debt
Trade payables 2,392 2,392
Other payables 2,455 2,455
Deferred tax liability 2,141 1,633

Total liabilities 25,839 225,330

Net assets 8,819 7,373

Acquisition cost 2,455
Net assets on 31 Jan 2006 (100 %) 8,819
Acquired net assets on 31 Jan 2006 (39.1 %) 3,448
Goodwill -993

Net cash outflow on the acquisition:
Consideration paid in cash 2,455
Acquired cash and cash equivalents (39.1 %) 104
Cash flow 2,351
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In February 2007 a further ownership restruc-

turing was finalised where after Ruukki Group 

owns approximately 70.3 % of Incap Furniture 

Ltd. 

If Incap Furniture Ltd had been acquired on 

1 Jan 2006 and been consolidated for the full 

year, consolidated revenue would have been 

roughly EUR 26,533 thousand higher and corre-

sponding net profit EUR 3,491 thousand lower.

Changes in earn-out payments

To significant extent the Group has in its acqui-

sitions used earn-out structures that are typi-

cally being based on future profitability of the 

acquired companies. These conditional future-

related earn-outs have been estimated using 

judgment and information available at the time 

of acquisitions, and re-estimated at the year-

end closing. Changes in these earn-out pay-

ments are shown in the table below detailing 

the change in the total corresponding earn-out 

liabilities at 31 Dec 2007 vis-à-vis the corre-

sponding earn-out liabilities at 31 Dec 2006:

Segment
Earn-out liabilities  

change, m€ / %

Sawmill Business + 0.5 / 5.0 %

Care Services - 0.06 / -1.1 %

Phase 2: Acquisition of 47.2 % share (increasing the ownership from  39.1 % to 47.2 %)

EUR ‘000 Fair value of  
acquired assets

Book value  
before acquisition

Intangible assets
Other intangible assets 2,131 98

Property, plant and equipment 21,100 21,100
Inventories 5,347 5,086
Receivables

Trade receivables 3,818 3,818
Other receivables 413 413

Other assets 1,174 1,174
Cash and cash equivalents 106 106
Total assets 34,089 31,795

Interest-bearing debt
Finance leases 5,351 5,351
Current and non-current debt 13,712 13,712

Non-interest bearing debt
Trade payables 2,878 2,878
Other payables 2,343 2,343
Deferred tax liability 2,152 1,555

Total liabilities 26,436 25,839

Net assets 7,653 5,955

Acquisition cost 5,005
Net assets on 31 Jan 2006 (100 %) 7,653
Acquired net assets on 31 Jan 2006 (47.2 %) 3,612
Goodwill 1,394

Net cash outflow on the acquisition:
Consideration paid in cash 2,455
Acquired cash and cash equivalents (47.2 %) 50
Cash flow 2,405
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General principles of impairment testing

Ruukki Group has carried out impairment 

testing on goodwill and other assets as of 31 

December 2007. Group assesses at each bal-

ance sheet date whether there is any indication 

that assets may be impaired. If any such indi-

cation exists, the recoverable amount of these 

assets is estimated. Moreover, the recoverable 

amount of any goodwill will be estimated annu-

ally irrespective of whether there is an indica-

tion of impairment. For reporting segments the 

impairment tests are carried out at the segment 

level. For associates and other assets related 

impairment tests are done by company or by 

asset.

Goodwill by segment and changes during 

2007

During financial year 2007, the total goodwill 

of Ruukki Group has increased by EUR 3,645 

thousand compared to the end of financial year 

2006 mainly due to acquisitions in Sawmilling 

and Furniture Business segments. There are 

earn-out liabilities in certain previously carried 

out transactions, and these earn-outs are con-

ditional upon the target company’s future years’ 

results. Therefore, the earn-out payments are 

revised when the actual target company results 

are finalised and also otherwise in case there is 

reason to believe the basis for original assump-

tions has been altered.

During financial year 2007, an impairment of 

EUR 198 thousand has been booked related to 

Other Businesses, Metal Industry subgroup. 

Goodwill as a ratio of group equity has been 

the following at 31 December 2007 and 31 

December 2006:

31 Dec 
2007

31 Dec 
2006

Goodwill 34,882 31,237
Equity 411,650 59,256
Goodwill/equity, % 8 % 53 %

The goodwill to equity ratio has diminished 

mainly due to financial year 2007 increases in 

Group equity.

Impairment on other assets during 2007

In the Furniture Business segment, a total of 

EUR 600 thousand impairments on fixed as-

sets and EUR 458 thousand impairments on 

inventory have been recognised in 2007 due to 

the fire that took place in the Lestijärvi factory 

during the summer 2007. Related to these im-

pairments, the Group received insurance com-

pensations, the total amount of which, taking 

into account the indirect losses, were clearly in 

excess of the impairment losses on these as-

sets.

In the Other Businesses, Metal Industry sub-

group a total impairment of EUR 369 thousand 

has been recognised on fixed assets and other 

assets based on the results of the impairment 

tests.

Goodwill of group companies was the following (in EUR ’000): 

 

Segment 31 Dec 2007 % 31 Dec 2006 % Change, EUR ‘000

House Building 19,518 56 % 19,337 62 % 181

Sawmill Business 6,554 19 % 4,786 15 % 1,768

Furniture Business 1,681 5 % 0 0 % 1,681

Care Services 5,669 16 % 5,726 18 % -57

Other Businesses 1,460 4 % 1,389 4 % 72

TOTAL 34,882 100 % 31,237 100 % 3,645

Impairment testing
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The methodology applied in impairment 

testing

For all cash generating units, which have been 

tested for impairment, the value in use has 

been calculated by discounting estimated fu-

ture net cash flows that have been based on 

the conditions and assumptions prevailing at 

the end of 2007. Future cash flows have been 

projected for a 5-year period after which a 

conservative zero percent growth assumption 

has been used. For the terminal year after the 

5-year estimation period the essential assump-

tions (revenue, variable costs and fixed costs) 

have been based at the estimation period’s last 

year figures excluding inflation adjustments.

The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) 

has been calculated separately for each seg-

ment and testable asset taking into account 

unit-specific risk factors, each businesses 

typical capital structures, investors’ average 

required rate of return for similar investments 

and company size related factors. These pre-

tax discount rates used in 31 December 2007 

impairment testing were the following: 

Segment	 Pre-tax discount 		

	 rate

House Building 	 13.6 %

Sawmill Business 	 13.8 %

Furniture Business	 15.6 %

Care Services	 13.9 %

In the Other Businesses, Metal Industry sub-

group, discount rate of 16.1 % was used.

The results of impairment testing have been 

evaluated by comparing the cash generating 

units’ recoverable amount to the corresponding 

carrying amount based on the following judg-

ment rules: 

Recoverable  
amount / 
carrying amount

Conclusion

< 0 % Impairment 

1-20 % Slightly above

21-50 % Clearly above

> 51 % Significantly above

Results of the impairment testing done at 31 December 2007

The results of the impairment testing were the following:

Segment
Goodwill 

(EUR ‘000)
Total carrying amount* 

(EUR ‘000) Conclusion
House Building 19,518 16,979 Significantly above

Sawmill Business 6,554 35,391 Slightly above

Furniture Business 1,681 27,244 Clearly above

Care Services 5,669   7,903 Significantly above

* Total carrying amount in the table above is equal to the sum of: goodwill + intangible and tangible 

assets + net working capital
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Sensitivity analysis of the impairment 

testing

Group has analysed the sensitivity of the im-

pairment testing results by estimating how the 

essential assumptions should change in order 

for the recoverable value to be equal to the cor-

responding carrying amount. The results of this 

sensitivity analysis are shown below:

Segment

Discount rate (WACC) 
change  

(% units, compared to the 
level used in testing)

Free cash flow change 
 (%, on average, 

compared to the used 
estimated values)

Segment’s 
average profit 

margin* change
 (% units)

House Building + 44.0 % - 71 % - 12.9 %

Sawmill Business + 1.8 % - 6 % - 0.6 %

Furniture Business + 8.7 % - 27 % - 1.7 %

Care Services + 19.9 % - 48 % - 3.5 %

* Profit margins used in the table above: 

  - EBIT margin for House Building and Care Services segments 

  - Operative sales margin for Sawmill Business and Furniture Business segments
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Related party 
transactions

* Minority shareholders of Tervolan Saha ja 

Höyläämö Oy have a call option to buy back 

a maximum of about 11.6 % of the Tervolan 

Saha ja Höyläämö shares from Ruukki Yhtiöt 

Oy during the last quarter of 2009. In case the 

minority shareholders will exercise the maxi-

mum amount of call options, Ruukki Group’s 

ownership will fall to 80.0 %.

Group structure  31 Dec 2007

Group company name and domicile Group ownership -% and 
share of votes

Ruukki Group Plc direct 
ownership-% and share of 

votes %

House Building
Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy, Oulunsalo 90.10 90.10
Nivaelement Oy, Nivala 90.10 0
RG Design-Talotekniikka Oy, Ii 63.16 0

Sawmill Business
Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy, Espoo 100 100
Ruukki Wood Oy, Espoo 100 0
Woodproc Finland Oy, Siikajoki 100 0
Ruukki Components Oy, Siikajoki 100 0
Ruukki Invest Oy, Espoo 100 0
OOO Ruukki Invest Oy Kostroma, Kostroma, 
Russia 100 0

OOO Ruukki Harvest, Kostroma, Russia 100 0
OOO Ruukki Lesopilnyj Zavod, Kostroma, 
Russia 100 0

Utawood Oy, Utajärvi 100 0
Lappipaneli Oy, Kuusamo 100 0
Airisniemen Energia Oy, Kuusamo 100 0
Laptimber Oy, Kuusamo 100 0
Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö Oy, Keminmaa 91.42 0
VK Timber Oy, Kittilä 91.42 0
Oplax Oy, Oulu 100 0

Furniture Business
Hirviset Group Oy, Espoo 100 100
Incap Furniture Oy, Oulu 71.01 11.27
Incap Furniture Trading Oy, Hollola 71.01 0
KOY Jokilaaksojen kiinteistöt, Kärsämäki 71.01 0
Incap Furniture Inc, USA 71.01 0
OOO Incap Furniture, Russia 71.01 0

Care Services
Mikeva Oy, Oulunsalo 100 100
Mikon Kuntoutuskodit Oy, Parkano 100 0
Terveyspalvelut Mendis Oy, Seinäjoki 100 0
Mendis Palvelukodit, Seinäjoki 100 0

*
*
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After the end of the accounting period in January 

2008, the Group has acquired a majority interest 

(about 51 %) in Junnikkala Oy. Junnikkala Oy 

and the group it forms have been consolidated 

into Ruukki Group’s Sawmill Business area as 

of 1 February 2008. In addition, Ruukki Group 

has a call option and Junnikkala Oy’s minority 

shareholders a put option to carry out transac-

tions after which Ruukki Group would have all 

shares of Junnikkala Oy. The realisation time of 

the options begins in spring 2010 and partly in 

spring 2011 and ends in spring 2013 for all op-

tions.  Junnikkala Oy has two subsidiaries: Pyyn 

Saha ja Höyläämö Oy (100 %) and Juneropt Oy 

(75 %). Junnikkala Oy has a right to redeem 

the shares of Juneropt Oy’s minority sharehold-

ers.

Ruukki Group Plc defines the related party con-

sisting of:

companies or entities having common con-•	

trol or considerable voting power in Ruukki 

Group

subsidiaries•	

associates•	

Ruukki Group Plc’s and the abovementioned •	

entities’ top management

In Ruukki Group’s operations, entrepreneurs 

have a significant role. These entrepreneurs 

might, as private individuals or through compa-

nies or entities directly or indirectly controlled 

by them, or with other parties have consider-

able control or voting power, have transactions 

classified as related party transactions with any 

companies belonging to Ruukki Group or its 

subsidiaries. As well their close family members 

might, as private individuals or through compa-

nies or entities directly or indirectly controlled 

by them, or with other parties have consider-

able control or voting power, have transactions 

classified as related party transactions with any 

companies belonging to Ruukki Group or its 

subsidiaries. These individuals or entities might 

have had existing agreements or business op-

erations with Ruukki Group companies prior 

to the date that Ruukki Group has obtained 

control in the entities controlled by these en-

trepreneurs.

IAS 24 standard defines top management as 

those company employees that have direct or 

indirect power, authority and responsibility to 

affect company operations planning, manage-

ment and control functions. This definition 

includes board members and company top 

management team. The information presented 

below will in this respect be above the minimum 

IAS 24 required level.

Related party transactions have been analysed 

in three stages: group level, segment level and 

group company level.

Group Structure 31 Dec 2007

Group company name and domicile Group ownership -% and 
share of votes

Ruukki Group Plc direct 
ownership-% and share of 

votes %

Other operations
Alumni Oy, Nastola 100 100
Pan-Oston Oy, Nastola 100 0
Selka-line Oy, Nastola 100 0
Balansor Oy, Espoo 99.99 99.99
Mobilecrm Oy, Espoo 99.99 0
Rekylator Oy, Helsinki 100 100
Hoivaala Oy, Somero 100 100
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In addition to the above mentioned salaries, 

Kivimaa has Ruukki Group Plc call options 

based on which a total of EUR 135 thousand 

has been booked as options expenses for fiscal 

year 2007 income statement (EUR 86 in 2006). 

Vikkula has, in addition to the above mentioned 

and based on his CEO contract, a synthetic op-

tion arrangement and 300,000 free shares re-

ceived as incentive on which a total of EUR 411 

thousand has been recorded according to IFRS 

2 standard as expenses in the 2007 income 

statement (2006: 0). Moreover, CEO Vikkula is 

entitled to additional pension insurance that, 

combined with statutory pension coverage, will 

ensure the CEO a monthly pension correspond-

ing to sixty percent of his monthly salary. 

However, on 31 December 2007, the company 

does not have a valid contract regarding this 

additional pension insurance. The CEO has the 

right to retire at the age of 60 years.

Based on their membership in the Ruukki Group 

Plc board, the board members received a total 

of EUR 51 thousand as board membership fees 

during 2007 (EUR 34 thousand in 2006). In ad-

dition, board members received fees on other 

basis a total of EUR 18 thousand (0).

Management remuneration, including the 

individuals detailed above as well as other 

Ruukki Group Plc management:

Management remuneration 

IAS 24.16 disclosure

(EUR ‘000) 2007 2006

Short-term  

remuneration
1,391 441

Pensions 139 57

Total 1,530 498

The information above includes IFRS 2 stand-

ard based options expenses and other similar 

share-based expenses a total of EUR 576 thou-

sand in 2007 (EUR 105 thousand in 2006).

Related party transactions with top management 

Finnish accounting legislation, KPA 2:8 § 4 mom disclosure

EUR ‘000
2007                2006

Salaries Fees Salaries Fees

Fredrik Danielsson, Board member 26 Apr 2006 - 20 Apr 2007 2 4
Mikko Haapanen, Board member 26 Apr 2006 onwards 6 4
Juha Halttunen, Board chairman till 6 Apr 2006 
Timo Honkala, Board member 26 Apr 2006 - 12 Jun 2007 3 4
Esa Hukkanen, Board member till 6 Apr 2006 19
Markku Kankaala, Board member 30 Jun 2003 onwards 6 48 4
Antti Kivimaa, CEO until 31 Aug 2007 ; executive VP 1 Sep 2007 onwards 162 133
Matti Lainema, Board member 26 Apr 2006 onwards; chairman 1 Sep 2007 onwards 8 4
Kai Mäkelä, Board member 10.2.2000 onwards, vice chairman 26 Apr 2006 onwards 9 6
Arno Pelkonen, Board member 20 Apr 2007 - 24 Jan 2008 3
Timo Poranen, Board member 20 Apr 2007 onwards 21
Matti Vikkula, Board member 7 Jun 2005 onwards, chairman 6 Apr 2006 - 31 Aug 2007 6 8
Matti Vikkula, CEO 1 Sep 2007 onwards 1,640
Ahti Vilppula, Board member 7 Jun 2005 onwards 5
Total 1,802 69 200 34
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For group companies’ managing directors and 

board members a total of EUR 807 thousand 

has been paid as salaries and board member-

ship fees in 2007  (EUR 418 thousand in 2006).  

In addition, as additional pension insurance 

payments a total of EUR 120 thousand has 

been paid to these persons (2006: EUR 20 

thousand).

The parent companies of the subgroups are 

the following:

Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy; House Building  

Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy; Sawmill Business 

Hirviset Group Oy; Furniture Business 

Mikeva Oy; Care Services 

Alumni Oy; Metal industry 

For many Ruukki Group acquisitions future 

earn-out structures, based on future profitability 

of target companies, have been typical. These 

earn-out liabilities have been settled either by 

cash or by Ruukki Group own shares. Within 

Certain Ruukki Group Plc’s group companies 

are and/or have been lessees in operating or 

financial lease contracts for premises at which 

they operate. In these agreements the lessor 

has been either an individual characterised as 

belonging to related party at the group level or 

group company level, or an entity controlled by 

him/her. Typically these rental agreements have 

been made prior to Ruukki Group acquiring the 

majority stake.

Moreover, Ruukki Group companies have a few 

rental agreements with individuals or entities 

that have in the past been counterparties in 

transactions with Ruukki Group. These kinds 

of transactions have been excluded from the 

following table if these individuals or entities 

controlled by them are not currently in any role 

within or with Ruukki Group.

Rents paid to related parties 

(EUR ‘000) 2007 2006

Segment manage-

ment and their related 

parties in total

138 103

Ruukki Group employ-

ees and their related 

parties in total

461 331

Total 599 434

Paid  / accrued earn-outs

The period on which the earn-out is based

EUR ‘000 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Juha Halttunen, board chairman up until 6.4.2006 176 273 287 233

Segment management and their related parties in total 226 2,281 3,522 7,079

Other Ruukki Group employees and their related parties 
in total 1,614 229 2,045 1,157 1,181 789

Total 402 4,168 4,039 9,357 1,157 1,181 789
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Other related party transactions 

in 2007

Earn-out payments

Ruukki Group Plc’s annual general meeting 

decided on 20 April 2007 to carry out a free 

directed share issue to the sellers of Pan-Oston 

Oy and Lappipaneli Oy in order to settle fiscal 

year 2006 related earn-outs for these com-

panies. Therefore totally 598,285 new shares 

were issued.

Acquisitions and disposals

Ruukki Group Plc has paid a EUR 260 thousand 

acquisition cost to a person belonging to metal 

industry sub group’s management when acquir-

ing metal industry’s parent company’s shares in 

autumn 2007.

Ruukki Group Plc has sold its associate’s Valtimo 

Components Oyj’s shares to an entity controlled 

by a person belonging to the associate’s man-

agement. The acquisition cost totalled EUR 61 

thousand of which EUR 6 thousand has been 

paid to Ruukki Group Plc during 2007.

From the sale of 9.9 % of the shares of a sub-

sidiary in House Building segment carried out 

in 2006, the managing director who bought the 

shares has paid according to the agreement 

an acquisition cost of EUR 354 thousand which 

was presented as a  receivable on the balance 

sheet on 31 December 2006.

During 2007, Furniture Business segment 

company Incap Furniture Oy’s subsidiary, con-

solidated to Ruukki Group’s Furniture Business 

segment in February 2007, has purchased Incap 

Furniture Oy shares from persons previously 

belonging to the company’s management by a 

total of EUR 69 thousand.

Property transactions

A subsidiary in Ruukki Group’s Sawmill Business 

segment carried out property transactions in 

2007 by which the subsidiary has purchased 

by EUR 500 thousand the land plots rented by 

a Sawmill Business unit and in the use of the 

sawmill from a real estate company controlled 

by the subsidiary’s management.

Dividend payout

Ruukki Group Plc has paid to the management 

and board members, and their close family 

members, and entities controlled by them in 

total EUR 1,642 thousand in dividends in 2007. 

Moreover about EUR 3 thousand was paid to 

segment level management and about EUR 31 

thousand to other persons being employed by 

and belonging to related party of Ruukki Group 

companies. Ruukki Group’s subsidiaries have 

paid dividends in total EUR 1,415 thousand to 

the minority stakeholders of the subsidiaries in 

question.

Financing arrangements

In the 2007 share issue, Ruukki Group’s man-

agement, their close family members, or enti-

ties controlled by them, acquired new Ruukki 

Group Plc shares in cash for a total of EUR 

101,699 thousand. Moreover, these previously 

mentioned parties converted their subordinated 

convertible loans into equity worth of totally 

EUR 703 thousand. The interest paid to related 

parties for this loan totalled EUR 3 thousand 

in 2007.

Loans to related parties

In September Ruukki Group Plc has granted 

Matti Vikkula a loan of approximately EUR 1,380 

thousand to finance the purchase of the com-

pany shares as a part of his incentive scheme. 

Ruukki Group Plc has approximately EUR 1,513 

thousand in loan and other receivables from 

persons belonging to the Group management 

or entities controlled by related parties.

Consultancy fees to entities controlled by 

related parties

Ruukki Group Plc has paid a total of EUR 94 

thousand in 2007 as consultancy fees to com-

panies controlled by related party individuals of 

the company.

Other related party transactions

A person belonging to Ruukki Group’s Sawmill 
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Business area’s management has made an 

agreement with Ruukki Group’s House Building 

business area regarding a delivery of a prefab-

ricated house of which this person has made 

prepayments a total of EUR 80 thousand in 

2007. A Sawmill Business segment’s company 

has purchased timber raw material from the 

related party of a person belonging to the man-

agement worth of about EUR 33 thousand in 

2007, and from persons that during previous 

accounting periods have been sellers in share 

transactions by which a company later consoli-

dated to Ruukki Group has bought a subsidiary 

worth of about EUR 180 thousand.

Ruukki Group’s Care Service business has made 

a rental agreement related to its premises 

which has been guaranteed by a rental deposit 

of EUR 45 thousand. A manager of a service 

unit in Care Services business segment has 

bought from the group company in question a 

car allowance with EUR 19 thousand. Related 

to this purchase, on 31 December 2007 a com-

pany belonging to Ruukki Group’s Care Services 

business segment has a receivable of EUR 3 

thousand.

Other related party transactions 

after the end of accounting period 

in 2008

Loans to related parties

After the end of the accounting period, Ruukki 

Group Plc has invested EUR 10,000 thousand 

of liquid funds in short-term in a way that the 

counterparty of this transaction is an entity 

controlled by a person belonging to the group 

management. Ruukki Group Plc has received 

collaterals for the loan.

Options related to acquisition

In January 2008, Ruukki Group’s Sawmill 

Business segment’s subsidiary Ruukki Yhtiöt 

Oy has acquired a 51 % majority interest in 

Junnikkala Oy. As a part of the arrangement, an 

agreement has been signed between the share-

holders according to which Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy has 

a call option and Junnikkala Oy’s minority share-

holders a put option regarding approximately  

49 % minority ownership. As collateral for 

these options, Junnikkala Oy’s minority share-

holders have pledged the shares in question. 

The exercise time of the options begins either 

in spring 2010 or in spring 2011 and ends in 

spring 2013.

Other related party transactions 

in 2006

Earn-out payments

Ruukki Group Plc’s Extraordinary General 

Meeting decided on 27 October 2006 to carry 

out a free directed share issue to the sellers 

of Pan-Oston Oy and Lappipaneli Oy in order 

to settle fiscal year 2005 related earn-outs for 

these companies. Therefore totally 564,857 

new shares were issued, and these new shares 

were registered on 10 November 2006.

Acquisitions and disposals

Ruukki Group Plc sold 9.9 % of the shares of its 

subsidiary Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy to Kimmo 

Kurkela, the managing director of Pohjolan 

Design-Talo Oy. The aim of the transaction is 

to incentivise managing director for the positive 

development of the company and its financial 

results. The total price per share of the trans-

action is roughly five percent higher than the 

price that Ruukki Group will pay, including 

all earn-outs, for the all, previously acquired 

Pohjolan Design-Talo shares. The final price is 

determined after fiscal year 2006 end. No sig-

nificant gain on disposal is realised through this 

sale. Ruukki Group had, at 31 December 2006, 

a receivable of EUR 354 thousand related to this 

sale. After this transaction, Ruukki Group owns 

90.1 % of Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy shares.

Ruukki Group Plc made an acquisition on 19 

October 2006 and bought roughly 7.42 % of 

associate Oplax Oy shares from Esa Hukkanen. 

The cash consideration related to this transac-

tion was EUR 670 thousand.

Ruukki Group Plc exercised in February 2006 a 

call option of an agreement signed in 2004 and 

thereby acquired 50.0 % of Hirviset Group Oy 

shares from Vettenmaa Oy, a company control-

led by Hirviset Group Oy ex managing director. 

The purchase price totalled EUR 3,000 thousand, 

and was paid in cash. After this transaction, 
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Ruukki Group Plc owns all Hirviset Group Oy’s 

shares.

Conversion of subsidiary’s convertible 

bond into shares

Ruukki Group Plc’s subsidiary Alumni Oy is-

sued a convertible bond in 2003. Two thirds of 

this loan was converted into shares in January 

2006. The aim of this loan structure has been 

to create incentives for segment management 

for long-term development of metal industry 

business. The managing director and segment 

management member Olli-Pekka Salovaara 

converted his holdings into shares whereby  

Alumni Oy equity increased by roughly EUR 

44 thousand. Due to this transaction Ruukki 

Group Plc’s ownership in Alumni Oy decreased 

from 100 % to ca. 69.44 % which has been 

reflected in segment goodwill being adjusted 

down by approximately EUR 577 thousand. This 

is shown in the group income statement in the 

other expenses, which in turn has fully reduced 

both EBIT and net profit for fiscal year 2006.

Consultancy fees to entities controlled by 

related parties

Ruukki Group Plc has paid a total of EUR 25 

thousand in 2006 as consultancy fees to com-

panies controlled by related party individuals of 

the company.

Dividend payout

Ruukki Group Plc has paid to the management 

and board members, and their close family 

members, and entities controlled by the previ-

ously mentioned individuals in total EUR 1,646 

thousand in dividends in 2006. Moreover about 

EUR 4 thousand was paid to segment level 

management and about EUR 22 thousand to 

other persons being employed by and belong-

ing to related party of Ruukki Group companies. 

A dividend payout has been proposed by the 

board and based on fiscal year 2006 balance 

sheet equity, but that will be decided by the 

company’s annual general meeting in April.

Financing arrangements

In the 2006 share issue, Ruukki Group’s man-

agement, their close family members, or enti-

ties controlled by them, acquired new Ruukki 

Group Plc shares in cash for a total of EUR 

3,497 thousand. Moreover, these previously 

mentioned parties converted their subordinated 

convertible loans into equity worth of totally 

EUR 2,575 thousand.
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Mortgages and guarantees pledged as 

security

On 31 December 2007, Group companies had 

given business mortgages as collateral for loans 

and other liabilities totalling approximately EUR 

13.3 million (EUR 5.7 million on 31 December 

2006). Of the parent company’s EUR 4.2 mil-

lion business mortgages, EUR 1.7 million had 

been pledged as security with external financial 

institutions on 31 December 2007 (2006: EUR 

1.7 million).  Real estate mortgages amounted 

to approximately EUR 11.1 million (EUR 2.2 mil-

lion on 31 December 2006). The Group’s parent 

company has given a total of EUR 5.0 million 

in direct-liability guarantees for the financing 

of Group companies (EUR 6.6 million on 31 

December 2006). Segments’ parent companies 

have given to secure their subsidiaries’ financing 

pledges to external parties totalling some EUR 

0.3 (0.4) million. Moreover, a group company 

has given cash deposit of EUR 1.0 million as a 

security with an external financial institution.

Machinery financing typically involves the ac-

quired machinery to be pledged as a guarantee 

with the debt repayment. The Group’s long 

term machinery financing liabilities totalled EUR 

2,281 thousand on 31 December 2007 (EUR 

2,692 thousand on 31 December 2006).  

For own behalf

31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006
Corporate mortgage 1,682 1,682
Pledged subsidiary shares 9,263 0
Other collaterals 1,423 0

Absolute guarantees for behalf of subsidiaries 

credit limit  
in use/loan 

31 Dec 2007

Maximun liability 
31 Dec 2007

Maximun liability 
31 Dec 2006

Guarantees for group companies’ financing:
Cheque account 0 0 50
Leasing limit 0 0 0

Total 0 0 50

Other guarantees for behalf of subsidiaries

31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006
Payment guarantees for subsidiaries 23,961 0
Pledges for subsidiaries’ liabilities 2,000 0

The amount of payment guarantees presented above represents the maximum liability. However, the Group’s 

management finds it unlikely that the liability would realise in full.  

credit limit  
in use/loan 

31 Dec 2007

Maximun liability 
31 Dec 2007

Maximun liability 
31 Dec 2006

Guarantees given to financial institutions for group companies’ financing:
Guarantees for bank guarantee limits 0 1,400 1,400
Guarantees for equipment financing 1,479 1,840 1,840

Guarantees given to financial institutions for group companies’ loans:
Bank loans 1,671 1,764 2,452
Total 3,150 5,004 6,592

Pledges and Contingent Liabilities

Pledges and guarantees given by Ruukki Group Plc



83

Covenants included in the Group’s financ-

ing agreements

Some of the Group’s debt financing agreements 

feature covenants tied to the Group’s or individ-

ual Group companies’ solvency or profitability 

figures, or covenants that restrict the payment 

of Group company liabilities to the parent com-

pany or that require the parent company not to 

divest significant parts of the business opera-

tions without consulting the financier first. 

Investment commitments

Based on the delivery agreements the direct ir-

revocable liabilities related to the equipment of 

the planned Kostroma sawmill amount to about 

EUR 30 million at the end of financial year 2007. 

The liabilities of these investment made and to 

be made are expected to change during 2008 

in line with the final timetable to be achieved in 

the sawmill, harvesting and pulp mill projects 

and their progress.

Earn-out liabilities related to acquisitions

The earn-out liabilities related to Group acqui-

sitions have been recognised in the consoli-

dated financial statements as either short-term 

or long-term liabilities, depending on when 

the earn-out liabilities are due for payment. 

Furthermore, potential earn-out items based 

on option rights have been recognised in the 

balance sheet under liabilities. Short-term earn-

out liabilities on 31 December 2007 totalled 

EUR 1.2 million (on 31 December 2006, EUR 

9.0 million) and long-term liabilities EUR 1.3 

million (EUR 2.4 million).

Rental agreements

Liabilities associated with rental and operating 

lease agreements totalled roughly EUR 14 mil-

lion at 31 Dec 2007. In the future no material 

changes are expected to materialise with these 

liabilities. Care Services segment’s premises 

units’ rental liabilities account for majority of 

the total rental liabilities. Most of other group 

companies have also rented their produc-

tion facilities and offices. Typically the rental 

agreements maturity varies between three to 

eight years, and normally there is possibility 

to continue these agreements after the end of 

original maturity date. For these contacts their 

price indexing, renewing and other terms differ 

contract by contract. 

As guarantee for these rental agreements group 

companies have at year end made cash depos-

its for approximately EUR 0.2 million.

Other liabilities and commitments

A real estate company belonging to the Group 

has approximately EUR 17 thousand VAT return 

liability.

Certain group companies have entered into 

agreements that oblige them to make raw ma-

terial purchases in the future with fixed terms 

and that are typical in their line of business. 

A supplier has received a guarantee totalling 

EUR 0.1 (0.1) million for obligations of a group 

company. 

Received guarantees and pledges

The Group has received a total of EUR 0.7 mil-

lion payment guarantees for down payments 

made for purchase contracts related to the ma-

chinery and equipment for the planned sawmill 

in Kostroma, Russia.

At the end of the financial year, Ruukki Group Plc 

has a receivable from a sale of shares in an as-

sociate. All the shares sold are pledged for the 

benefit of Ruukki Group Plc up until the receiv-

able has been fully paid.
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Other notes to 
the consolidated 
financial statements

G1. Other operating income 
 

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 149 107
Gain on disposal of investments 6 5,151
Government grants 97 196
Insurance compensations 5,778 132
Other 844 125
Total 6,874 5,712

G2. Employee benefits 
 

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Salaries and wages 25,183 14,524
Share-based payments 576 105
Pensions, defined contribution plans 4,482 2,583
Other employee related costs 1,796 1,156
Total 32,037 18,369

Average personnel during the accounting period by segment

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

House Building 120 88
Sawmill Business 106 54
Furniture Business 283 193
Care Services 305 180
Others 54 55
Total 866 570

Personnel at the end of the accounting period by segment

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

House Building 118 101

Sawmill Business 112 72
Furniture Business 331 0
Care Services 344 229
Others 53 50
Total 958 452
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Of the 2007 impairment losses alto-

gether EUR 600 thousand are related 

to the Furniture Business segment’s 

buildings and machinery that were 

destroyed by fire. Moreover, EUR 433 

thousand impairment losses for tangible 

and intangible assets were recognised 

based on impairment testing. In 2006 

impairment losses were recognised on 

following items: associate’s convertible 

bonds EUR 3 thousand, other convert-

ible bonds EUR 80 thousand, invest-

ments in associates EUR 244 thousand, 

other investments EUR 5 thousand and 

EUR 23 thousand on goodwill related to 

the subsidiary Balansor Oy.  

G3. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
 

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Depreciation by asset category
Intangible assets

Trade marks (IFRS3) 183 169
Clientele (IFRS3) 1,722 532
Other intangible assets 328 228

Total 2,233 930

Property, plant and equipment
Buildings and constructions 1,296 227
Machinery and equipment 4,322 3,112
Other tangible assets 171 134

Total 5,789 3,473

Impairment by asset category
Buildings and constructions 274 0
Machinery and equipment 510 0
Goodwill 198 0
Trade marks (IFRS3) 35 0
Other intangible assets 17 0
Other assets 0 354

Total 1,034 354

 
G4. Other operating expense

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment -1 -4
Loss on disposal of investments 0 -576
Research and development expenditure -14 -8
Rental costs -3,592 -1,938
External services -4,136 -2,132
Other -16,499 -11,407
Total -24,242 -16,066
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G5. Finance income and expense

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Finance income
Income on assets available for sale 2,715 1
Interests from held-to-maturity investments 2,438 297
Interests from loans and trade receivables 1,717 93
Foreign exchange gains 3 0
Other finance income 19 435

Total 6,891 826

Finance expense

Interests on loans -2,566 -1,523
Impairment losses -135 0
Foreign exchange losses -202 0
Other finance expense -244 -194

Total -3,148 -1,717

Changes in fair value -259 0

Net finance income/expense 3,484 -891

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Profit before taxes 19,158 12,156

Income tax calculated at income tax rate -4,981 -3,161
Tax exempt income 159 65
Income tax for previous years -29 366
Income from associates -162 -252
Impairment -147 -242

Tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets -327 -1,123
Non-tax deductible expenses -504 -20

Previously unrecognised tax losses now recognised 740 58
Change of deferred tax assets and liabilities and other 
adjustments *

-225 131

Total adjustments -497 -1,017
Income tax recognised -5,478 -4,177

* other adjustments relate mainly to acquisitions and the items generated thereby as well as to the pos-
sibility of utilising group contributions only after the financial year following the year of acquisition

G6. Income taxes

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Income tax for the 
period -6,505 -4,589

Income tax for previ-
ous years -29 353

Deferred taxes 1,057 58
Total -5,478 -4,177
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G7. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by divid-

ing profit attributable to shareholders of the 

parent company by weighted average number 

of shares during the financial year. 

When calculating diluted earnings per share, 

all convertible securities are assumed to be 

converted in preferred shares. The group has 

had two types of securities with potential dilu-

tion effect: share options and convertible bond 

notes. All the convertible bond notes have been 

converted into shares during the financial year 

2007. Share options have a dilution effect if 

the exercise price is lower than share price. 

The diluted number of shares is the number 

of shares, which will be issued free of charge 

when share options are exercised, because with 

the funds received from exercising options, the 

company is not able to issue the same number 

of shares at fair value. The fair value of shares 

is based on average share price of the period. 

Convertible bonds have been converted into 

shares and the profit has been adjusted for 

interest savings after tax.

2007 2006

Profit attributable to equity holders of parent company 
(EUR ‘000) 12,651 8,442

Weighted average number of shares, basic (1 000) 217,889 118,052

Basic earnings per share (EUR) total 0.06 0.07

2007 2006

Profit attributable to equity holders of parent company 
(EUR ‘000) 12,651 8,442

Interests for convertible bonds, adjusted with taxes 
(EUR ‘000) 25 294

Earnings used in calculation of diluted earnings per 
share (EUR ‘000) 12,676 8,736

Weighted average number of shares, basic (1 000) 217,889 118,052
Shares deemed to be issued in respect of convertible 
bonds (1 000) 3,542 17,944

Weighted average number of shares, diluted (1 000) 221,432 135,996
Diluted earnings per share (EUR) total 0.06 0.06
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G8. Property, plant and equipment

EUR ‘000
Land and 

water 
property

Buildings and 
constructions

Machinery 
and equip-

ment

Other tangi-
ble assets Total

Balance at 1 Jan 2007 130 5,226 17,088 969 23,412
Additions 497 214 4,107 306 5,124
Acquisitions through business 
combinations 42 13,203 8,298 188 21,731

Disposals 0 -9 -839 -68 -916
Balance at 31 Dec 2007 669 18,635 28,653 1,394 49,351

Accumulated depreciation and impair-
ment 1 Jan 2007 0 -531 -6,752 -275 -7,557

Depreciation 0 -1,296 -4,322 -171 -5,789
Impairment 0 -274 -510 0 -784

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 31 Dec 2007 0 -2,100 -11,584 -446 -14,130

Carrying amount 1 Jan 2007 130 4,695 10,336 694 15,854
Carrying amount 31 Dec 2007 669 16,534 17,069 948 35,221

Balance at 1 Jan 2006 47 3,771 11,692 546 16,056
Additions 0 0 2,762 368 3,129
Acquisitions through business 
combinations 123 2,220 24,234 55 26,632

Disposals -41 -765 -21,600 0 -22,406
Balance at 31 Dec 2006 130 5,226 17,088 969 23,412

Accumulated depreciation and impair-
ment 1 Jan 2006 0 -304 -3,640 -140 -4,084

Depreciation 0 -227 -3,112 -134 -3,473
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 31 Dec 2006 0 -531 -6,752 -275 -7,557

Carrying amount 1 Jan 2006 47 3,466 8,052 406 11,972
Carrying amount 31 Dec 2006 130 4,695 10,336 694 15,854

In the property, plant and equipment there are 

assets purchased through finance leases as 

follows:

Equipment under finance lease

EUR ‘000
Machinery  

and  
equipment

Buildings Total

31 Dec 2007
Balance 119 2,869 2,998
Accumulated 
depreciation -56 -327 -383

Carrying 
amount 63 2,542 2,605

31 Dec 2006
Balance 1,275 0 1,275
Accumulated 
depreciation -1,115 0 -1,115

Carrying 
amount

160 0 160
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G9. Intangible assets

EUR ‘000 Goodwill
Intangible 

assets identified 
acc. to IFRS3

Other  
intangible  

assets
Total

Balance at 1 Jan 2007 32,072 5,051 724 37,938
Additions 0 0 589 589
Disposals -1,460 0 -191 -1,652
Acquisitions through business 
combinations 3,843 2,872 821 7,536

Balance at 31 Dec 2007 34,454 7,922 1,943 44,411

Accumulated amortisation and impair-
ment 1 Jan 2007 -834 -1,418 -356 -2,608

Amortisation 0 -1,904 -328 -2,232
Impairment -198 -35 -17 -250

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 31 Dec 2007 -1,033 -3,357 -701 -5,091

Carrying amount 1 Jan 2007 31,237 3,633 368 35,238
Carrying amount 31 Dec 2007 33,422 4,565 1,242 39,278

Balance at 1 Jan 2006 31,738 1,891 392 34,020
Additions 1,791 0 187 1,978
Disposals -3,931 -3,438 0 -7,369
Acquisitions through business 
combinations 2,474 6,598 146 9,218

Balance at 31 Dec 2006 32,072 5,051 724 37,847

Accumulated amortisation and impair-
ment 1 Jan 2006 -812 -717 -127 -1,656

Amortisation 0 -701 -229 -930
Impairment -23 0 0 -23

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 31 Dec 2006 -834 -1,418 -356 -2,608

Carrying amount 1 Jan 2006 30,927 1,173 265 32,364
Carrying amount 31 Dec 2006 31,237 3,633 368 35,238

G10. Investments in associates

Movements in 2007, EUR ‘000 

1 Jan 2007 5,568
Disposals

Incap Furniture Oy -133
Oplax Oy -1,656
ID Express Oy -3
Valtimo Components Oyj -19

Share of profit -623
Impairment 0
31 Dec 2007 1,702

Movements in 2006, EUR ‘000

1 Jan 2006 3,848
Additions

Container Depot Oy 3,500
Incap Furniture Oy 2,567
Oplax Oy 681

Disposals
Logium Oy -201
Container Depot Oy -3,559

Share of profit -968
Dividends -84
Impairment -216
31 Dec 2006 5,568

During the financial year 2007 Ruukki Group 

increased its ownership in Incap Furniture Oy 

and Oplax Oy so that these companies became 

subsidiaries. Ruukki Group Plc’s share in Valtimo 

Components Oyj fell from 39.2 % to 24.9 % 

via share issue and sale of shares. Moreover, 

during the financial year Ruukki Group fully 

disposed of its ownership in ID Express Oy and 

Neopolar Oy.
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EUR ‘000 Domicile Balance sheet 
date Assets Liabilities Revenue Profit/ 

loss
Ownership 

(%)

2007

Arc Technology Oy Helsinki 30 Nov 2007 710 389 1,523 206 37.4
Cybersoft Oy Ab Tampere 31 Oct 2007 541 191 977 29 37.5
ILP-Group Ltd Oy * Helsinki 30 Sep 2007 6,571 4,519 13,198 549 33.4
Lanux Oy Helsinki    inactive 47.0
Loopm Oy Helsinki    inactive 28.4
Orienteq Capital Oy Helsinki 31 Dec 2007 42 34 330 31 30.0
Rivest Oy Helsinki 30 Sep 2007 6 10 11 -5 40.0
SG Systems Oy Helsinki    inactive 35.0
Sportslink Group Oy Helsinki    inactive 25.0
Stellatum Oy Helsinki 31 Dec 2007 286 224 1,410 65 34.0
Valtimo Components 
Oyj Valtimo 30 Sep 2007 2,153 2,723 1,707 -274 24.9

Widian Oy Espoo 30 Nov 2007 467 1,043 633 -349 39.6
10,776 9,134 19,789 252

2006

Arc Technology Oy Helsinki 31 Dec 2006 672 557 1,053 21 37.4
Cybersoft Oy Ab Tampere 31 Oct 2006 563 131 1,022 254 37.5
ID Express Oy Helsinki 30 Nov 2006 22 5 17 7 40.0
ILP-Group Ltd Oy * Helsinki 31 Dec 2006 4,926 3,349 11,081 525 33.4
Incap Furniture Oy Oulu 31 Dec 2006 32,090 31,221 47,474 -5,864 47.1
Lanux Oy Helsinki    inactive 47.0
Loopm Oy Helsinki 30 Sep 2006 52 255 58 24 28.4
Neopolar Oy Utajärvi 31 May 2006 793 773 406 -151 33.9
Oplax Oy Oulu 31 Dec 2006 6,976 783 7,989 856 32.0
Orienteq Capital Oy Helsinki 30 Nov 2006 160 149 487 3 30.0
Rivest Oy Helsinki 31 Dec 2006 6 10 11 -5 40.0
SG Systems Oy Helsinki    inactive 35.0
Sportslink Group Oy Helsinki    inactive 25.0
Stellatum Oy Helsinki 30 Sep 2006 498 440 1,036 89 34.0
Valtimo Components 
Oyj Valtimo 31 Dec 2006 2,369 2,247 3,451 52 39.2

Widian Oy Espoo 31 Dec 2006 773 1,000 758 8 39.6
49,900 40,919 74,841 -4,181

* ILP-Group Ltd Oy group’s figures at 30 Sep 2007; consolidated financial statements at 31 Dec 2007 not available   
when these statements have been prepared

The balance sheet date of certain as-

sociates differs from Group’s balance 

sheet date, since all of the associated 

companies’ financial statements were 

not available when Group’s financial 

statements have been prepared. 

Certain associates are also inactive.

All subordinated loans are included into 

associated companies’ liabilities.
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G11. Financial assets

31 Dec 2007

EUR ‘000
Assets 

available-for-
sale

Assets held-
to-maturity

Loans 
and other 

receivables

Assets at fair 
value through 
profit and loss

Total

Non-current financial 
assets

Non-current interest  
bearing receivables 304 1,682 1,986

Derivatives 161 161
Other financial assets 13 13

Current financial assets
Current interest bearing 
receivables 131,361 102 131,462

Trade and other receivables 29,704 29,704
Shares in mutual funds 176,112 176,112

Total financial assets 176,124 131,664 31,489 161 339,438

31 Dec 2006

EUR ‘000
Assets 

available-for-
sale

Assets held-
to-maturity

Loans 
and other 

receivables

Assets at fair 
value through 
profit and loss

Total

Non-current financial 
assets

Non-current interest  
bearing receivables 495 495

Derivatives 0
Other financial assets 5 27 32

Current financial assets
Current interest bearing 
receivables 7,242 7,242

Trade and other receivables 9,833 9,833
Shares in mutual funds 0

Total financial assets 5 0 17,598 0 17,603

Non-current receivables

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 
2007

31 Dec 
2006

Trade receivables 0 27
Loan receivables 1,589 168
Deferred tax assets 1,136 0
Other receivables 7 0
Total 2,732 195

Balance sheet values of receivables closely cor-

responds to the monetary value of maximum 

credit risk excluding the fair value of received 

guarantees in the potential case where the 

counterparties cannot fulfil their commitments. 

There is no significant credit risk concentration 

related to receivables.
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G12. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Movements in deferred taxes in 2007

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2006 Recognised in P&L or deferred taxes  
from fair value adjustments Recognised in equity 31 Dec 2007

Deferred tax assets:
Unrealised expenses 379 379
Non-tax deductible depreciation 130 130
From translation difference 379 379
Group eliminations 107 73 180
Other items 30 37 67

Total 0 646 490 1,136

Deferred tax liabilities:
Assets at fair value in acquisitions 1,487 -856 1,337 1,968
Accumulated difference between actual and tax 
deductible depreciation 531 -4 915 1,442

Financial assets and investments at fair value 142 142
Other items 38 304 342

Total 2,056 -415 2,253 3,894

Movements in deferred taxes in 2006

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2005 Recognised in P&L or deferred taxes 
from fair value adjustments Recognised in equity 31 Dec 2006

Deferred tax assets:
Provisions 22 -22
Impairment 69 -69
Other items 31 -31

Total 122 -91 -31 0

Deferred tax liabilities:
Assets at fair value in acquisitions 316 1,171 1,487
Accumulated difference between actual and tax 
deductible depreciation 312 219 531

Financial assets and investments at fair value 2 -2
Other items 2 36 38

Total 632 1,424 2,056
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G13. Inventories 
 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Goods and supplies 6,437 2,683
Unfinished products 10,964 11,106
Finished products 9,707 2,387
Prepayments 2,527 882
Total 29,635 17,057

 
G14. Trade receivables and other current receivables

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Trade receivables 18,917 7,425
Loan receivables 147 2
Interest-bearing receivables 131,462 7,271
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 4,295 1,537
Other receivables 6,345 841
Total 161,166 17,075

The aging of trade receivables at the balance sheet date 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Not past due 13,061 5,220
Past due 0-30 days 4,644 1,335
Past due 31-60 days 915 456
Past due 61-90 days 80 42
Past due more than 90 days 63 373
Impairment 154 0
Trade receivables total 18,917 7,425

During the financial year 2007 about 

EUR 1.1 million impairments on inven-

tory were recognised. Furthermore, 

approximately EUR 0.5 million impair-

ment has been booked on the inven-

tory destroyed by fire. 

 

 

Prepaid expensed and accruals mainly 

relate to rental contracts and accrued 

interest for loans. Balance sheet values 

of receivables closely corresponds to 

the monetary value of maximum credit 

risk excluding the fair value of received 

guarantees in the potential case where 

the counterparties cannot fulfil their 

commitments. There is no significant 

credit risk concentration related to re-

ceivables.
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G15. Cash and cash equivalents 

 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Cash and bank balances 48,279 24,768
Pledged deposits: 1,720 478

 

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement: 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Cash, bank balances and deposit certificates 48,279 24,768
Short-term money market investments 248 0
Total 48,527 24,768

G16. Derivate agreements  

 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Forward contracts, contract values
Foreign exchange forward contracts 853 -2,740
Interest rate swaps 5,241 0
Other derivatives 3,195 0

Forward contracts, fair value
Foreign exchange forward contracts -2 82
Interest rate swaps 161 0
Other derivatives -833 0

The maturity of foreign exchange rate and other derivatives is less than 6 months. Interest rate swaps 

relate to long-term loan agreements, and swaps’ maturity is in excess of 12 months.

G17. Assets and liabilities classified as 

held for sale

The ownership of shares of Pan-Oston Oy, 

which was a group company on balance sheet 

date, has been transferred to an external party 

on 2 January 2008 when an agreement made 

on 17 December 2007 was put into force. On 

the balance sheet, the assets and liabilities of 

Pan-Oston Oy are carried at book value and 

presented separately classified as assets and 

liabilities held for sale. The sales price of the 

shares totalled EUR 3.0 million. The gain on 

disposal, approximately EUR 0.7 million, will 

be recognised in 2008 and therefore it had no 

effect on the profit for financial year 2007. Pan-

Oston Oy has not been classified to any busi-

ness segment and it is presented in the “Other 

businesses”. 
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EUR ‘000 31 Dec 
2007

Non-current assets classified as held 
for sale
Goodwill 1 460
Other intangible assets 21
Property, plant and equipment 73
Non-current assets classified as 
held for sale 1 554

Current assets classified as held for 
sale
Inventories 459
Trade and other receivables 692
Cash and cash equivalents 188
Current assets classified as held 
for sale 1 339

Assets classified as held for sale 2 893

Liabilities associated with assets 
held for sale
Leasing liabilities 6
Trade payables 232
Other current liabilities 347
Liabilities associated with  
assets held for sale 585

G18. Share capital

Based on the option scheme I/2005 altogether 

a maximum of 2,700,000 option rights can, in 

steps, be exercised with predetermined step-

wise increasing exercise prices. Moreover, the 

Board of the Company has on 12 December 

2007 decided to establish a share-based incen-

tive scheme in which there are 7,350,000 option 

rights at the most. At the balance sheet date  

31 December 2007 the Company did not have 

any convertible notes outstanding.

Own shares

During the 2007 financial year, the company 

or any of its subsidiaries did not hold any of 

its own shares. The subsidiary of the Furniture 

Business segment acquired about 0.9 % of the 

shares of the Incap Furniture Oy, the Ruukki 

Group’s Furniture Business subsidiary.

Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve

In an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting held 

on 27 October 2006, a decision was made in 

line with the Board’s proposal to deviate from 

the shareholders’ pre-emptive rights and to 

EUR ‘000 Increase Number of shares Share capital 
after registration

31 Dec 2005 86,300,380
Bonus issue (11 Jan) 87 86,300,880 14,671
Directed issue (13 Jan) 1,190 93,300,880 15,861
Directed issue (6 April) 5,100 123,300,880 20,961
Conversion of convertible bonds (21 July) 611 126,893,880 21,572
Conversion of convertible bonds (23 Aug) 116 127,576,880 21,688
Conversion of convertible bonds (6 Oct) 102 128,176,880 21,790
Directed free issue (10 Nov) 128,741,737 21,790
Conversion of convertible bonds (12 Dec) 259 130,266,737 22,049
Conversion of convertible bonds (27 Dec) 968 135,963,737 23,018
31 Dec 2006 135,963,737
Conversions of convertible bonds (13 Feb) 621 139,615,737 23,639
Directed free issue (3 May) 0 140,214,022 23,639
Conversions of convertible bonds (29 Jun) 3 140,234,022 23,642
Share issue (29 Jun) 0 270,234,022 23,642
Directed free issue (6 Jul) 0 270,534,022 23,642
Share issue (18 Jul) 0 290,034,022 23,642
31 Dec 2007 290,034,022



96

Ruukki Group     Annual Report 2007 | Consolidated financial statements

issue 564,857 new shares free of charge in a 

directed issue to the sellers of Pan-Oston Oy 

and Lappipaneli Oy as a supplement to the 

purchase price in consideration of the com-

panies’ good financial performance in 2005. 

The shares issued, EUR 423.6 thousand, were 

booked into paid-up unrestricted equity re-

serve.  Accordingly, based on 20 April 2007 

Annual General Meeting’s decision, 598,285 

shares were issued to the same parties, and 

the paid-up unrestricted equity reserve thereby 

increased by EUR 1,035 thousand.  Finally, the 

funds gained by the share issue in June 2007 

and by the related additional over-allotment 

share issue in July were fully booked in the 

paid-up unrestricted equity reserve of which 

the expenses of these issues were netted out. 

The net change by these two issues when tak-

ing into account the expenses and the related 

deferred taxes was EUR 339,232 thousand.

Dividends 

During 2007 a dividend of EUR 0.03 per share 

was distributed. In 2006, EUR 0.02 dividend per 

share was paid based on the decision of Annual 

General Meeting, and additionally, EUR 0.01 

dividend per share was paid based on the deci-

sion by the extraordinary shareholders’ meet-

ing. After the balance sheet date the Board 

of Directors has proposed the Annual General 

Meeting to be convened later four cents (EUR 

0.04) per share dividend.

G19. Share-based payments

The company’s I/2005 option scheme entitles 

option holders to subscribe for a maximum of 

2,700,000 shares in the company. The share 

subscription period is 1 July 2007 through 30 

June 2015 for various options denoted with dif-

ferent letters, and the subscription price range 

is EUR 0.50 – 1.00.  As a result of subscrip-

tions made with the I/2005 options, Ruukki 

Group Plc’s share capital may be increased by a 

maximum of EUR 459,000.00 and the number 

of shares by a maximum of 2,700,000 new 

shares.

In order to increase the level of commitment 

and motivation of key persons, option rights 

are, deviating from shareholders’ pre-emptive 

rights, granted to Ruukki Group Plc’s CEO and 

management and other key employees, and 

furthermore as decided by the Board to the 

board members, management or employees of 

group subsidiaries, and potentially for persons 

having other contractual relationships with the 

Group. At the end of 2007, altogether 675,000 

option rights were granted to Company’s man-

agement.

Of options on A, B and C series of the option 

scheme I/2005, 225,000 option rights of each 

have been issued to Ruukki Group’s manage-

ment totalling 675,000 options altogether. All 

options that have been granted after 7 Nov 

2002 and that have not been vested prior to 

1 Jan 2005 have been treated according to 

the principles set forth in IFRS2 Share-based 

Payments standard.  Share options will be ex-

pired if not redeemed as agreed in the terms 

of options. Options are forfeited if the option 

holder leaves the company prior to the effective 

date of the options. During the financial period 

one option arrangement was carried out with 

company management; the terms of this op-

tion arrangement are detailed in the following 

table.

During 2007 the CEO of Ruukki Group Plc has 

been granted a synthetic option scheme which 

has four parts and which will be settled in cash. 

The CEO will receive a monetary compensation 

according to the terms of the scheme based on 

the difference between the actual share price 

on each check date and the reference share 

price, provided that the market price of the 

share is at the level specified in the scheme.

In addition, the Board of Ruukki Group Plc has 

decided to establish a share-based incentive 

scheme on 12 December 2007 based on the 

authorisation by the Annual General Meeting 

of 20 April 2007. At the balance sheet date 31 

December 2007 the Board has not made any 

decisions to grant any option rights or share 

subscription rights based on this 12 December 

2007 scheme. In the option programme related 

to this scheme there are altogether 7,350,000 

option rights.
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Share option plan
Share based options, 

granted to employees in 
2007

Share based options, 
granted to employees in 

2006

Share based options, 
granted to employees in 

2005

Synthetic options 
granted to CEO 2007

Nature of the plan Share options issued Share options issued Share options issued
Cash settled share-

based incentive scheme 
(four stages)

Grant date 17 Oct 2007 14 Aug 2006 14 Dec 2005 30 Sep 2007

Number of options 225,000 225,000 225,000 1,000,000 shares 
(250,000 each)

Options series C (I/2005) B (I/2005) A (I/2005) N/A

Exercise period 1 Jul 2009 - 30 Jun 2012 1 Jul 2008 - 30 Jun 2011 1 Jul 2007 - 30 Jun 2010
Annually on Sep 30 in 

2008, 2009, 2010  
and 2011

Dividend adjustment Yes Yes Yes No
Exercise price 0.64 0.54 0.44 Comparison price 2.30
Share price at grant date (EUR) 2.86 0.69 0.63 2.87
Option life (years) 3 3 2 1, 2 , 3 and 4 years

Conditions Employment until the 
vesting date

Employment until the 
vesting date

Employment until the 
vesting date Employment

Execution In shares In shares In shares In cash
Expected volatility 44 % 89 % 130 % 46 %
Expected option life at grant date (years) 4.7 years 4.9 years 4.5 years 1, 2 , 3 and 4 years
Risk free rate, Euribor 12 months 4.10 % 3.65 % 2.79 % 4.73 %
Expected dividend yield 1.40 % 2.20 % 0.00 % 1.40 %
Expected personnel reductions 0 0 0 0
Fair value at grant date (EUR) 2.22 0.53 0.54 -

Fair value at balance sheet date - - - EUR 3.07; 3.28; 3.45 
and 3.59

Valuation model Black & Scholes Black & Scholes Black & Scholes Black & Scholes

The Group applies the Black & Scholes model to option arrangements that include employment terms. The expected volatility has been determined by calculat-

ing the historical volatility of the company’s share price and adjusting it according to generally available factors that are expected to affect historical volatility. 

Historical volatility was calculated on the basis of changes in the company’s share price.



98

Ruukki Group     Annual Report 2007 | Consolidated financial statements

Changes in share options issued and in weighted average exercise prices: 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
EUR/share

Number of options 
(Option Scheme 

I/2005)

Number of synthetic 
options

At the beginning of 2006 0.44 225,000 0
Granted new options 0.54 225,000 0
Exercised options 0.0 0 0
Forfeited options 0.0 0 0
At the end of 2006 0.49 450,000 0

Exercisable at the end of 2006 0.0 0 0

At the beginning of 2007 0.49 450,000 0
Granted new options 0.64 225,000 1,000,000
Exercised options 0.0 0 0
Forfeited options 0.0 0 0
At the end of 2007 0.54 675,000 1,000,000

Exercisable at the end of 2007 0.44 225,000 0

No share options were exercised in 2007. 

The exercise prices of existing share options and their years of forfeiting are presented below:  

Year of forfeiting Exercise price (EUR)
Number of shares 

(Option Scheme 
I/2005)

Synthetic options 
(CEO’s incentive)

2008 - - 250,000
2009 - - 250,000
2010 0.44 225,000 250,000
2011 0.54 225,000 250,000
2012 0.64 225,000 -

The fair value of shares has been based on share price quotations. 



99

G20. Interest-bearing debt 
 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 
Book values

31 Dec 2006 
Book values

Non-current
Bank loans 17,281 6,367
Subordinated loans (liability component for converti-
bles) 1,894 75

Equipment financing 2,281 2,692
Finance lease liabilities 2,502 70

Total 23,958 9,205

Current
Subordinated loans (liability component for converti-
bles) 0 1,576

Bank loans and equipment financing 15,733 2,874
Finance lease liabilities 258 60

Total 15,991 4,510

 
Finance lease liabilities

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Finance lease liabilities, minimum lease  
payments
No later than 1 year 258 60
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2,502 70

2,760 130

Finance lease liabilities, present value of  
minimum lease payments
No later than 1 year 255 60
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2,325 67

2,580 127

Future finance charges 180 12

Total finance lease liabilities 2,760 139

G21. Trade payables and other liabilities 

 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 
2007

31 Dec 
2006

Current
Trade payables 12,394 5,752
Prepayments 16,481 17,575
Accrued expenses and 
deferred income 9,791 2,801

Income tax liability 877 604
Other liabilities 2,911 11,996
Total 42,454 38,727

Non-current 1,262 2,227

Material items included into accrued expenses 

are related to personnel expenses and interests. 

Received prepayments are advance payments 

made by clients of House Building business seg-

ment. 
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G23. Summary on financial assets and 

loan arrangements

Financial assets 31 Dec 2007

The Group’s financial assets have considerably 

increased during financial year 2007 especially 

due to the share issues finalised in June and July 

2007. At the balance sheet date 31 December 

2007 the funds received by the share issues 

have been invested in short-term euro- and 

rouble-denominated fixed-term deposits and 

money market mutual funds. The Group also 

has part of the funds in interest-bearing avista 

accounts that have been categorised into cash 

and cash equivalents.

The financial assets comprise of the euro- and 

rouble-denominated deposits, mutual funds in-

vestments and pledged deposits as follows:

Euro-denominated fixed-term deposits for •	

EUR 100.0 million. The annualised average 

interest rate is 4.8 % p.a. The deposits have 

been made in autumn 2007 and their matu-

rity dates are in January 2008;

Rouble-denominated deposits for RUB •	

1,000.0 million (EUR 28.8 million converted 

at the exchange rate at the balance sheet 

date). These deposits have an average inter-

est rate of 7.8 % p.a., and the maturity is 

in January 2008 for RUB 500 million and in 

October 2008 for another RUB 500 million;

	Mutual fund investments in money market •	

funds totalling EUR 173.5 million in fair 

value. Of these mutual fund units EUR 150 

million has been redeemed and moved into 

euro-denominated fixed-term deposits for 

3-12 months in the beginning of January 

2008 so that the counterparty has been a 

Finnish financial institution;

Interest-bearing deposits pledged; when not •	

taking into account the pledges for rented 

premises, the group companies have given 

pledged deposits for altogether EUR 3.6 mil-

lion

Money market mutual funds have been catego-

rised into other financial assets than cash at the 

balance sheet date 31 December 2007 since 

the majority of these funds have been moved 

or is intended to be moved into short-term 

fixed-period deposits based on the investment 

policies previously agreed upon. 

Interest-bearing debt 31 Dec 2007

	Floating rate loans from financial institutions •	

totalling EUR 29.0 million, of which loans 

with pledges EUR 27.5 million. Fixed rate 

loans altogether EUR 4.5 million;

	The interest rates of the loans are to major •	

extent tied to euribor rates. The weighted 

average interest rate at the balance sheet 

date 31 December 2007 was, based on mar-

ket interest rates at that date, about 5.8 % 

when the impact of interest rate swaps have 

been taken account. The average interest 

G22. Provisions 

 

EUR ‘000 Warranty 
provisions

Other  
provisions Total

Balance at  
1 Jan 2007 108 0 108

Additions 11 70 81
Reductions 0 0 0
Balance at  
31 Dec 2007 119 70 189

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Long-term provisions 70 0
Short-term provisions 119 108
Total 189 108

The House Building segment gives a quality 

guarantee for its products. Short-term liabilities 

for repair have been recorded as expenses in the 

income statement and as provisions in the bal-

ance sheet.  Defects discovered during the war-

ranty period are repaired by the company or the 

product is replaced with equal product. At the 

end of 2007 warranty provisions amounted to 

EUR 119 thousand (EUR 108 thousand in 2006). 

The provision is based on expected number of 

defective products based on previous experi-

ence. Provisions are expected to be used within 

the next year. 
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rate margin for floating rate notes was 1.2 % 

p.a. (over the reference rates of the loans). 

The range of the annualised interest rates 

was 1.3 % p.a. – 14.0 % p.a. The loans will 

mature in years 2008 – 2019;

	Instalment payment debts totalled EUR 3.1 •	

million, of which EUR 2.3 million were long-

term;

	Finance lease debts totalled EUR 3.3 million•	

The debt finance package of the Furniture 

Business segment has been renegotiated at the 

turn of the year 2007 into 2008, partly related 

to the implications of the June 2007 fire. At the 

balance sheet date 31 December 2007, the par-

ent company of the Furniture Business segment 

had about EUR 1.5 million overdue debt that 

has been refinanced as a part of larger package 

implemented in January 2008 by the owners 

and the financiers.

G24.  Management of financial risks 

Management of capital

The Board of Directors of Ruukki Group Plc has 

set a long-term goal for the Group’s equity ratio 

to be 40 %. In the short term the objective 

is that equity financing accounts one third and 

debt financing two thirds of the needed funding 

for acquisitions and capital expenditures. The 

audit committee of Ruukki Group Plc follows 

the fulfilment of the equity ratio goal.

At the balance sheet date 31 December 2007, 

group’s equity ratio stood at 85.1 % level based 

especially on the substantial increase in equity 

by the share issues carried out during the fi-

nancial year 2007. These funds are primarily 

dedicated to partial funding of the planned for-

est industry investments in Russia. 

Management of strategic and operative 

risks

Ruukki Group has in year 2006 and 2007 oper-

ated in various businesses, which has diversi-

fied Group’s total risk. For example the rise 

in sawn wood prices has been enhancing the 

profitability of the Sawmill Business segment, 

but at the same time it has had negative effect 

on the profitability of Furniture Business and 

House Building segments. Moreover, since the 

relative significance of export has increased, 

the impact of changes in various markets is 

lower than previously.

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors has de-

cided to focus the operations stronger than 

previously into wood-based industrial opera-

tions. The aim is that new investments would to 

major extent be in Russia which can, if realised, 

increase the total risk level.

Balance sheet structure at 31 Dec 2007 and 31 Dec 2006 were the following:

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Equity 409,655 57,665
Minority interest 1,995 1,591
(1) Total Equity 411,650 59,256

Balance sheet total 499,990 116,090
./. Prepayments received -16,481 -17,575
(2) Balance sheet total excluding prepayments received 483,509 98,514

(3) Equity ratio = (1)/(2) 85.1 % 60.1 %
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As part of the ongoing change process into 

wood processing group, the Board and man-

agement of the Group’s parent company have 

in co-operation with external advisor carried 

out a separate risk analysis and risk manage-

ment study of the planned Russian investment 

projects.

Acquisitions have played a key role in the im-

plementation of the growth strategy followed 

by the group. In order to ensure the success 

of new acquisitions the Group aims at tying the 

business unit managers to the long-term busi-

ness development via incentive schemes. In 

addition, the synergy benefits can be reached 

more easily than before due to the strategic 

concentration in the wood-based industries.

Operative business risks are part of normal op-

erations. Long-term planning and flexible busi-

ness model have key role in managing those 

risks. Moreover, the larger size of the group will 

enhance the level of risk tolerance. Via new in-

vestment projects the group will be exposed to 

project management risks to larger extent than 

previously, which is targeted to be facilitated 

by education, expert resources and thorough 

planning. In case the investments projects, as 

planned in Kostroma Russia, would not be final-

ised or would be delayed, significant financial 

damage can be caused. These planned Russian 

projects’ preparation expenses, investment 

prepayments or irrevocable order commitments 

can be larger, if the project is not successfully 

implemented, than the combined cash flow 

from compensations received or assets sold.

Ruukki Group Plc’s Board is responsible for 

comprehensive management of strategic risks. 

Probably Group’s business is more risky and 

more dynamic in nature than the average risk 

profile in the industry.

The success of the group’s business is also 

dependant upon recruitment and holding on to 

professional and motivated personnel. When 

Ruukki Group’s operations has been growing 

larger the relative importance of any one key 

employee has gone down. The dependence on 

key persons is therefore lower than before. On 

the other hand, the changes in strategic focus 

and the targeted international expansion will 

bring about specific competence requirements. 

In order to commit the key employees at the 

Group headquarters and segment management 

there are for example share-based incentives 

schemes in place. In addition, part of business 

unit management does have earn-out struc-

tures in place.

The damage and liability risks are covered by 

insurances. In applicable parts group has used 

insurances brokers and international insurance 

experts to build insurance packages that are 

needed to fulfil risk management needs.

The internal audit function, whose practical op-

erations have been outsourced to an external 

specialist, will in its part be involved in ensuring 

the implementation of risk management activi-

ties and the appropriate follow-up on business 

processes and instructions. 

Management of financial risks

In its normal operations the group is exposed 

to various financial risks. The objective of group 

risk management is to minimise the adverse ef-

fects of the changes in the financial markets on 

the group result. The main financial risks are 

foreign exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, 

liquidity risk and credit risk.

The general risk management principles are ac-

cepted by Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors, 

and the management of the business segments 

is responsible for the implementation. The 

group has not for the time being a centralised 

group risk management organisation. When 

analysing risks mainly group’s financial and op-

erational information is utilised; the group has 

not used e.g. VaR (Value at Risk) tools for risk 

measurement.

As a partial consequence of the change in the 

group’s business model it is anticipated that 

the principles, guidance and reporting of the 

financial risk management will be specified in 

accordance with the business changes. The 

progress of the planned Russian investment 

projects will essentially influence the quantity 

and form of financial risks.
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Group business operations expose the group 

and its business units to the following market 

risks:

(i) 	 foreign exchange rate risk 

(ii) 	 interest rate risk 

(iii) 	 credit risk 

(iv) 	 liquidity risk

(i) Foreign exchange rate risk

Group operates internationally, and therefore 

has foreign exchange rate risks due to various 

currency positions. Foreign exchange rate risks 

arise from commercial transactions and mon-

etary balance sheet items that affect the con-

version differences based on converting foreign 

currency denominated items into the functional 

currency of the parent company.

Currency positions are mainly looked into on 

a monthly basis for the next rolling twelve 

months. Short-term forward contracts are to 

major extent used to manage foreign exchange 

rate risks related to the coming cash flow of 

currency denominated trade receivables. The 

largest direct foreign exchange rate risks are 

related to the export trade of the Sawmill 

Business segment, where the Japanese yen is 

the most significant single currency. For the ap-

plicable part, the currency cash flows of sales 

and purchases are matched so that the net cur-

rency position would be as small as possible; 

this way group’s Sawmill Business segment has 

managed the US dollar risks. At the end of the 

financial year the maturity of the forward con-

tracts was less than six months. The forward 

contracts are both by the amount and by the 

maturity as close as possible matched with the 

commercial cash flows in order to minimise the 

net foreign exchange rate risk. The commercial 

business agreements in the Sawmill Business 

segment are typical made for six months’ pe-

riod; therefore, the management of foreign 

exchange rate risks are managed primarily for 

the same period.

In addition to direct foreign exchange rate 

risks, the wood-based industrial operations of 

the group are indirectly exposed to foreign ex-

change rate risk in case the neighbouring coun-

tries’ currencies values, which are not directly 

linked to euro, change. These market or other 

changes in the value of currencies can signifi-

cantly affect the short-term and long-term price 

competitiveness and relative profitability of the 

group’s business units.

Russian rouble (RUB), Japanese yen (JPY) and 

US dollar (USD) are the most significant curren-

cies for the group. As invoicing currency only 

the unit’s own functional currency or generally 

used currencies are used. Mostly used curren-

cies, other than the euro, used as export sales 

currency are the JPY, USD and British pound 

(GBP), which particularly affect the Group’s 

Sawmill Business segment that do have some 

invoicing in Swedish crowns (SEK) as well.

At the balance sheet date 31 December 2007, 

the group did have altogether about one bil-

lion roubles, i.e. about EUR 27.8 million, placed 

in short-term rouble-denominated deposits. In 

addition the group has about hundred million 

roubles, i.e. about EUR 2.8 million, in rouble-

denominated cash and cash equivalents. These 

financial assets in roubles represent about 

slightly less than nine per cent of all group cash 

and deposits. The Board of Directors at Ruukki 

Group Plc has decided that the EUR/RUB for-

eign exchange risk of the RUB deposits is not 

hedged. There are significant rouble investment 

and other commitments related to the planned 

Russian investments, in case these investments 

are carried out in the planned time frame and 

magnitude, and this has been taken into account 

when the decision not the hedge the rouble risk 

was made. Consequently, considerable foreign 

exchange rate differences might be realised, 

especially if the amount of rouble-denominated 

deposits would increase, even though over the 

long term the net effect of rouble would be par-

tially or fully eliminated. The group’s Sawmill 

Business segment has units that have currency 

bank accounts, on which there were altogether 

EUR 76 thousand cash at 31 Dec 2007 (31 Dec 

2006: EUR 211 thousand).
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The effect on 31 Dec 2007 balance sheet’s cur-

rency denominated items by changes in foreign 

exchange rates vis-à-vis the rates used in the 

group balance sheet consolidation has been 

presented below. To the extent that the group 

has internally financed foreign subsidiaries with 

foreign currency loans these loans has, in ac-

cordance with IAS 21 standard, been presented 

as long-term investment into the subsidiary, 

and therefore the corresponding foreign ex-

change rate difference has been recognised as 

conversion difference in the group equity.

At the balance sheet of 31 December 2007 the 

major open foreign exchange rate risk related 

to currency denominated items is the risk of 

change in the euro value of the rouble-denom-

inated cash and deposits, which might have 

considerable influence on the realised effective 

total return at the expiry date (interest income 

in currency +/- effect of the foreign exchange 

rate change).

In the table below the currency composition of receivables and debt, and changes thereby vis-a-vis 

the previous year-end, have been presented.

31 Dec 2007 

(‘000) EUR RUB JPY USD

Trade receivables 18,239 89,369 337
Loans and other receivables 135,813 1,013,437
Trade payables -12,370 -870
Other liabilities -71,258 -464
Currency derivatives -89,369
Currency exposure, net 70,424 1,012,103 0 337

31 Dec 2006

(‘000) EUR RUB JPY USD

Trade receivables 7,070 79,323
Loans and other receivables 9,800
Trade payables 6,153
Other liabilities 48,517
Currency derivatives -79,323
Currency exposure, net -37,000 0 0 0
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The group management’s view is that the cur-

rency distribution at the balance sheet date 

does not necessarily describe the real direct 

or indirect foreign exchange rate risk, since 

the year-end situation  does not reflect the 

average situation during the ended or coming 

financial years. Furthermore in case the group 

business will during the coming years expand 

in the planned way in Russia and/or into pulp 

business, the foreign exchange rate risks are 

presumably increased by a considerable degree 

at least for the rouble and US dollar. Generally 

group’s foreign exchange rate risks have in-

creased during financial year 2007 vis-à-vis 

2006, and they are expected to increase in the 

future.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The group is exposed to interest rate risk 

when the group companies take loans or make 

other financing agreements or deposits and 

investments related to liquidity management. 

Moreover, changes in interest rates can indirect-

ly affect the conditions in which the business 

units operate since for example the demand for 

ready-to-move-in houses is dependant upon 

the prevailing interest rate level and customers’ 

possibilities to get debt financing. In addition, 

the changes in interest rates can influence the 

profitability of the finalised investments or the 

changes can alter the market values of group 

assets via the IFRS impairment tests.

To manage interest rate risks group uses 

both fixed and floating rate debt instruments 

and when needed derivative instruments, like 

interest rate swaps. Group’s objective is also 

to match the loan maturities with businesses’ 

needs and to have the maturities spread over 

various periods whereby group’s financial risks 

are diversified and their total amount is af-

fected. Floating rate financing is mainly tied to  

3 – 12 months euribor interest rates, the 

changes of which will then influence group’s 

total financing cost and cash flows.

The short-term receivables of the group are to 

major extent fixed rate deposits made for pre-

determined periods, whose length varies. Short-

term investments into money market mutual 

funds expose the group to interest rate risk. At 

the balance sheet date of 31 December 2007 

these fund investments amounted to about EUR 

176 million (31 Dec 2006: EUR 0 million), of 

which approximately 85 % have immediately 

after the balance sheet date been deposited for 

Sensitivity analysis, group balance sheet 31 Dec 2007

(‘000) RUB JPY USD

receivables in currency 1,013,437 89,369 337
cash in currency 106,890 11,239 11
net assets in currency 1,120,328 100,607 347
net assets in EUR 31,132 610 236

Sensitivity analysis compared with the actual conversion rates 

(‘000) EUR/RUB EUR/JPY EUR/USD

change in currency value vs. euro
10 % strengthening 32,387 148,437 1,325
5 % strengthening 34,187 156,684 1,398
0 % no change 35,986 164,930 1,472
-5 % weakening 37,785 173,177 1,546
-10 % weakening 39,585 181,423 1,619

the effect of the change in currency rates compared  
with the actual rates

change in balance sheet value, EUR 
thousand

10 % strengthening 3,459 68 26
5 % strengthening 1,639 32 12
0 % no change 0 0 0
-5 % weakening -1,482 -29 -11
-10 % weakening -2,830 -55 -21
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3 – 12 months into fixed term deposit with fixed 

interest rates.

Group revenue and operative cash flows are 

mainly independent of the changes in market 

interest rates.

The group can borrow money either with fixed 

or floating interest rates. Most of groups inter-

est-bearing debt are based on floating interest 

rates. The interest rate risk has partially been 

hedged by interest rate swaps, whose nominal 

value totalled EUR 5.2 million at 31 December 

2007 (31 Dec 2006: EUR 0.0 million). In the 

table next page the rough effect on group’s 

income statement by changes in market inter-

est rates have been presented in case the de-

posits’ and loans’ interest rates would change. 

The changes in interest rates have been taken 

into account in floating rate items. The sen-

sitivity analysis below is illustrative in nature 

and primarily takes into account the coming 

twelve months period, if those periods’ bal-

ance sheet structure would be equal to that of 

31 December 2007. Therefore, the analysis is 

primarily applicable to assessing the variation 

in the financial year 2008 interest income and 

expenses. Especially due to the shares issues 

carried out during summer 2007 the group’s 

liquid financial assets have considerably in-

creased, which has influenced the significant 

increase in interest income during the second 

half of 2007. Moreover, any potential acquisition 

or investment can alter group’s capital structure 

to a major extent.

Sensitivity analysis

Main assumptions:

Deposit interests (for new deposits) change •	

equally to loan interest rates when market 

interest rates are changed, in other words 

both are based on market rates; the interest 

rates on fixed-rate deposits and loans are 

however unchanged, as well the de facto 

fixed rates via interest rate swap agree-

ments

The split of interest-bearing debt receivables and debt into fixed rate and floating rate instruments were the following on balance sheet dates  

31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006:

Interest rate profile of interest bearing financial instruments

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 131,623 6,793
Financial liabilities -4,475 -2,465

Fixed rate instruments, net 127,148 4,328

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets 1,865 168
Financial liabilities -35,474 -11,121

Variable rate instruments, net -33,609 -10,952

Interest bearing net debt 93,540 -6,624
(+ = net receivable; - = net debt)



107

Group’s deposits and loans are, as measured •	

in EUR, constant for the whole year based 

on 31 Dec 2007 prevailing situation

The interest rates in deposits and loans de-•	

nominated in various currencies will change 

fully in parallel with each other

All companies, and their deposits and loans •	

constant as of 31 Dec 2007 situation, and 

assumed to be taken into account for full 12 

months

The effect of interest rate change on cash •	

not taken into account

The average maturity of deposits expected •	

to be 6 months, the change in interest rates 

will be for the full year on loans’ interest 

expenses and for the half of the year for 

the deposits interest income; in reality the 

changes in loans’ euribor base rates not re-

alising in the beginning of the year

In a separate section covering the impairment 

testing there is a sensitivity analysis about 

the changes in impairment tests’ values due 

to changes in interest rates used in the cal-

culations. One component affecting the used 

weighted average cost of capital is the market 

interest rate and changes in it. Any changes 

in the impairment tests’ outcome can changes 

group’s financial result and assets value in the 

group balance sheet.

(iii) Credit risk

Credit risk can be realised in case the coun-

terparties in commercial, financial or other 

agreements cannot take care of its obligations, 

which therefore would cause financial damage 

to the group. The group’s operational policies 

define the creditworthiness requirements for 

customers and for counterparties in financial 

and derivate transactions, as well as the prin-

ciples followed when investing liquidity. In all 

the major sales agreements, the counterparty’s 

creditworthiness information is checked.

The House Building segment of the group gets 

prepayments from its customers in accordance 

with the completion rate of the houses, which 

clearly diminishes potential credit risks.

In the Furniture Business segment there is a 

substantial dependence on one customer. The 

segment has been doing business with that 

customer for many years, but there is no cer-

tainty that in all circumstances the business 

operations will in future be at the same level. 

According to the view of the group no credit 

risk is attached with this customer concentra-

tion risk, but potential loss of the customer or 

fall in business volume with the customer could 

cause significant financial harm in short and 

long term.

The Sawmill Business segment has two major 

market segment concentrations: on the one 

hand the domestic house building industry and 

on the other hand the Japanese export market. 

Changes in demand in these market areas can 

considerably affect segment’s profitability, if no 

other customers from other segments cannot 

be find to replace the lost sales. The pallet 

business belonging to the Sawmill Business 

segment has sizable dependence on few major 

Effect of changes in interest rate on interest expense and income  

Group balance sheet 31 Dec 2007

average change in average rate of 2007 
compared with the interest rates on 31 Dec 2007 
percentage points, % p.a.

change in interest 
income full year

change in interest 
expense full year

net effect 
full year

-1.00 % -968,299 233,861 -734,438
-0.75 % -726,224 175,396 -550,828
-0.50 % -484,149 116,931 -367,129
-0.25 % -242,075 58,465 -183,609
0.00  % 0 0 0
0.25 % 242,075 -58,465 183,609
0.50 % 484,149 -116,931 367,129
0.75 % 726,224 -175,396 550,828
1.00 % 968,299 -233,861 734,438
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customers, but written delivery agreements 

covering the period up until 2011 essentially 

decrease the risk. In the export operations, 

the Sawmill Business segment has covered the 

credit risk with credit insurance. 

The group does not have any other substan-

tial concentrations of credit risk, since there 

are many customers, which moreover are 

geographically widely spread across various 

locations. In addition, the group sell with credit 

only to those companies that have good cred-

itworthiness. Group’s Care Services business 

segment gets its revenue mostly from Finnish 

municipalities.

During the financial year credit losses booked 

through the income statement were not signifi-

cant. The maximum credit risk is equal to the 

balance sheet value of the receivables as of 31 

December 2007.

(iv) Liquidity risk

The group constantly assesses and monitors 

the investment and working capital needs and 

financing thereby so that the group has enough 

liquidity to serve and finance the operations and 

to pay back loans. The availability and flexibility 

of financing are targeted to be guaranteed by 

using multiple financial institutions in the fi-

nancing and financial instruments and to agree 

on financial limit arrangements. Cash flow fore-

casts on both incoming and outgoing cash flows 

are taken into account when group’s companies 

make decisions on liquidity management and 

investments as well as when they plan short-

term and long-term financing needs.

If liquidity risks would be realised, it would 

probably cause overdue interest expenses and 

possibly would make the co-operation with 

goods and services suppliers more difficult. 

Consequently, the pricing and other terms for 

input goods and services and for financing, 

could be affected.
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Maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments

31 Dec 2007

EUR ‘000 Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows 6 months or less 6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 5 

years

Financial liabilities
Secured bank loans 31,931 -36,976 -8,059 -3,030 -4,649 -10,363 -10,875
Unsecured bank loans 1,553 -1,984 -68 -39 -1,138 -739 0
Convertible loans 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Finance lease liabilities 3,321 -3,321 -410 -410 -626 -1,877 0
Trade and other payables 42,454 -42,713 -38,788 -1,552 -922 -741 -710
Bank overdraft 3,704 -4,799 -130 -107 -214 -643 -3,704

Derivatives
Currency derivatives

Outflow -839 -4,055 -4,055
Inflow 4 849 489

Interest rate swaps 161 161 17 36 72 36
Total 82,291 -92,839 -50,644 -5,102 -7,477 -14,327 -15,289

31 Dec 2006

EUR ‘000 Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows 6 months or less 6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 5 

years

Financial liabilities
Secured bank loans 9,145 -10,954 -1,853 -1,349 -3,060 -4,029 -662
Unsecured bank loans 51 -56 0 0 -56 0 0
Convertible loans 1,585 -1,768 -1,768 0 0 0 0
Finance lease liabilities 130 -155 -33 -30 -48 -44 0
Trade and other payables 43,709 -44,635 -38,928 -1,384 -1,941 -2,045 -339
Bank overdraft 50 -50 -50 0 0 0 0

Derivatives
Currency derivatives

Outflow -13,462 -12,329 -12,329 0 0 0 0
Inflow 10,792 9,589 9,589 0 0 0 0

Interest rate swaps 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 52,000 -60,358 -45,370 -2,763 -5,106 -6,117 -1,002
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Risks related to input material prices and 

availability

The group is exposed to price risks on various 

input materials and commodities.

The price risks on input materials and commod-

ities are managed by pricing policies so that 

changes in input materials and commodities 

could be moved into sales prices. This however 

is not always possible, or there might be de-

lays due to contractual or competitive reasons. 

Presumably the group’s Furniture Business seg-

ment will in the future tie the development of 

its sales prices tighter than previously into the 

main raw materials’ cost development.

The group units having industrial production 

operations are exposed to the availability, qual-

ity and price fluctuations in raw materials and 

commodities. To diminish these risks group 

business units make to major extent long-

term agreements with known counterparties. 

Moreover, group’s Sawmill Business segment 

has during financial year 2007 increased the 

own procurement of logs. Mostly it is not pos-

sible or economically feasible to hedge com-

modity price risks with derivative contracts, so 

the group do not have any commodity derivate 

contracts in place as of 31 December 2007.

In 2008, taken into account the acquisition of 

Junnikkala Oy in January 2008, group’s usage 

of coniferous logs as a raw material is expect-

ed to be about 800,000 cubic meters a year. 

Then an average cost increase of EUR 1 per 

cubic meter in the mill price of coniferous logs 

would decrease the group’s EBIT about EUR 

800 thousand assuming that sales prices and 

other costs would be unchanged. The group’s 

Sawmill Business segment’s target sales volume 

for 2008 is approximately 400,000 cubic me-

ters of coniferous sawnwood. Then an average 

fall of EUR 1 per cubic meter for the ex works 

sales price would decrease group’s EBIT by 

EUR 400 thousand assuming that costs would 

be unchanged. In practice the changes in pur-

chase and sales prices go to the same direction, 

even though the correlation is not perfect and 

even though there might be differences in the 

timing of the changes. Furthermore, Ruukki 

Group’s Furniture Business and House Building 

segments use a lot of processed wood, which 

would presumably partly eliminate the previ-

ously mentioned simulated EBIT changes in the 

Sawmill Business segment.

The availability and cost level of employees af-

fect all the group’s companies operations. In 

the wood-based businesses the relative share 

of personnel costs is clearly lower than in 

employee-intensive Care Services segment, in 

which the agreed and potentially coming salary 

increases can significantly affect the profitabil-

ity.

During the financial year 2007 group’s real-

ised personnel expenses totalled EUR 32,037 

thousand. If during 2008 the group’s person-

nel expenses would on average be one per 

cent higher than in 2007, would this one per 

cent average increase lead to about EUR 3,200 

thousand decrease in the group EBIT. This is 

based on the assumption that the amount and 

productivity of personnel would be constant 

and that the increased costs would not have 

any effect on sales prices.
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Formulae for calculation of indicators 

 
Return on 
equity

Net profit / Total equity (average for the 
period) * 100

Return on capi-
tal employed

Profit before taxes + financing expenses 
/ (balance sheet total - non-interest 
bearing liabilities) average * 100 

Equity ratio Total equity / balance sheet - prepay-
ments received * 100

Earnings per 
share (basic)

Profit attributable to shareholders of the 
parent company / Average number of 
shares during the period

Earnings per 
share (diluted)

Profit attributable to shareholders of the 
parent company / Average number of 
shares during the period, diluted

Equity per 
share

Shareholders' equity / Average number 
of shares during the period

Dividend per 
share

Dividends / Number of shares at the 
end of the period

Dividend per 
earnings

Dividend per share / Earnings per share 
* 100

Effective 
dividend yield

Dividend per share / Share price at the 
end of the period

Price to earn-
ings

Share price at the end of the period / 
Earnings per share

Average share 
price

Total value of shares traded in euro / 
Number of shares traded during the 
period

Market capitali-
sation

Number of shares * Share price at the 
end of the period

Operating profit

Operating profit is the net of revenue 
plus other operating income, minus 
cost of goods sold adjusted with 
finished goods inventory change, 
minus employee benefits expense, 
minus depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment and minus other operating 
expense. Foreign exchange gains or 
losses are included in operating profit 
when generated from ordinary activi-
ties. Exchange gains or losses related 
to financing activities are recognised as 
financial income or expense.

Financial Indicators

2007 2006 2005 2004

Revenue, EUR ‘000 213,910 125,459 91,936 71,705
Operating profit / loss, EUR ‘000 15,674 13,048 9,340 5,603
% of revenue 7.3 % 10.4 % 10.2 % 7.8 %
Profit / loss before taxes, EUR ‘000 19,158 12,156 8,465 3,985
% of revenue 9.0 % 9.7 % 9.2 % 5.6 %
Return on equity, % 5.8 % 19.1 % 29.9 % 19.9 %
Return on investment, % 8.8 % 17.7 % 25.4 % 21.2 %
Equity ratio, % 85.1 % 60.1 % 32.9 % 20.0 %
Gross capital expenditure, EUR ‘000 34,442 14,330 5,696 15,919
% of revenue 16.1 % 11.4 % 6.2 % 22.2 %
Personnel, average 866 570 387 319
Earnings per share, basic, EUR 0.06 0.07 0.07 0.03
Earnings per share, diluted, EUR 0.06 0.06 0.05 0.02
Equity per share, EUR 1.42 0.42 0.26 0.16
Dividends, EUR ‘000 4,079 3,148 0
Dividend per share, EUR 0.03 0.02 0.00
Dividend per earnings, % 41.9 % 34.7 % 0.0 %
Effective dividend yield, % 2.5 % 3.7 % 0.0 %
Price to earnings 48.6 16.8 9.4 15.7
Highest share price, EUR 3.59 1.23 0.70 0.50
Lowest share price, EUR 1.18 0.64 0.30 0.30
Average share price, EUR 2.40 0.84 0.54 0.41
Market capitalisation, EUR ‘000 817,896 163,156 54,370 32,712
Turnover, EUR ‘000 623,228 84,819 24,709 8,605
Turnover, % 89.7 % 86.0 % 53.7 % 25.7 %
Average number of shares, (1 000) 217,889 118,052 83,188 80,317
Average number of shares, diluted, (1 000) 221,432 135,996 106,468 84,939
Number of shares at the end of the period 
(1 000) 290,034 135,964 93,301 81,781
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PARENT COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Parent Company’s  

Income Statement 

(FAS)

EUR '000 Note 1 Jan 2007  
- 31 Dec 2007

1 Jan 2006  
- 31 Dec 2006

Revenue P1 567 298
Other operating income P2 37 4,978
Materials and services

Goods,materials and supplies
Purchases of the period -158 -110

Goods, materials and supplies total -158 -110
Materials and services total -158 -110
Personnel expenses

Salaries and wages -1,015 -391
Social security expenses

Pension expenses -178 -58
Other social security expenses -52 -29

Social security expenses total -231 -87
Personnel expenses total -1,246 -479
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment P3

Depreciation and amortisation according to plan -54 -26
Impairment of non-current assets -1,193 -2,919

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment total -1,247 -2,945
Other operating expenses -10,505 -2,049
Operating profit (loss) -12,553 -306
Financial income and expenses P4

Income from group companies
Dividends from subsidiaries 10,622 858
Dividends from associates 1,433 84
Other financial income 0 0

From group companies 974 271
From others 5,725 410

Interests and other financial expenses 0 0
To group companies -1 -6
To others -1,126 -482

Interest and other finacial expenses total 17,628 1,135
Profit (loss) before extraordinary items 5,075 829
Extraordinary items P5

Extraordinary income 5,600 0
Extraordinary items total 5,600 0
Profit before taxes 10,675 829
Income taxes P6

Income taxes -185 -329
Net profit 10,490 500
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Parent company’s Balance sheet (FAS)

EUR ‘000 Note 31 Dec  
2007

31 Dec  
2006

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets P7

Intangible rights 111 5
Total intangible assets 111 5
Property, plant and equipment

Machinery and equipment P7 90 95
Other tangible assets P7 2 2

Total property, plant and equipment 92 97
Investments P8

Shares in group companies 38,541 29,941
Investments in associates 1,280 4,781
Receivables from group companies 2,701 1,947
Receivables from associated companies 50 50
Other receivables 0 0

Total investments 42,571 36,719
Total non-current assets 42,775 36,821

Receivables P9
Non-current receivables

Receivables from group companies 56,727 15,750
Other interest-bearing receivables 1,380 0

Total non-current receivables 58,107 15,750

Current receivables
Trade receivables 0 74
Receivables from group companies 3,799 552
Receivables from associated companies 0 21
Other interest-bearing receivables 1,509 6,812
Other non interest-bearing receivables 749 596
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 4,182 1,460

Total current receivables 10,239 9,516

Financial assets
Other financial assets 275,056 0

Total financial assets 275,056 0
Cash and cash equivalents 28,384 3,493
Total current assets 371,787 28,759

Total assets 414,561 65,580

EUR ‘000 Note 31 Dec  
2007

31 Dec  
2006

Equity and liabilities
Shareholders' equity P10

Share capital 23,642 23,018
Share issue 25,223 24,195
Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve 345,309 424
Retained earnings 2,133 5,712
Profit for the period 10,490 500

Total shareholders' equity 406,797 53,848

Liabilities P11
Non-current liabilities

Convertible bonds 0 9
Loans from financial institutions 4,005 1,235
Loans from group companies 0 28
Loans from associated companies 5 5

Total non-current liabilities 4,010 1,278

Current liabilities
Convertible bonds 0 1,643
Loans from financial institutions 1,280 380
Loans from group companies 0 5
Trade payables 379 160
Payables to group companies 7 1
Other debt 692 7,937

Accrued expenses and deferred income 1,397 328
Total current liabilities 3,754 10,454
Total liabilities 7,764 11,732

Total equity and liabilities 414,561 65,580
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT (FAS)

EUR ‘000 1 Jan - 31 Dec 
2007

1 Jan - 31 Dec 
2006

CASH FLOW USED IN OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES

Profit for the period 10,490 500
Adjustments:

Depreciation and amortisation 54 26
Capital gains and losses from invest-
ments -11 -4,961

Impairment 1,193 2,919
Financial revenue and expense ex-
cluding impairment -17,628 -1,135

Group contributions -5,600 0
Income taxes 185 681
Other adjustments 1 0

Cash flow before change in working 
capital -11,315 -1,970

Change in working capital:
Change in current trade receivables -2,388 -2,107
Change in current non interest-bearing 
receivables 1,072 1,254

Interests paid and other financing items 0 -2
Income taxes paid -102 -3,477

Cash flow used in operating activities -12,734 -6,302

CASH FLOW USED IN INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditure on non-current assets -156 -11
Disposals of non-current assets 0 0
Investments in other investments -5,772 -9,702
Payments for earn-out liabilities -7,070 -5,793
Disposals of other investments 7,154 4,183
Interests paid on investments 0 -6
Dividends received 12,055 942
Cash flow used in investing activities 6,212 -10,387

EUR ‘000 1 Jan - 31 Dec 
2007

1 Jan - 31 Dec 
2006

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from share issue 343,850 21,600
Proceeds from borrowings 4,500 1,900
Repayments of borrowings -830 -285
Repayments of non-current loans to 
group companies 

-33 0

Current loans to group companies 0 -1,625
Repayments of current borrowings from 
group companies

0 1,625

Non-current loans to group companies -41,601 -8,650
Repayments of non-current loans 138 0
Non-current loans to others -1,380 0
Current deposits -103,478 0
Investments in money market mutual 
funds

-173,056 0

Dividends paid -4,077 -3,146
Group contributions received 3,100 0
Interests received and income from 
money market investments

4,667 325

Interests paid -386 -553
Cash flow from financing activities 31,412 11,191

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS

24,890 -5,497

Cash at the beginning of the period 3,493 8,991
Cash at the end of the period 28,384 3,493

Change in the balance sheet 24,890 -5,497
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

OF PARENT COMPANY

Scope of financial statements and ac-

counting principles

The parent company has prepared its separate 

financial statements in accordance with Finnish 

Accounting Standards. Consolidated financial 

statements have been prepared in accord-

ance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards. Consolidated financial statements 

are presented separately as a part of these 

financial statements. 

Information on holdings in subsidiaries and as-

sociates and information on their consolidation 

is presented in notes to the financial state-

ments. 

Valuation principles and methods

Investments in associates and debt instruments 

are valued at acquisition cost, less eventual im-

pairment. Dividends received from group com-

panies and associates have been recorded as 

financial income.

The balance sheet value of property, plant and 

equipment is stated at acquisition cost, less 

accumulated depreciation. Other assets have 

been stated at acquisition cost.

Depreciation methods

Acquisition costs of property, plant and equip-

ment are depreciated over their useful lives ac-

cording to plan. Depreciation plans have been 

defined based on practice and experience.

Asset	 Depreciation 		
	 method/
	 period

Intangible rights	 5 years
IT equipment	 2 years
Machinery and equipment	 5 years
Other machinery and equipment	 5 years
Vehicles	 6 years

In the depreciation of IT equipment and other 

machinery and equipment the company has 

moved from declining balance depreciation 

method to straight-line depreciation method 

since with the straight-line depreciation method 

the depreciation corresponds better to the use-

ful life and value of the assets.

Translations of foreign currency items

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded 

at the rates of the transaction date. At the end 

of the accounting period the company has no 

material assets or liabilities in foreign curren-

cies. Generally, the significance of foreign cur-

rencies for the company is minor. 

Comparability of the reported financial 

year and the previous year 

Financial year reported and previous year have 

both been calendar years and are thus com-

parable.

The financial structure of the company has 

changed significantly in 2006 and 2007 due 

to equity and debt financing transactions car-

ried out in order to strengthen the company’s 

financial position. By share issue carried out in 

March 2006, the company raised capital for ap-

proximately EUR 21.6 million. In October 2006 

the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of the 

company decided to establish a new equity 

fund, i.e. paid-up unrestricted equity reserve 

in accordance with renewed Companies Act. 

By share issues carried out in June-July 2007, 

the company raised approximately EUR 343.8 

million in equity. The company’s financial struc-

ture has significantly strenghtened due to these 

transactions. As a result of the summer 2007 

share issues, the company’s financial income 

has distinctly increased during the latter half of 

2007.

In 2006, the company has recognised signifi-

cant one-off impairment losses on holdings in 

subsidiaries and associates, mainly related to 

furniture business. Impairment is presented in 

income statement above operating profit, which 

meets the presentation in group financial state-

ments. In 2007, the company has recognised 

some impairment losses on holdings in subsidi-

aries based on expected returns.

The development company status may require 

various ownership and financial arrangements, 

which may have significant non-recurring or re-

curring effects on company’s income statement, 

balance sheet and financial position, which makes 
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comparison of financial statements and esti-

mating future more difficult.

Earn-out liabilities associated with busi-

ness acquisitions 

On 31 December 2007, the company did not 

have contingencies on which the company 

would be obliged to pay earn-out liabilities from 

the companies it holds.

Summary of acquisitions and divest-

ments carried out in 2007

Group companies:

Increase of ownership in Incap Furniture •	

Oy, when taking into account the effect of 

the company’s subsidiary Hirviset Group Oy; 

through transactions carried out in 2/2007 

(47.3 % => 70.3 %) and later as a result 

of the transactions carried out by Incap 

Furniture (70.3 % => 71.0 %)

Increase of ownership in Oplax Oy 3/2007 •	

(24.53 % => 100 %)

Increase of ownership in Alumni Oy 9/2007 •	

(69.44 % => 100 %)

Associates:

Valtimo Components Oyj’s share issue •	

1/2007 and partial disposal 3/2007 (39.2 % 

=> 24.9 %) 

Notes to INCOME statement

P1. Revenue

By business line

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Wood components 183 78
Services 297 168
Other revenue 87 52
Total 567 298

By geography

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Finland 384 220
EU countries 183 78
Total 567 298

P2. Other operating income

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Gain on disposal of subsidiary shares 0 266
Gain on disposal of associated companies shares 16 4,695
Rental income 21 17
Total 37 4,978
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P3. Depreciation, amortisation and 

impairment

Depreciation and amortisation according 

to plan

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Intangible rights -12 -2
Machinery and  
equipment

-42 -25

Total -54 -26

Impairment on investments

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Impairment on hold-
ings in subsidiaries -627 -1,492

Impairment on loans to 
group companies -565 0

Impairment on hold-
ings in associates 0 -1,345

Impairment on loan 
receivables from 
associates

0 -1

Impairment on loan 
receivables from others 0 -80

Total -1,193 -2,919

Impairment has been presented above oper-

ating profit, which meets the presentation of 

share of associates’ earnings. The basis of valu-

ation for the aforementioned impairment has 

been, in addition to other criteria, to record the 

parent company’s balance sheet values accord-

ing to IFRS valuation principles.		

P4. Financial income and expense

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Dividends from group companies 10,622 858
Dividends from associated companies 1,433 84
Other financial income 0 0

From group companies 974 271
From others 5,725 410

Other financial expense 0 0
To group companies -1 -6
To others -1,126 -482

Total 17,628 1,135

P5. Extraordinary items

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Group contributions 5,600 0
Total 5,600 0

 
 
P6. Income taxes

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Profit for the period 10,490 500
Adjustments for tax calculation -9,983 2,119
Taxable income 507 2,619
Tax advances paid 10,490 500
Tax deferral based on taxable income 1,899 1,350
Income tax of the period -132 -681
Taxes of previous years
Returned taxes from previous year 352
Additional taxes from previous years -53
Net income taxes -185 -329
Tax receivable 31 Dec 1,899 1,350
Tax liability 31 Dec 0 0
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Notes to assets

P7. Property, plant and equipment 
 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Intangible rights
Acquisition cost Jan 1 35 33

Additions 118 2
Disposals 0 0

Acquisition cost Dec 31 154 35

Accumulated depreciation Jan 1 31 29
Depreciation for the period 12 1

Accumulated depreciation Dec 31 42 31
Book value Dec 31 111 5

Machinery and equipment
Acquisition cost Jan 1 170 167

Additions 37 3
Disposals 0 0

Acquisition cost Dec 31 208 170

Accumulated depreciation Jan 1 75 55
Depreciation for the period 42 20

Accumulated depreciation Dec 31 118 75
Book value Dec 31 90 95

Other tangible assets
Book value Jan 1 2 2
Book value Dec 31 2 2
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P8. Investments 

EUR ‘000 Shares in  
group companies

Shares in  
associated  
companies

Receivables from  
group companies

Receivables from  
associated  
companies

Other 
receivables Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2007 32,000 9,560 1,947 169 80 66,027
Additions 5,729 42 33 11,492
Disposals -46
Transfers between categories 3,497 -3,497 1,286 8,281
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2007 41,226 6,059 3,266 169 80 85,800

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  
1 Jan 2007 -2,058 -4,779 0 -120 -80 -4,197

Disposals 0
Depreciation for the period 0
Impairment -627 -565 -1,820
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
31 Dec 2007 -2,686 -4,779 -565 -120 -80 -6,017

Revaluations
Book value 31 Dec 2007 38,541 1,280 2,701 50 0 79,783
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Holdings in other companies

Subsidiaries 

Company name and domicile Group ownership 
31 Dec 2007 (%)

Parent company's 
direct ownership  

31 Dec 2007 (%)
Joined the group Accounting period Movements in parent com-

pany's holding in 2007

Mikeva Oy,  Oulunsalo 100.0 100.0 1 Jul 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Mikon Kuntoutuskodit Oy, Parkano 100.0 0.0 30 Sep 2005 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Terveyspalvelut Mendis Oy, Seinäjoki 100.0 0.0 1 Sep 2006 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Mendis Palvelukodit Oy, Seinäjoki 100.0 0.0 1 Sep 2006 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Ruukki Yhtiöt Oy, Espoo 100.0 100.0 1 Jul 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Ruukki Wood Oy, Espoo 100.0 0.0 1 Jul 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Woodproc Finland Oy, Siikajoki 100.0 0.0 1 Jul 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Ruukki Components Oy, Siikajoki 100.0 0.0 1 Jul 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Ruukki Invest Oy, Espoo 100.0 0.0 1 Jul 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Ruukki Harvest Oy, Espoo 100.0 0.0 17 Oct 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Ruukki Sawmill Oy, Espoo 100.0 0.0 17 Oct 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Utawood Oy, Utajärvi 100.0 0.0 1 Jul 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007 RY: 67.7 % -> 100 % 
OOO Ruukki Invest Oy Kostroma, Kostroma (Russia) 100.0 0.0 30 Sep 2006 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
OOO Ruukki Harvest, Kostroma (Russia) 100.0 0.0 31 Oct 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007 established in 2007
OOO Ruukki Lesopilnyj Zavod, Kostroma (Russia) 100.0 0.0 31 Oct 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007 established in 2007
Lappipaneli Oy, Kuusamo 100.0 0.0 31 Dec 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Airisniemen Energia Oy, Kuusamo 100.0 0.0 31 Dec 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Laptimber Oy, Kuusamo 100.0 0.0 31 Dec 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Tervolan Saha ja Höyläämö Oy, Keminmaa 91.4 0.0 31 Dec 2003 31 Jan-31 Dec 2007
VK Timber Oy, Kittilä 91.4 0.0 31 Dec 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Oplax Oy, Oulu 100.0 100.0 15 Feb 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Alumni Oy, Nastola 100.0 100.0 1 Aug 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007 RG Plc: 69.44 % -> 100 %
Pan-oston Oy, Nastola 100.0 0.0 1 Aug 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Selka-Line Oy, Nastola 100.0 0.0 30 Jun 2004 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Pohjolan Design-Talo Oy, Oulunsalo 90.1 90.1 1 Jan 2004 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Nivaelement Oy, Nivala 90.1 0.0 1 Dec 2006 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
RG Design-Talotekniikka Oy, Ii 63.2 0.0 1 Jul 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007 P D-T: 0 % -> 63.2 %
Balansor Oy, Espoo 100.0 100.0 1 Nov 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
MobileCRM Oy, Espoo 100.0 0.0 1 Nov 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Rekylator Oy , Helsinki 100.0 100.0 1 Jul 2003 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Hoivaala Oy, Somero 100.0 100.0 31 Jan 2004 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Hirviset Group Oy, Espoo 100.0 100.0 1 May 2006 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007
Incap Furniture Oy, Oulu 71.0 11.3 28 Feb 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007 RG Plc/HG: 47.3 %-> 71.0 %
Incap Furniture Trading Oy, Hollola 71.0 0.0 28 Feb 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007 RG Plc/HG: 47.3 %-> 71.0 %
Kiinteistö Oy Jokilaaksojen Kiinteistöt, Kärsämäki 71.0 0.0 28 Feb 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007 RG Plc/HG: 47.3 %-> 71.0 %
Incap Furniture Inc., United States 71.0 0.0 28 Feb 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007 RG Plc/HG: 47.3 %-> 71.0 %
OOO Incap Furniture, Russia 71.0 0.0 28 Feb 2007 1 Jan-31 Dec 2007 RG Plc/HG: 47.3 %-> 71.0 %
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Associates 

Ownership 
(%)

Book value, 
parent 

company
Closing date Equity *  

31 Dec 2007

Net profit 
1 Jan - 

31 Dec 2007

Stellatum Oy, Helsinki 34.0 238 31 Dec 2007 62 65
Valtimo Components Oyj, 
Valtimo 24.9 96 30 Sep 2007  

(9 months) -570 -274

Oy Cybersoft Ab, Tampere 37.5 88 31 Oct 2007 350 29

Arc Technology Oy, Helsinki 37.4 312 30 Nov 2007  
(11 months) 320 206

Widian Oy, Espoo 39.6 71 30 Nov 2007  
(11 months) -576 -349

ILP-Group Ltd Oy 33.4 473 30 Sep 2007  
(9 months) 1,934 549

Orienteq Capital Oy 30.0 3 31 Dec 2007 8 31
LoopM Oy, Helsinki 28.4 0
Lanux Oy, Helsinki 47.0 0
SG Systems Oy, Helsinki 35.0 0
Sportslink Group Oy, 
Helsinki 25.0 0

Total 1,280

* Equity excluding subordinated loans 

** Oy Cybersoft Ab’s accounting period ends on 31 October

P9. Receivables 

 

Receivables from group companies 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 
2007

31 Dec 
2006

Non-current
Trade receivables 61 61
Loan and other receiva-
bles 55,160 14,704

Accrued income 1,506 985
Total 56,727 15,750

Current
Trade receivables 615 245
Accrued income 3,184 307
Total 3,799 552

Other interest-bearing receivables

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 
2007

31 Dec 
2006

Non-current
Other receivables 1,380 0
Total 1,380 0

Current
Rental deposits 31 19
Receivable from disposal 
of associated company 
shares

55 6,793

Other collaterals 1,423 0
Total 1,509 6,812

**
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Other non-interest bearing receivables 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 
2007

31 Dec 
2006

VAT receivable 697 219
Receivable from 
disposal of group 
company shares

0 375

Receivables from  
related parties 52 0

Other receivables 0 2
Total 749 596

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 
2007

31 Dec 
2006

Deferred tax assets 1,899 1,350
Accrued interest 
income 1,318 30

Other prepaid expenses 
and accrued income 965 80

Total 4,182 1,460

Notes to equity and liabilities

P10. Shareholders’ equity

Shareholders’ equity 

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Share capital 1 Jan 23,018 14,584
Bonus issue  
11 Jan 2006 87

Directed issue  
13 Jan 2006 1,190

Share issue  
6 Apr 2006 5,100

Increase in share capital 
21 Jul 2006 611

Convertible bond  
conversion 23 Aug 2006

 116

Convertible bond  
conversion 6 Oct 2006 102

Convertible bond  
conversion 12 Dec 2006 968

Convertible bond  
conversion 27 Dec 2006 259

Convertible bond  
conversion 13 Feb 2007 621

Convertible bond  
conversion 19 Jun 2007 3

Share capital 31 Dec 23,642 23,018

Share issue 

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Share issue 1 Jan 0 0
Share issue 9 Mar 2006 
shareholders' meeting 0 21,600

Registration of share  
issue 6 Apr 2006 0 -21,600

Share issue 31 Dec 0 0

Share premium reserve 

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Share premium reserve 
1 Jan 24,195 1,245

Bonus issue 11 Jan 
2006 -87

Directed issue 13 Jan 
2006 3,150

Share issue 6 Apr 2006 16,500
Increase in share capital 
21 Jul 2006 1,006

Convertible bond 
conversion 23 Aug 2006 191

Convertible bond 
conversion 6 Oct 2006 168

Convertible bond 
conversion 12 Dec 2006 427

Convertible bond 
conversion 27 Dec 2006 1,595

Convertible bond 
conversion 13 Feb 2007 1,023

Convertible bond 
conversion 19 Jun 2007 6

Share premium reserve 
31 Dec 25,223 24,195

Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve 

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Paid-up unrestricted  
equity reserve 1 Jan 424

Free directed issue,  
registered 27 Oct 2006 1,035 424

Share issue,  
registered 29 Jun 2007 299,000

Share issue,  
registered 16 Jul 2007 44,850

Paid-up unrestricted 
equity reserve 31 Dec 345,309 424
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Retained earnings 

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Retained earnings 1 Jan 5,712 1,031
Profit for the previous 
financial year 500 7,829

Dividends -4,079 -3,148
Retained earnings  
31 Dec 2,133 5,712

 
Profit for the financial year 

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Profit for the  
financial year

10,490 500

Distributable funds

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Retained earnings 1 Jan 6,212 8,860
Dividends -4,079 -3,148
Profit for the financial year 10,490 500
Retained earnings 31 Dec 12,623 6,212
Paid-up unrestricted equity reserve 345,309 424
Distributable funds 31 Dec 357,932 424

During 2007 the company has, within the range of total distributable equity, given a EUR 1,380,000.00 
loan to the related party. The accrued interest for the loan amount to EUR 18,478.66.

 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Non-restricted equity of consolidated balance sheet 
(IFRS) excluding paid-up unrestricted equity reserve 
and equity portion of appropriations according to FAS 
(74 %)

16,382 11,636

 
P11. Liabilities 
 
Non-current liabilities

Non-current interest bearing debt 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Convertible subordinated bonds 0 9
Loans from financial institutions 4,005 1,235
Loans from group companies 0 28
Total 4,005 1,272

Shareholders’ equity

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 
2007

31 Dec 
2006

Total shareholders’ 
equity 406,797 53,848
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Non-current non-interest bearing debt 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Loans from associated companies 5 5
Total 5 5

Current liabilities

Current interest bearing debt 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Convertible subordinated bonds 0 1,643
Loans from financial institutions 1,280 380
Loans from group companies 0 5
Total 1,280 2,028

Current non-interest bearing debt 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Trade payables 379 160
Payables to group companies 7 1
Other debt 692 7,937
Accrued expenses and deferred income 1,397 328
Total 2,474 8,426

 

Other current non-interest bearing debt 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Income taxes 633 0
Earn-out liabilities 0 7,907
Other current liabilities 59 30
Total 692 7,937

Convertible bonds and options

Convertible bonds and convertible subor-

dinated loans	 	

The company issued a convertible bond loan 

of EUR 7,200,000.00 on 18 November 2004.

During the financial years 2005-2007, the bond 

has been fully converted into new shares of the 

company. Currently the company does not have 

convertible bonds or option loans.

Options	

The company has registered an option scheme 

I/2005 (decision made on general meeting 

8 Dec 2005), which entitles option holders to 

subscribe for a maximum of 2,700,000 shares 

in the company. The share subscription period 

is 1 July 2007 through 30 June 2015 for various 

options denoted with different letters, and the 

subscription price 	range is EUR 0.44–0.94.  As 

a result of subscriptions made with the I/2005 

options, Ruukki Group Plc’s share capital may 

be increased by a maximum of EUR 459,000.00 

and the number of shares by a maximum of 

2,700,000 new shares. A total of 675,000 op-

tions had been offered to company executives. 

The Company’s board of directors has on 12 

December 2007 decided on the issuing of op-

tion rights entitling to shares in the company 

based on the authorisation issued by the annual 

general shareholders’ meeting held on 20 April 

2007. A maximum of 7,350,000 option rights 
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will be issued, which will entitle the recipients 

to subscribe for a total of 7,350,000 new shares 

in Ruukki Group Plc. The Company’s board of 

directors can, if it so chooses, decide that in-

stead of new shares, option right holders will be 

offered treasury shares held by the Company, 

or other shares will be allotted for purchase by 

option right holders at a price equivalent to the 

subscription price, in which case the Company’s 

shareholding will not be diluted in this respect.

Pledges and contingent liabilities

Business mortgages

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

In company’s holding 2,523 2,523
Pledged as security with financial institutions 1,682 1,682
Total 4,205 4,205

Guarantees for direct subsidiaries financing

EUR ‘000 maximum liability 
31 Dec 2007

maximum liability 
31 Dec 2006

Guarantees for group companies’ financing:
Cheque account 0 50
Leasing limit 0 100
Total 0 150

 
Guarantees for other group companies’ financing

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Guarantee for trade payables 102 114
Total 102 114

 
Guarantees for group companies financing limits

EUR ‘000
credit limit in 

use / loan
31 Dec 2007

maximum 
liability

31 Dec 2007

maximum 
liability 

31 Dec 2006

Guarantees for bank guarantee limits 0 1,400 1,400
Guarantees for equipment financing 1,479 1,840 1,840
Factoring 0 0 900
Total 1,479 3,240 4,140

 
During 2007 the company has made a EUR 2,000,000.00 fixed-term deposit that has been pledged as 
collateral for a group company’s bank guarantee limit related to raw material purchases.
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Guarantees for group companies loans

EUR ‘000
credit limit in 

use/loan
31 Dec 2007

maximun liability
31 Dec 2007

maximun 
liability

31 Dec 2006

Bonds 1,671 1,764 2,452
Total 4,630 8,244 10,732

Ruukki Group Plc has given payment guarantees in total of EUR 23,961,100.00 to liabilities related to 
group company’s machinery and equipment purchases.

Leasing liabilities

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Leasing liabilities
Within the next financial year 32 7
After the next financial year 85 21
Total 117 28

Other liabilities

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Rental deposits, paid in cash 31 19
Other collateral, paid in cash 1,423 0
Total 1,454 19

Rental liabilities 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Unlimited term contracts, liability for term of notice 11 25

After the end of the accounting period, the company has given notice to the above presented  
unlimited term rental contract.

Fixed-term contracts 

EUR ‘000 31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

Within the next financial year 38 65
After the next financial year 0 38
Total 38 103

After the end of the accounting period, the 

company has made a fixed-term rental agree-

ment. The rental liabilities are as follows:

Rents due within the next 
financial year 151

Rents due after the next 
financial year 469

Total 620

Other commitments and liabilities	

Ruukki Group Plc has given guarantees for 

group companies for their loans and other fi-

nancing agreements.		

Some of the liability-based financing agree-

ments include covenants that are tied to Group 

key figures or that restrict 	 the payment of 

Group company liabilities to the parent com-

pany or that require the parent company not to 

divest significant parts of the business opera-

tions without consulting the financiers first.	

Received guarantees		

The company has received pledged shares and 

absolute guarantees as a security for current 

interest-bearing receivables. Considering their 

amount and grade, guarantee can be regarded 

as sufficient. 		  	
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Earn-out liabilities related to share-swap 

agreements	 	

All shares given based on earn-out liabilities 

related to share purchase agreements made 

during previous accounting periods have been 

registered in the Trade Register during the 

accounting period. No new share-swap agree-

ments have been made during the accounting 

period that would obligate the company to pay 

earn-out liabilities.	

	

Earn-out liabilities related to share pur-

chase agreements	

During the accounting period, the company has 

settled all earn-out liabilities related to previous 

share purchase agreements. No earn-out liabili-

ties are related to the share purchase agree-

ments carried out during 2007.	

Pension liabilities		

The company does not have any pension liabili-

ties in excess of the statutory TEL-system on 31 

December 2007. 

The CEO has the right to retire at the age of 

60 years. Moreover, the CEO is entitled to ad-

ditional pension insurance that, combined with 

statutory pension coverage, will ensure the 

CEO a monthly pension corresponding to sixty 

percent of his monthly salary.	

Related party loans		

The company has granted CEO Matti Vikkula a 

loan of EUR 1.380.000 as a part of his incen-

tive scheme. The interest is 12 months euribor. 

Loan period ends on 30 September 2012. The 

loan will be due earlier in case Matti Vikkula 

terminates his employment or sells the Ruukki 

Group Plc shares acquired with the loan. Vikkula 

has the right to retire the loan or repay a part 

of it before the agreed due date. The loan has 

no guarantees.	

Additional information on personnel

Personnel, annual average (all employees)

2007 2006

Employees 7 5

 
Management remuneration 

2007 2006

Chief Executive Officer 1,750 133
Board members 69 34

Subordinated loans and terms

Convertible subordinated bond

The company issued a convertible bond loan of EUR 7,200,000.00 on 18 November 2004. 
 

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

Convertible bonds 1 Jan 1,652 7,097
Convertible bond conversion 21 Jul 2006 -1,617
Convertible bond conversion 23 Aug 2006 -307
Convertible bond conversion 6 Oct 2006 -270
Convertible bond conversion 12 Dec 2006 -686
Convertible bond conversion 27 Dec 2006 -2,564
Convertible bond conversion 13 Feb 2007 -1,643
Convertible bond conversion 19 Jun 2007 -9
Convertible bonds 31 Dec 0 1,652

Interests for the convertible bond have been recognised as an expense: in 2007 EUR 4,336.99 and in 

2006 EUR 396,580.95. Interests paid in 2007 were EUR 167,018.36.
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Information obligated to a group com-

pany:			 

The company is the group parent company: 

Ruukki Group Plc, domicile Espoo (Keilasatama 

5, 02150 Espoo)

Share capital

Registered Class number of shares votes/share

Number of shares 1 Jan 2006 A 86,300,880 1
Bonus issue 11 Jan 2006 A 0 1
Directed issue 13 Jan 2006 A 7,000,000 1
Share issue 6 Apr 2006 A 30,000,000 1
Increase in share capital 21 Jul 2006 A 3,593,000 1
Convertible bond conversion 23 Aug 2006 A 683,000 1
Convertible bond conversion 6 Oct 2006 A 600,000 1
Directed free issue 10 Nov 2006 A 564,857 1
Convertible bond conversion 12 Dec 2006 A 1,525,000 1
Convertible bond conversion 27 Dec 2006 A 5,697,000 1
Number of shares 31 Dec 2006 A 135,963,737 1

Convertible bond conversion 13 Feb 2007 A 3,652,000 1
Directed issue 20 Apr 2007 A 598,285 1
Convertible bond conversion 19 Jun 2007 A 20,000 1
Share issue 29 Jun 2007 A 130,000,000 1
Directed issue 6 Jul 2007 A 300,000 1
Share issue 18 Jul 2007 A 19,500,000 1
Number of shares 31 Dec 2007 290,034,022 1

The registered share capital of the company was on 31 Dec 2007 EUR 23,642,049.60. After the end of 
accounting period 2007 the company has not issued new shares.

The maximum dilution effect of valid commitments is presented below: 

 
Number of shares 31 Dec 2007 290,034,022
option scheme I/2005, options, max. 2,700,000
incentive scheme 2007, options, max * 7,350,000
Number of shares 31 Dec 2007, diluted 300,084,022

 * only options are included, not potential shares, that according to the terms of incentive scheme 
2007 will potentially be issued
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Other notes

Market value of securities held 

EUR ‘000 Book value  
31 Dec 2007

Market value  
31 Dec 2007

  Book value  
31 Dec 2006

Other securities 173,056 173,470 0
Mutual funds 413

Difference between market and book values 413 
0.24 %

Information on shareholders	

On 31 December 2007, the company had a total of 4,283 shareholders, of which 12 were nominee-

registered. The number of shares in issue on 31 December 2007 was 290,034,022.	

Largest shareholders, 31 December 2007

Shareholder Shares %

Nordea Bank Finland Plc 75,883,960 26.2%

Nordea Bank Finland Plc, nominee-registered 57,776,322 19.9%

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken, nominee-registered 43,135,512 14.9%

Oy Herttakakkonen Ab 41,075,297 14.2%

Evli Bank Plc 14,522,884 5.0%

Kankaala Markku 9,601,791 3.3%

Svenska Handelsbanken Ab, nominee-registered 8,841,036 3.1%

Hukkanen Esa Veikko 5,007,500 1.7%

Procomex S.A. 4,629,215 1.6%

Glitnir Oyj 3,998,068 1.4%

Other shareholders 25,562,437 8.8%

Total shares registered 290,034,022 100.0%
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Share ownership distribution on 31 December 2007:

Shares Number of
shareholders

% share of
shareholders

Number of
shares held

% of shares
held

1-100 584 13.6 % 39,091 0.0 %

101-1.000 2,353 54.9 % 1,287,509 0.4 %

1.001-10.000 1,188 27.7 % 4,002,438 1.4 %

10.001-100.000 127 3.0 % 3,055,480 1.1 %

100.001-1.000.000 14 0.3 %   4,896,396 1.7 %

1.000.001-10.000.000 12 0.3 % 44,311,633 15.3 %

yli,10.000.000 5 0.1 % 232,393,975 80.1 %

Total 4,283 100.0 % 289,986,522 100.0 %

of which nominee-registered 12 113,305,072 39.1 %

On common account 47,500 0.0 %

Total outstanding 290,034,022 100.0 %

 

 

Board members’ and CEO’s ownership

31 Dec 2007 Shares Forward contracts Total

BOARD
Mikko Haapanen 0 0 0
Markku Kankaala 9,602,191 0 9,602,191
Matti Lainema 47,200 0 47,200
Kai Mäkelä 41,075,317 19,473,100 60,548,417
Timo Poranen 0 0 0
Arno Pelkonen 0 0 0
Ahti Vilppula 4,634,215 68,181,500 72,815,715
CEO
Matti Vikkula 3,189,400 0 3,189,400
Board + CEO total 58,548,323 87,654,600 146,202,923
All shares outstanding 290,024,022
Proportion of all shares 50.4 %

Share ownership distribution 

Shareholders by shareholder type on  
31 December 2007: 

%  
of shares

Finnish shareholders 97.83%
of which:

Companies and business 
enterprises 17.45%

Banking and insurance 
companies 70.79%

Non-profit organisations 0.00%
Households 9.59%

Foreign shareholders 2.15%
Shares on common account 0.02%
Total 100.00%
Of which nominee-registered 39.07%

 

 

Ruukki Group board members and CEO owned 

in total 146,202,923 Ruukki Group Plc shares on 

31 Dec 2007 (31 Dec 2006: 83,146,388) when 

including both shares and forward contracts 

owned either directly, through persons closely 

associated with them or controlled companies. 

This corresponds to approximately 50.4 %  

(61.2 %) of all outstanding shares that were reg-

istered to the Trade Register on 31 December.	
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Auditors’ fees

EUR ‘000 2007 2006

KPMG Oy Ab
Audit 61 22
Other services 289 101

Board’s proposition of dividend payout	

Board of directors proposes the annual general 

meeting, to be summoned later and separately, 

to pay out of the retained earnings 31 Dec 2007 

a dividend of EUR 0.04 per share totalling EUR 

11,601,360.88.	
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Espoo 26 February 2008 
 

Matti Lainema 

Chairman of the Board

 

Timo Poranen 

Member of the Board

 

Matti Vikkula 

CEO

Reino Tikkanen 
Authorised Public Accountant

KPMG Oy Ab

Antti Kääriäinen 
Authorised Public Accountant

THE AUDITORS’ NOTE	

The above Report of the Board of Directors and the financial statements have been prepared in  
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Our auditors’ report has been issued today. 

Espoo February 27, 2008

Kai Mäkelä 

Vice chairman of the Board

 

Markku Kankaala 

Member of the Board

Mikko Haapanen 

Member of the Board

 

Ahti Vilppula 

Member of the Board

SIGNATURES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND REPORT OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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AUDITORS´ REPORT (Translation)

To the shareholders of Ruukki Group Plc

We have audited the accounting records, the 

report of the Board of Directors, the financial 

statements and the administration of Ruukki 

Group Plc for the period 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2007. 

The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive 

Officer have prepared the consolidated finan-

cial statements, prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards as 

adopted by the EU, containing the consolidated 

balance sheet,  income statement, cash flow 

statement, statement on the changes in equity 

and notes to the financial statements, as well 

as the report of the Board of Directors and the 

parent company’s financial statements, pre-

pared in accordance with prevailing regulations 

in Finland, containing the parent company’s bal-

ance sheet, income statement, cash flow state-

ment and notes to the financial statements. 

Based on our audit, we express an opinion on 

the consolidated financial statements, as well 

as on the report of the Board of Directors, the 

parent company’s financial statements and the 

administration.

We conducted our audit in accordance with 

Finnish Standards on Auditing. Those standards 

require that we perform the audit to obtain rea-

sonable assurance about whether the report of 

the Board of Directors and the financial state-

ments are free of material misstatement. The 

purpose of our audit of the administration is to 

examine whether the members of the Board of 

Directors and the Managing Director of the par-

ent company have complied with the rules of 

the Limited Liability Companies Act.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion the consolidated financial 

statements, prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards as 

adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view, 

as defined in those standards and in the Finnish 

Accounting Act, of the consolidated results of 

operations as well as of the financial position. 

Parent company’s financial statements, 

report of the Board of Directors and ad-

ministration

In our opinion the parent company’s financial 

statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the Finnish Accounting Act and other ap-

plicable Finnish rules and regulations. The par-

ent company’s financial statements give a true 

and fair view of the parent company’s result of 

operations and of the financial position. 

In our opinion the report of the Board of 

Directors has been prepared in accordance with 

the Finnish Accounting Act and other applica-

ble Finnish rules and regulations. The report 

of the Board of Directors is consistent with the 

consolidated financial statements and the par-

ent company’s financial statements and gives 

a true and fair view, as defined in the Finnish 

Accounting Act, of the result of operations and 

of the financial position.

The consolidated financial statements and the 

parent company’s financial statements can 

be adopted and the members of the Board of 

Directors and the Managing Director of the par-

ent company can be discharged from liability 

for the period audited by us. The proposal by 

the Board of Directors regarding the disposal 

of distributable funds is in compliance with the 

Limited Liability Companies Act.

Espoo February 27, 2008

KPMG Oy Ab

Antti Kääriäinen 

Authorised Public Accountant

Reino Tikkanen 

Authorised Public Accountant
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GOVERNING PRINCIPLES IN BRIEF

General

In its operations, Ruukki Group complies with 

the current legislation and the regulations 

issued pursuant to it, and with generally ac-

cepted practices. Ruukki Group adheres to the 

corporate governance recommendations for 

public companies listed on the Helsinki Stock 

Exchange, with the major deviations that the 

parent company’s Board of Directors does not 

yet have written standing orders, rather the 

Board of Directors’ operations are based on 

established courses of action and according to 

the Board’s own view, exactly half of the Board 

members are independent from the company 

and its major shareholders.

General and business management within 

Ruukki Group are based on a clearly defined 

organisational structure, clearly specified du-

ties and responsibilities, consistent planning 

and reporting systems, and coherent operating 

instructions.  Ruukki Group operates in vari-

ous lines of business, in which the customers, 

earnings logic, and other key elements may be 

highly dissimilar, which is why the operations 

are organised into separate business segments, 

in which most of the operative decisions are 

made. Ruukki Group Plc’s Board of Directors 

has decided to change the Group’s strategy 

so that in future the targeted emphasis is on 

wood-based industrial operations which may 

significantly change the Group’s management 

and governing principles. 

Annual General Meeting

Before an Annual General Meeting, sufficient in-

formation regarding the issues to be addressed 

is provided to Ruukki Group’s shareholders, pri-

marily in the form of stock exchange releases.  

Material presented at the AGM is available to 

the shareholders at the company’s head office 

in Espoo. Copies of the material may be deliv-

ered to shareholders on request. 

The AGM will be organised in a way that al-

lows the shareholders to exercise their rights 

as shareholders effectively. The CEO and 

Chairman of the Board attend the AGM, as do a 

sufficient number of Board members in view of 

the nature of the issues to be discussed. First-

time candidates for Board membership are, as 

a rule, present at the AGM. 

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is in charge of the com-

pany’s management and of the appropriate ar-

rangement of the business activities. The Board 

is responsible for the tasks specified in the 

Finnish Companies Act and in the company’s 

Articles of Association. The Board’s duty is to 

direct the company’s activities so as to generate 

maximum long-term added value for the capital 

invested. The Board’s operations are based on 

established courses of action.

To fulfil its duties, the Board:

Devises a business strategy for the Group•	

Supervises the strategy’s implementation•	

Makes decisions on the Group’s capital struc-•	

ture

Makes decisions on significant investments, •	

credits, guarantees, and other commit-

ments 

Reviews and adopts interim reports, finan-•	

cial statements, reports on operations, and 

forecasts 

Determines the Group’s organisational struc-•	

ture

Appoints the CEO of the parent company •	

and determines the salary and other benefits 

offered to the CEO

Appoints the members of the Board of •	

Directors in each of the key subsidiaries

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Makes proposals to the Annual General •	

Meeting and calls the AGM

Determines the general guidelines for the •	

Group’s operation

Members of the Board are elected at the Annual 

General Meeting. According to the Articles of 

Association, the Board consists of three to nine 

members. Board members are elected for a 

term that ends at the end of the Annual General 

Meeting following their appointment. The Board 

elects a chairman from among its members. 

The composition of the Board must meet the 

requirements set by the company’s size, market 

position, and line of business. 

The board of directors decided to establish an 

audit committee in May 2007. The members of 

the committee are Matti Lainema (chairman), 

Mikko Haapanen and Timo Poranen.

In 2007 the Board of Directors met 24 times, 

with an average attendance rate of 89 %. 

Corporate governance recommendations state 

that majority of the Board members should 

be independent from the company and two of 

this majority also independent from the major 

shareholders. The Board estimates that of the 

six members of the Board, three are independ-

ent from the company. Each of these three is 

also independent from the major shareholders 

in the manner that the corporate governance 

recommendations indicate. The Board esti-

mates that the independent members of the 

Board are Mikko Haapanen, Matti Lainema and 

Timo Poranen.

The CEO and other management

The Board of Directors appoints the CEO. The 

CEO runs the day-to-day administration of the 

company in accordance with the instructions 

provided by the Board. The CEO is not a Board 

member.

The company does not have a separate 

Executive Board, group’s management consists 

of CEO Matti Vikkula, Executive Vice President 

Antti Kivimaa, CFO Jukka Havia and Business 

Development Director Esa Hukkanen. 

Remuneration

A decision was made at the Annual General 

Meeting of the company on 20 April 2007 to 

pay members of the Board the following annual 

fees: Chairman of the Board EUR 12,000.00, 

Vice-chairman EUR 9,000.00, and other Board 

members EUR 6,000.00. 

All matters related to remuneration payable 

to the CEO must be approved by the Board 

of Directors. In determining the remuneration 

payable, the time needed to carry out the du-

ties, the general situation of the company, and 

current standard practices are taken into ac-

count. The terms and conditions of the CEO’s 

employment are specified in a written contract 

approved by the Board. During 2007 Antti 

Kivimaa was the CEO between 1 January and 

31 August and Matti Vikkula from 1 September 

onwards. In 2007, the CEO’s salary, including 

fringe benefits, amounted to EUR 238,158.00 

compared with EUR 133,338.00 in 2006. In 

addition, gross amount of bonus salaries paid 

to the CEO totalled EUR 824,275.00 in 2007 

(2006: EUR 0.00). 

The remuneration of other senior management 

is determined by the Board.

Synthetic option 

CEO Matti Vikkula will be entitled to a mon-

etary bonus that will be tied, based on various 

steps, to the value development of one million 

Ruukki Group shares up until 2011.  The costs 

recognised in the Group’s financial statements 

for this synthetic option scheme totalled EUR 

126,628.90.

Option scheme I/2005 

The company’s I/2005 option scheme (decided 

at general meeting 8 Dec 2005, specified at 

general meeting 20 Apr 2007) entitles the op-

tion holders to subscribe for a maximum of 

2,700,000 new shares in the company. The 

share subscription period is staggered through 

the period of 1 July 2007–30 June 2015 for 

various options denoted with different let-

ters, and the subscription price range is EUR 

0.44–0.94. As a result of subscriptions made 

on the basis of rights under the I/2005 option 

scheme, Ruukki Group Plc’s share capital may 

be increased by a maximum of EUR 459,000.00 

and the number of shares by a maximum of 

2,700,000 new shares. Of these options a total 

of 675,000 options (representing about 0.2 % 
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of the registered number of shares) have been 

issued to key personnel of the company, con-

sisting of 225,000 A-options, 225,000 B-options 

and 225,000 C-options. So far none of these 

options have been exercised. The share sub-

scription period for A-options has started on 1 

Jul 2007 and will expire on 30 Jun 2010. For 

B-options the share subscription period is 1 Jul 

2008 – 30 Jun 2011 and for C- options 1 Jul 

2009 – 30 Jun 2012.

Option expenses related to option rights granted 

to the CEO and recognised in the consolidated 

income statement 2007 (during 1 Jan – 31 Aug 

2007) amounted to EUR 64,837.89. During the 

previous year (1 Jan – 31 Dec 2006) these ex-

penses totalled EUR 81,903.50.

Share-based incentive scheme 2007

Ruukki Group Plc’s board of directors decided 

on 12 December 2007 to establish a share-

based incentive scheme for key persons in 

the Company and its group for the years 

2008-2010. Ruukki Group Plc’s board of direc-

tors and CEO are not within the scope of the 

incentive scheme. Key persons will be issued 

option rights, and new shares in Ruukki Group 

Plc will be offered to them for subscription, on 

the basis of the incentive scheme.                                                  

The Company’s board of directors decided on 

the issuing of option rights entitling to shares in 

the company based on the authorisation issued 

by the Annual General Meeting held on 20 April 

2007. A maximum of 7,350,000 option rights 

will be issued, which will entitle the recipients 

to subscribe for a total of 7,350,000 new shares 

in Ruukki Group Plc. The Company’s board of 

directors can, if it so chooses, decide that in-

stead of new shares, option right holders will be 

offered treasury shares held by the Company, 

or other shares will be allotted for purchase by 

option right holders at a price equivalent to the 

subscription price, in which case the Company’s 

shareholding will not be diluted in this respect.                                            

The purpose of the option rights is to encour-

age commitment in the key persons as well as 

to reward them for meeting the targets set an-

nually in advance by the board of directors for 

2008, 2009 and 2010. The targets will be con-

nected to   the realisation of Ruukki Group Plc’s 

international expansionary business strategy 

(e.g. the completion of the Kostroma production 

facility or the realisation of separately defined 

financial targets). The number of option rights 

to be issued to key persons will also depend on 

each key person’s position or duties.                                                             

Internal control and risk management

The principles of internal control are confirmed 

by the Board of Directors. The internal control 

has been outsourced to an external profes-

sional organisation. The Group’s management 

and subsidiaries’ boards of directors are in 

charge of day-to-day business management 

and administrative control.  The internal control 

and risk management needs and implementa-

tion are monitored on a continuous basis for 

consistency with developments in the company 

and its business operations, and development 

projects will be launched if deemed necessary. 

In addition, as a part of the preparation of the 

Group’s investment projects, external specialist 

organisations have been hired for separate risk 

planning and management.

Insiders

The company complies with the Guidelines 

for Insiders issued by the Helsinki Stock 

Exchange.

The company’s permanent public insider reg-

ister consists of the members the Board of 

Directors of Ruukki Group Plc, and its Chief 

Executive Officer, Executive Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer, as well as the auditors 

of the company. All permanent public insiders 

and the statutory information about them, their 

related parties and the entities controlled by 

them or in which they exercise influence, have 

been entered into Ruukki Group Plc’s register 

of public insiders, and is published on the com-

pany’s website. 

Ruukki Group imposes a restriction on trad-

ing for insiders which forbids trading with the 

company’s shares by insiders for fourteen days 

before the publication of financial reports. 

Observation of insider regulations is monitored 

by taking samples at certain intervals of trading 

by insiders in the company’s shares.

In addition to the public insider register, the 

company holds a company-specific insider reg-
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ister of persons that regularly receive insider 

company information that essentially affect the 

share price. These persons include all Ruukki 

Group Plc employees (excluding those belong-

ing to the public insider register) as well as all 

other employees of the Group or third-party 

service providers that regularly obtain insider 

information.

When necessary, Ruukki Group sets up a sepa-

rate insider register for major projects. Insiders 

for a specific project are considered to be those 

who, in connection with the insider project, ob-

tain information about the company that might 

have a significant impact on the value of the 

company’s shares if it were published. The es-

tablishment of a project is decided by the Board 

of Directors or the CEO.

Audit

According to the Articles of Association, the 

company has at least one and no more than 

three auditors. If there is only one auditor, the 

company must have one deputy auditor also. 

The auditor and his/her deputy must be an 

auditor or an auditing firm approved by the 

Central Chamber of Commerce. Auditors are 

elected for a term covering one financial year. 

As of 7 June 2005, the company auditors are 

Reino Tikkanen and the auditing firm KPMG, 

with Antti Kääriäinen as the principal auditor. 

Audit-related services in 2007 generated costs 

of approximately EUR 115 thousand (2006: EUR 

63 thousand)  to the company and the subsidi-

aries. Costs for non-audit services in the 2007 

financial year amounted to approximately EUR 

303 thousand (2006: EUR 93 thousand).

Communications

The company ensures that adequate and cor-

rect information regarding the company and 

its shares is available to the markets. Financial 

indicators, corporate governance principles, 

stock exchange releases, and stock exchange 

notifications are posted on the company’s Web 

site.  Information included in the public insider 

register is available on the company’s Web 

site, at http://www.ruukkigroup.fi/in_English/

Investors/Insiders.iw3.

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS IN 2007

Annual General Meeting of 20 April 2007 

in Espoo

The Annual General Meeting approved the finan-

cial statements for the financial year 1 January 

2006 - 31 December 2006. The Annual General 

Meeting decided to pay out a dividend of EUR 

0.03 per share from company’s retained earn-

ings. However the new shares issued in February 

2007 in conjunction with the conversions of con-

vertible bond notes are not entitled to the divi-

dend. Also, the new shares which will be issued 

through the free directed issue decided today by 

the Annual General Meeting are not entitled to 

this dividend. 

The Annual General Meeting discharged the 

Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer 

from liability.

The number of Board members was decided to 

be eight. The existing members of the Board 

were fully re-elected, including the following in-

dividuals: Fredrik Danielsson, Mikko Haapanen, 

Timo Honkala, Markku Kankaala, Matti Lainema, 

Kai Mäkelä, Matti Vikkula and Ahti Vilppula. After 

the Annual General Meeting the Board organ-

ised itself so that Matti Vikkula continues as the 

Chairman of the Board and Kai Mäkelä as the 

Vice Chairman of the Board. 

The Annual General Meeting resolved the com-

pensation of the Board of Directors as follows: 

Chairman of the Board EUR 12,000/year, Vice-

The address of the company’s Web site is  

www.ruukkigroup.fi
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chairman EUR 9,000/year, and Member EUR 

6,000/year. 

The Annual General Meeting re-elected the cur-

rent Auditors KPMG Ltd and Mr. Reino Tikkanen, 

APA. 

The Annual General Meeting decided that the 

Articles of Association of the Company will be 

partly amended in accordance with the Board of 

Directors’ proposition. 

The Annual General Meeting decided in ac-

cordance with the Board proposition to carry 

out directed free share issue totalling 598,285 

new shares by deviating from the shareholders’ 

pre-emptive right of subscription so that new 

shares are issued to sellers of Pan-Oston Ltd and 

Lappipaneli Ltd. This directed share issue relates 

to earn-out liabilities based on above mentioned 

companies’ financial year 2006 performance.

The Annual General Meeting decided to author-

ise the Board of Directors to decide on share 

issue, as well as on granting option rights and 

other special rights that entitle to shares. At the 

maximum 25,000,000 new or existing shares, 

equalling approximately 17.9 per cent of the total 

number of shares, may be issued by virtue of this 

authorisation. The authorisation is valid for two 

years.

It was decided that the terms of the option pro-

gram I/2005 shall be updated taking into account 

the new Companies Act. 

The Annual General Meeting decided that the 

shares in the joint book-entry account, of whose 

part a registration of ownership to a book-entry 

account has not been demanded even though 

five years have passed since the registration 

date, shall be sold. The balance of the joint book-

entry account on 10 April 2007 totals 47,500 

shares that correspond to approximately 0.3 per 

cent of the total number of shares. The shares in 

question shall be sold via the stock exchange in 

the name of the owners of the shares. 

Extraordinary General Meeting of 12 June 

2007 in Espoo 

Arno Pelkonen and Timo Poranen were elected 

as new board members.

Mikko Haapanen, Markku Kankaala, Matti 

Lainema, Kai Mäkelä, Matti Vikkula and Ahti 

Vilppula will continue in Ruukki Group’s Board. 

Board members Timo Honkala and Fredrik 

Danielsson have announced that they will leave 

the board as of 12 June 2007.

The extraordinary general meeting decided that 

the articles of association of the company will be 

partly amended in accordance with the board of 

directors’ proposition so that the business defini-

tion of the company was decided to be amended, 

and moreover, the company’s English business 

name was decided to be Ruukki Group Plc. 

The extraordinary general meeting decided in ac-

cordance with the board of directors’ proposition 

that a directed share issue against payment is to 

be carried out, and furthermore, the board was 

authorised to decide on an additional share issue. 

The funds are primarily intended to finance the 

construction of a sawmill and a chemi-mechanical 

market pulp mill or alternatively a chemical pulp 

mill in the Kostroma region in Russia. In the share 

issue a minimum of 100,000,000 and a maxi-

mum of 130,000,000 new shares will be offered 

against payment for company’s shareholders and 

corresponding parties and to institutional inves-

tors. The subscription price will be a minimum of 

EUR 1.90 and a maximum of EUR 2.90 per share. 

In addition, the board of directors is authorized 

to offer a maximum of 20,000,000 new shares to 

cover any possible over-allotments. 

FLAGGING NOTICES

Notices issued under Chapter 2, section 10 of 

the Securities Market Act in the period from 1 

January 2007 to 26 February 2008.

Mandatum Securities Oy’s ownership of the •	

share capital and voting rights of Ruukki 

Group Plc exceeded one twentieth (1/20) on 

2 January 2007.

Mandatum Securities Oy’s ownership of the •	

share capital and voting rights of Ruukki 

Group Plc fell below one twentieth (1/20) on 

16 March 2007.

Nordea Bank Finland Plc’s ownership of the •	

share capital and voting rights of Ruukki 

Group Plc exceeded three twentieths (3/20) 

on 16 March 2007. At the time of this dis-

closure, Nordea Bank Finland Plc also an-

nounced that its ownership will fall below 

one tenth (1/10) as the forward contracts 

mature in April 2007.
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Nordea Bank Finland Plc acquired Ruukki •	

Group Plc shares and made forward contracts 

concerning the shares on 20 April 2007, with 

the forward agreements maturing in June 

2007, December 2007 and January 2008. 

As the forward contracts mature in January 

2008, the ownership of Nordea Bank Finland 

Plc will fall below one twentieth (1/20).

Evli Bank Plc’s ownership of the share capital •	

and voting rights of Ruukki Group Plc fell 

below one twentieth (1/20) upon the trans-

actions made on 21 June 2007. 

Markku Kankaala’s ownership of the share •	

capital and voting rights of Ruukki Group 

Plc fell below one twentieth (1/20) upon the 

transactions made on 21 June 2007.

Oy Herttakakkonen Ab’s ownership of the •	

share capital and voting rights of Ruukki 

Group Plc fell below one fifth (1/5) as a re-

sult of the share issue decisions and share 

subscriptions made on 21 June 2007.

The combined ownership of Helsingin •	

Mekaanikontalo Oy and Procomex S.A. of 

the share capital and voting rights of Ruukki 

Group Plc fell below one quarter (1/4) as 

a result of share issue decisions and share 

subscriptions made on 21 June 2007. At the 

same time, Helsingin Mekaanikontalo Oy 

announced that its ownership of the share 

capital and voting rights of Ruukki Group Plc 

fell below one tenth (1/10). 

Nordea Bank Finland Plc’s ownership of the •	

share capital and voting rights of Ruukki 

Group Plc fell below three twentieths (3/20) 

upon the share lending agreement made on 

25 June 2007. As the forward contracts ma-

ture in January 2008, the ownership will fall 

below one twentieth (1/20). 

JPMorgan Chase & Co has announced that •	

its subsidiaries have acquired 12,666,818 

Ruukki Group Plc shares in a share issue 

commencing on 25 June 2007. JPMorgan 

Chase & Co’s ownership of the share capital 

and voting rights of Ruukki Group Plc ex-

ceeded one twentieth (1/20) as a result of 

the transactions.

Nordea Bank Finland Plc’s ownership of the •	

share capital and voting rights of Ruukki 

Group Plc has, upon the share transaction 

made on 26 June 2007 and considering 

the share lending agreement concerning 

9,500,000 Ruukki Group Plc’s RUG1V shares 

made on 25 June 2007 with a value date 

of 29 June 2007, exceeded three twentieths 

(3/20). Upon the maturity of the forward 

contracts maturing in December 2007, the 

ownership will fall below three twentieths 

(3/20). Upon the maturity of Ruukki Group 

Plc’s forward contracts in January 2008, the 

ownership will fall below one tenth (1/10).

Nordea Bank Finland Plc announced on 16 •	

July 2007 that its ownership of the share 

capital and voting rights of Ruukki Group 

Plc has exceeded one fifth (1/5). Upon the 

maturity of forward contracts maturing in 

December 2007, the ownership of Nordea 

Bank Finland Plc will fall below three twen-

tieths (3/20), and upon the maturity of 

forward contracts maturing in January 2008 

the ownership will fall below one twentieth 

(1/20).

Moncheur & Cie SA (registration number •	

660.0.096.997-7, Geneva) and Pierre 

Moncheur announced in August that as a 

result of share transactions concluded on 

27 June 2007, the combined ownership of 

Moncheur & Cie SA, Pierre Moncheur and 

their controlled or related parties in Ruukki 

Group Plc now represents less than one  

twentieth (1/20) of the share capital and 

voting rights of Ruukki Group Plc.

According to the announcement of Oy •	

Herttakakkonen Ab (business ID number 

0761602-7) its ownership exceeded one fifth 

(1/5) of the share capital and voting rights 

of Ruukki Group Plc in consequence of for-

ward contract transactions carried out on 11 

September 2007.

JPMorgan Chase & Co. (English registration •	

number 2711006) announced that owner-

ship of its subsidiaries exceeded one tenth 

(1/10) of the share capital and voting rights 

of Ruukki Group Plc in consequence of trans-

actions carried out on 20 September 2007.  

Nordea Bank AB (publ) (Swedish registra-•	

tion number 516406-0120) announced on 

22 November 2007 that the ownership of 

its Finnish subsidiary Nordea Bank Finland 

Plc (business ID 1680235-8) has exceeded 

1/4 of the share capital and voting rights of 

Ruukki Group Plc. At the same time Nordea 

Bank AB (publ) announced that Nordea 

Bank Finland Plc has entered into Ruukki 

Group share forward contracts of which 

271,991 expire in December 2007, 493,257 

in January 2008 and 30,000 in June 2008. 

As the December 2007 forward contracts ex-
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pire, the ownership of Nordea Bank Finland 

Plc will fall below 1/5, and as the January 

forward contracts expire, below 1/20 of the 

share capital and voting rights of Ruukki 

Group Plc.

Evli Bank Plc’s (business ID 0533755-0) own-•	

ership of the share capital and voting rights 

of Ruukki Group Plc exceeded one twentieth 

(1/20) upon the transactions made on 7 

December 2007. 

Procomex S.A (registration number R.C. •	

Luxembourg B 57.877) announced that its 

ownership exceeds three twentieth (3/20) 

of the share capital and voting rights of 

Ruukki Group Plc in consequence of forward 

contract transactions carried out on 19 and 

21 December 2007. Procomex S.A. also an-

nounced that the combined ownership of 

Procomex S.A. and Helsingin Mekaanikontalo 

Oy (business ID number 1076761-9) to-

gether exceeds one fourth (1/4) of the share 

capital and voting rights of Ruukki Group 

Plc.

In its flagging notice given on 28 December •	

2007 Nordea Bank AB (publ) (Swedish reg-

istration number 516406-0120) referred 

to announcement that was made on 22 

November 2007. Nordea Bank AB (publ) 

announced then that as forward contracts 

expire in December, the ownership of its 

Finnish subsidiary Nordea Bank Finland Plc 

(business ID 1680235-8) will fall below 1/5 

of the share capital and voting rights of 

Ruukki Group Plc. Nordea Bank AB (publ) 

announced that forward contracts that were 

due in December have been rolled forward to 

longer maturities. Consequently the owner-

ship did not fall below 1/5 but remained over 

1/4. Nordea Bank Finland Plc has entered 

into Ruukki Group share forward contracts of 

which 518,507 (51,850,700 shares) expire in 

January 2008, 214,531 (21,453,100 shares) 

in March 2008 and 30,000 (3,000,000 

shares) in June 2008. As the January 2008 

forward contracts expire, the ownership of 

Nordea Bank Finland Plc will fall below 1/10, 

and as the March forward contracts expire, 

below 1/20 of the share capital and voting 

rights of Ruukki Group Plc.

In its flagging notice given on 21 January •	

Nordea Bank AB (publ) (Swedish registra-

tion number 516406-0120) referred to an-

nouncement given on 28 December 2007. 

At that time, Nordea Bank AB (publ) an-

nounced that as forward contracts expire in 

January, the ownership of its Finnish sub-

sidiary Nordea Bank Finland Plc (business ID 

1680235-8) will fall below 1/10 of the share 

capital and voting rights of Ruukki Group 

Plc. Nordea Bank AB (publ) announced that 

forward contracts that were due in January 

have been rolled forward to longer maturi-

ties. Consequently the ownership did not 

fall below 1/10 but remained over 1/4. 

Nordea Bank Finland Plc has entered into 

Ruukki Group share forward contracts of 

which 25,250 (2,525,000 shares) expire in 

February 2008, 465,155 (46,515,500 shares) 

in March 2008, 30,000 (3,000,000 shares) in 

June 2008 and 289,196 (28,919,600 shares) 

in January 2009. As the March 2008 forward 

contracts expire, the ownership of Nordea 

Bank Finland Plc will fall below 3/20, and 

as the June forward contracts expire, below 

1/10 and as the January 2009 forward con-

tracts expire, below 1/20 of the share capital 

and voting rights of Ruukki Group Plc.

Moncheur & CIE S.A. (register number •	

660.0.096.997-7, Geneva) announced on 

23 January 2008 that its ownership exceeds 

1/20 of the share capital and voting rights of 

Ruukki Group Plc in consequence of transac-

tions carried out on 21 January 2008.   

Procomex S.A. (register number R.C. •	

Luxembourg B 57.877) announced on 13 

February 2008 that its ownership will fall 

below 1/10 based on agreement entered 

into 12 February 2008. As the agreement 

will be fully implemented, the combined 

ownership of Procomex S.A. and Helsingin 

Mekaanikontalo Oy (Business ID 1076761-9) 

will fall below 1/5.

The Russian JSC VTB Bank (register number •	

102773960939) announced on 15 February 

2008 that its or its affiliate’s ownership in 

Ruukki Group Plc will exceed 1/10 in case 

agreements entered into 12 February 2008 

will be fully implemented.
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